CITY OF MACKINAC ISLAND

AGENDA

PLANNING COMMISSION

Tuesday, February 11, 2025 at 1:00 PM City Hall – Council Chambers, 7358 Market St., Mackinac Island, Michigan

- I. Call to Order
- II. Roll Call
- III. Pledge of Allegiance
- IV. Adoption of Agenda
- V. Approval of Minutes
 - a. January 14, 2025

VI. Correspondence

a. Letter from Mackinaw City re Master Plan Draft

VII. Staff Report

- a. HDC Meeting Summary
- b. DPW Update

VIII. Committee Reports

IX. Old Business

- a. Master Plan Deliberation
- b. C24-057-055(H) GHMI Merchants Building Amendment

X. New Business

- a. R125-076-003(H) Dorcey Dormer
- b. C25-066-004(H) Mary's Bistro Retractable Awnings
- c. R325-008-005(H) Doud Shed Roof
- XI. Public Comment
- XII. Adjournment

CITY OF MACKINAC ISLAND

MINUTES

PLANNING COMMISSION

Tuesday, January 14, 2025 at 1:00 PM City Hall – Council Chambers, 7358 Market St., Mackinac Island, Michigan

I. Call to Order

Straus called the meeting to order at 1:03 PM.

II. Roll Call

PRESENT Trish Martin Jim Pettit Michael Straus Anneke Myers Ben Mosley Mary Dufina Lee Finkel

Staff: Erin Evashevski, Dennis Dombroski, David Lipovsky

III. Pledge of Allegiance

IV. Approval of Minutes

a. December 10, 2024

Motion to approve the Minutes as written.

Motion made by Dufina, Seconded by Pettit. Voting Yea: Martin, Pettit, Straus, Myers, Mosley, Dufina, Finkel

V. Adoption of Agenda

Motion to approve as written.

Motion made by Dufina, Seconded by Finkel. Voting Yea: Martin, Pettit, Straus, Myers, Mosley, Dufina, Finkel

VI. Correspondence

a. Letter from Robert O'Brien representing Trayser Properties

Straus summarized the letter. Straus stated that what he is mentioning in the letter doesn't really apply to Zoning. This is a civil rather than City matter. Evashevski agrees. Pettit asked about a rebuttal to their first letter. Myers stated Clements replied and it is in the packet. It has not gone to Trayser, per Benser. Benser stated he is going to try and work with Trayser, but it is a separate building. Dombroski stated he and Lipovsky have looked at the wall and it is not a shared wall. From the Planning Commission and City concern, our zoning allows lot line to lot line construction. Dombroski stated it is implied when you build to the lot line you have to take steps to protect the neighboring property. But that is a civil issue between the two neighboring properties. There are windows in the Trayser building that if Benser fully builds, it will block those windows. For safety and fire code reasons, the building code no longer allows you to put windows on the building. Finkel asked how much space if not fire protected and Dombroski said 10 feet in some cases. Pettit stated it seems Trayser doesn't know what he has there and he is spending money on lawyers. Myers stated that every adjoining property owner has had concerns in this type of situation. Dombroski gave the example of Benser's pizza building against the theater. Myers asked if we need to send a response to O'Brien? Pettit stated they saw the Clements response and are taking issue with that. Myers thinks we should clarify the position of the Planning Commission. Evashevski is to write a letter from her and Straus. Motion to send response to O'Brien.

Motion made by Myers, Seconded by Martin. Voting Yea: Martin, Pettit, Straus, Myers, Mosley, Dufina, Finkel

Motion to place the letter on file.

Motion made by Myers, Seconded by Martin. Voting Yea: Martin, Pettit, Straus, Myers, Mosley, Dufina, Finkel

VII. Staff Report

a. HDC Meeting Summary

There was no HDC meeting on January 14th due to lack of Agenda. Myers asked about the Benser house going to HDC. Pereny stated it has been sent to Neumann for review and It will be on a future Agenda.

b. REU Update

Alan Burt shared his screen with updated photos from construction. The pipe gallery is being worked on now. Biddle Point is finally wrapping up. Final disbursement has been sent and they are under budget. Stonebrooke lift station is next. Pettit asked how many inches of frost is in the ground. Per Burt, last week 14".

VIII. Committee Reports

None.

IX. Old Business

a. C24-055/56-056(H) Benser Mr. B's Murdicks Lot Combo Application

There has been no further information submitted. Motion to deny the application due to lack of further information.

Motion made by Myers, Seconded by Martin. Voting Yea: Martin, Pettit, Straus, Myers, Mosley, Dufina, Finkel

b. C24-055/56-056(H) Benser Mr. B's Murdicks Zoning App

There has been no further information submitted. Motion to deny the application due to lack of further information.

Motion made by Myers, Seconded by Martin. Voting Yea: Martin, Pettit, Straus, Myers, Mosley, Dufina, Finkel

c. Master Plan Draft Changes Discussion

Straus stated there are three items to discuss:

Future land use map(Mission Point area) - If changed to PUD that would have to be added as a definition, but that is possible. Since it is Use, PUD would be a weird use. Leave as is or change to HB. Straus would like to leave as is. Dufina doesn't like either option and suggested maybe cross hatch for HB and mixed residential. Dufina stated according to our zoning, PUD is residential and HB. If we made the Use just boarding house that would affect density. Straus stated we would want to keep it open space as long as possible. Myers stated the underlying zoning is PUD and allows building. Myers asked Straus if he would be open to Dufina's suggestion. Straus stated he is open to anything. Myers stated we do not have to make a decision today. Straus stated we want to make a decision for the draft public hearing next month. Dombroski stated if it is just affecting property on the water side of road, it has been ROS since the library was torn down. Zoning there is currently ROS. Mosley said leave as is. Dufina said leave as is. It is currently shoreline

Planning Commission January 14, 2025

residential. Straus stated we will leave the future land use map as it is now and discuss at the hearing.

Little stone church labeling - figure 4.1,2 and 3. Liddicoat stated that the church is on two parcels. Figure 4-3 shows the Schunk residence as the church property. That will be corrected. Jurcak stated the GIS map does not show the lines as shown in master plan. Jurcak spoke to Neill Hill about this. Liddicoat stated the GIS map is wrong and he has a lease showing the correct information.

Using the term EGLE instead of DEQ - That change makes sense. Myers stated to have Young go through and make changes where appropriate.

Myers stated at the business owners meeting, policy 7 and onsite housing there was a lot of discussion on the language "requiring". Myers suggested using "Encourage" instead of "requiring". The Council was in agreement with this change.

Motion to approve the changes to be sent to Adam Young.

Motion made by Straus, Seconded by Martin. Voting Yea: Martin, Pettit, Straus, Myers, Mosley, Dufina, Finkel

d. Mackinaw City Master Plan Comments

Dufina had a chance to review. Dufina stated it is very professionally done and ultra complete and very ambitious. She wishes them a lot of luck with that as it will be a task. They have an economic development manager and a planning commission. Dufina stated there are interesting tables in the draft. Their big commitment is to become a City instead of a Village. Myers stated there is a reference to Starline or Mackinac Island Ferry Company that should be corrected to Arnold or Hoffmann. Myers stated we have also struggled with that change. If it is Mackinac Island Ferry Company, that could be correct. Straus agrees with sending Dufina's comments but would wait on the dock name correction. Dufina stated they also stated they are collaborating with their neighbors and a parking garage is mentioned. Motion for Pereny to write a letter with comments and wish them well with their process.

Motion made by Straus, Seconded by Martin. Voting Yea: Martin, Pettit, Straus, Myers, Mosley, Dufina, Finkel

Straus stepped down from the table.

e. R121-038-017 May/Straus Dock Extension Request

Finkel took over as Chair. Dombroski stated this is for an extension to the approval of the dock that was previously approved. At the time it was approved it was owned by Nancy May. The property is now owned by Straus. Motion to approve for one year.

Motion made by Mosley, Seconded by Dufina. Voting Yea: Martin, Pettit, Myers, Mosley, Dufina, Finkel Voting Abstaining: Straus

Straus returned to the table.

f. R324-008-057(H) Benser New Home

There have been changes made since it was tabled. Benser stated a wading pool has been added that he may or may not do. It will be panelized and Aaron Winberg stated he can be done in 45 days. Jason Cleveland, that did Conkeys, will be doing the panels. Benser stated Cleveland said it would be no more than 3-5 weeks to finish. He has a window now to get this done. The rough work is to be done in the summer. Dombroski stated that with a pool you have to have a 4' fence around it. Myers brought up snowmobiles on the road because of fencing and hedges. Myers confirmed it will be a year round house. Pettit asked about sheet A1.1 dashed line showing setbacks and front porch being outside the setback. Dombroski stated unenclosed front porches can be as close as 10' to the road. The concrete patio area was changed to a pervious surface with grass growing through it, to meet lot coverage requirements. Myers asked if there is enough room for a fence. Dombroski confirmed yes. The fence is shown one foot in. Myers asked if the lot split was finalized. It is but it is the property owners responsibility to get it recorded. Motion to approve new Benser home file R324-008-057.

Motion made by Myers, Seconded by Finkel. Voting Yea: Martin, Pettit, Straus, Myers, Mosley, Dufina, Finkel

Myers asked Benser about the triplex. He hopes to drywall soon. Two have been sold.

X. New Business

a. R424-086-089 Bloswick Lot Split

Dombroski stated this is ancient history. A number of years ago Bloswick applied for the lot split and it was never recorded. The owner was to get it recorded. So it had to be redone to meet some of our ordinances that have changed. Neil Hill worked with Bloswick. Dufina asked about the resolution naming Fred Bloswick. Evashevksi stated the date needs to be changed to 2025. Motion to recommend with changes to City Council for approval.

Motion made by Mosley, Seconded by Dufina. Voting Yea: Martin, Pettit, Straus, Myers, Mosley, Dufina, Finkel

XI. Public Comment

Jurcak commented that Corner Cottage was sold to Steve & Lindsey Schunk. The Grand also conveyed the sewer line in the village to the City. He will be back next month on updates to Grand projects.

Burt state he and Patay met to find out what was needed to connect Turtle Park to the sewer. City has taken over all private sewer systems in Village as well. Burt stated the Rec department is to survey Maple Trail and put in the correct direction after complaints by McCarty. Patay is working to get grants and loans to get all this work done. Community Foundation had promised to help with the park bathrooms in the past.

Master Plan Public Hearing is February 11th at noon. The Planning Commission meeting is at 1:00.

XII. Adjournment

Motion to adjourn at 2:17 PM.

Motion made by Straus, Seconded by Myers. Voting Yea: Martin, Pettit, Straus, Myers, Mosley, Dufina, Finkel

Michael Straus, Chair

Katie Pereny, Secretary

Section V, Itema.

Section VI, Itema.



102 South Huron Avenue, P.O. Box 580, Mackinaw City, Michigan 49701 Telephone: (231) 436-5351 www.mackinawcity.org

City of Mackinac Island Planning Commission ATTN: Katie Pereny PO Box 455 Mackinac Island, MI 49757

January 10th, 2025

We have received your letter notifying us of the City of Mackina_C Island Draft 2024 Master Plan. We appreciate you sending us the notification. The effort and care that has gone into crafting this Master Plan is apparent, and we believe it does a great job describing the community, addressing the land use issues, and visualizing the planning goals of your municipality. Many of the housing policies you propose, such as utilizing incentives for housing development and permitting greater density for worthwhile and affordable projects, are sound and applaudable.

We do have one comment on the plan. On page 75, your housing policies note a desire to protect the neighborhood feeling of residential areas, seeking to maintain their viability to support year-round residents, and to discourage any plans or projects which would result in the loss of housing units for year-round residents. Your employee housing action strategies then note the following:

View the mainland communities of St. Ignace and Mackinaw City as acceptable locations for employee housing

The Village of Mackinaw City, much like the Island, finds challenge in balancing support for our region's tourism economy against our need to provide quality year-round neighborhoods for our residents. Developable space within Village limits is limited and in high-demand; while not an Island, the Village is bounded by state-regulated wetlands and poor soil conditions. Given our desire to have thriving residential neighborhoods and the constraints that exist in further expansion, we must be adamant in planning for our businesses and residents. We have spent the better part of 2024 developing clear regulations in how employee housing (rooming and boarding housing) is planned in Mackinaw City and have a clear enforcement process to see our ordinances realized. We note this because, while we do have areas where this use is permitted, we generally do not plan our Village around accommodating other communities' needs for seasonal employee housing. We likewise are concerned about the economic and social impacts of losing homes and productive structures to seasonal or vacant uses, especially those that do not directly serve our immediate community.

If you encounter a developer or business interest that is seeking to build or convert a building to rooming or boarding house uses in Mackinaw City, we recommend you direct them to our Planning and Zoning department so they can fully understand the regulations we hold prior to purchasing land and structures.

Yours in planning,

n_i

Dean Martin,

Zoning Administrator, Village of Mackinaw City

hil Siebigter

Chair, Village of Mackinaw City Planning Commission



Section VI, Itema.



Wade Trim Associates, Inc. 500 Griswold Street, Suite 2500 • Detroit, MI 48226 313.961.3650 • www.wadetrim.com

Memorandum

To: City of Mackinac Island Planning Commission

From: Adam Young, AICP, Project Manager

Date: January 22, 2025

Subject: Master Plan - Public Hearing and Adoption

Background

As you know, the State-required public hearing on the draft Mackinac Island Master Plan has been scheduled for your February 11, 2025, Planning Commission meeting. This culminates a more than 1 year-long planning process that featured surveys, stakeholder discussions, town meeting, public open house, and Master Plan Steering Committee meetings.

A draft of the updated Master Plan has been available for public review on the City website since September. At your December and January Planning Commission meetings, you requested several minor revisions to the Master Plan. We have made these revisions and are enclosing an updated draft of the Master Plan, dated January 22, 2025.

The purpose of the public hearing is to hear any final public comments on the draft Master Plan. The Planning Commission should adhere to the following procedure:

- 1. Open the public hearing
- 2. Allow for any persons in attendance to speak on the draft Master Plan
- 3. Acknowledge any written correspondence received on the draft Master Plan
- 4. Close the public hearing

After the public hearing is closed, during the regular meeting, the Planning Commission would then deliberate and may adopt the Master Plan. If changes to the current version of the Master Plan are deemed necessary, you may adopt the Master Plan with those changes noted. Enclosed is a template resolution of adoption. This resolution would need to be approved by a majority vote of the members of the Planning Commission.

Upon adoption, we will prepare a final adopted version of the Master Plan, incorporating any final changes requested by the Planning Commission. We will then assist the City in the final step of the master planning process, which is to send out one final round of letters to the county and certain other governmental entities notifying them that the Master Plan has been adopted.

If you have any questions, please feel free to reach out to me at 313.961.3651 or <u>ayoung@wadetrim.com</u>.

ACY:Ikf MCK 2013-01D 20250122 Master Plan Public Hearing-Memo.docx

Enclosures: Draft Master Plan, dated January 22, 2025 Resolution of Adoption

Mackinac Island Master Plan Update Listing of changes to the draft report between August 2024 and January 2025

Changes to the August 1, 2024 Draft Master Plan Report

The below changes were requested by the Master Plan Steering Committee during their September 9, 2024 meeting. These were incorporated into the September 10, 2024 draft master plan.

- Modified the Historic Sites and Districts narrative within Chapter 1 to clarify that Mackinac Island currently has 5 historic districts (pages 8-9)
- Within the Solid Waste subsection in Chapter 5, added a discussion about promoting recycling programs to reduce single-use waste and a reference to providing more water fountains and water bottle filling stations (page 51)
- Within the Wastewater subsection in Chapter 5, revised language regarding the Biddle Point pump station based on edits received from Allen Burt (page 49)
- Added Little Traverse Conservancy to the listing of Civic Organizations and Churches (page 56)
- Added a new bullet within Policy 2 under Transportation "Evaluate bicycle and pedestrian safety along Cadotte Avenue ("Grand Hill") and pursue needed improvements, potentially to include a sidewalk or other designated walking area." (page 77)
- Throughout the Master Plan, the "Hotel/Resort" future land use classification was re-named to "Hotel/Boardinghouse" (multiple pages)
- Within Table 8-2, the existing action Consider and evaluate the creation of a City Manager staff position was expanded to also include a grantwriter and other staff necessary to support City administration and initiatives (page 93)
- Added a new action strategy to Table 8-3 "Investigate the feasibility and potential of a property transfer tax to be used for preservation, housing, infrastructure, and/or other similar community improvement initiatives." (page 93)
- Added new action strategy in Table 8-3 to review the zoning ordinance and consider changes to ensure that the character of Market Street area is protected (page 93)
- Added business community (BC) as a partner for several actions in the Implementation Matrix tables 8-2 through 8-8 (pages 93-96)

Changes to the September 10, 2024 Draft Master Plan Report

The below changes were identified as potential changes by the Master Plan Steering Committee during their October 22, 2024 meeting. The changes were confirmed by the Planning Commission during their December 10, 2024 and January 14, 2025 meetings. These were incorporated into the January 22, 2025 draft master plan:

- Within the Other Utilities subsection of Chapter 5, regarding propane gas delivery to the Island via barge, changed "100, 250 or 400 pound cylinders" to "100 or 250 pound cylinders" (page 52)
- Within the Potential Zoning Ordinance and Map Changes subsection of Chapter 8, revised item #2 to say "An expansion of the RS, Shoreline Residential zoning district to encompass lands in the Windermere Point area" (deleted the words "and in front of Mission Point Hotel") (page 89)

- Switched all references from DEQ to EGLE throughout report (multiple pages)
- Little Stone Church map changes, which involved 3 maps:
 - Property Ownership Map (Figure 4-1)
 - Existing Land Use Map (Figure 4-2)
 - Existing Land Use Map: Downtown (Figure 4-3)
- Revised second bullet of Policy 7 under Housing from "Consider requiring new hotels..." to "Encourage new hotels..." (page 74)
- Changed all references from "2024 Master Plan" to "2025 Master Plan" (multiple pages)

Table of Contents

Draft Report – January 22, 2025

City of Mackinac Island 2025 Master Plan

Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Purpose and Planning Process	2
Location and Regional Context	2
History and Significance	5
Government/Community Organization	9
Status of Planning and Zoning for the City of Mackinac Island	9
Chapter 2: Demographic and Economic Profile	10
Year-Round Population Trends	
Seasonal and Tourist Population	11
Age Distribution	
Racial Composition	
Households and Families	
Average Household Size	
Disability Status	
Income	
Education	
Employment	
Housing Units and Housing Structure Types	
Housing Occupancy Characteristics	
Housing Values and Rent	
Age of Housing Units	
Chapter 3: Natural Resources	23
Climate	
Geology	
Topography	24
Soils	
Water Resources	

Floodplains	
Wetlands	
Woodlands and Flora	
Wildlife and Fish	
Sites of Environmental Contamination and Concerns	
Surface Water Discharge Permits	
Air Quality	
Chapter 4: Existing Land Use	34
Patterns of Land Ownership	
Existing Land Use Analysis	
Chapter 5: Community Services, Facilities, and Transportation	46
Water Distribution and Sewage Collection	
Stormwater	
Solid Waste	
Other Utilities	
Police, Fire, and Emergency Medical Services	
School	
Recreation	
Municipal, State, and Federal Facilities	
Civic Organizations and Churches	
Transportation	
Airport	59
Chapter 6: Community Goals and Policies	61
Public Input	61
Foundational Planning Principles	
Goals and Policies Introduced	71
Planning and Community Engagement	71
Community and Development Character	72
Historic Preservation	
Housing	74
Natural Environment, Public Lands, and Recreation	

Adopted _____, 2025

Transportation	77
Infrastructure and Public Services	
Chapter 7: Future Land Use	80
Introduction	80
Future Land Use Classifications	80
Chapter 8: Zoning Plan, Implementation and Adoption	85
Introduction	85
Zoning Plan	85
Grants and Capital Improvements Investments	
Recreation Planning	91
5-Year Master Plan Review	91
Implementation Matrix	91

Chapter 1: Introduction

Mackinac Island is a community comfortable with its history. Reminders survive of the Island's heritage as a Native American gathering place, a French missionary settlement, military and fur trading post, fishing station, and a favorite and healthful destination for wealthy Victorian travelers. This unique heritage led to the designation of the entire Island as a National Historic Landmark.

One of the most unique aspects of Mackinac Island is the horse tradition. The horseless carriage was first banned in the village in 1898 and then in the State Park in 1901. The automobile ban carries on to this day. Horses transport goods and people year round. Horse-drawn drays pick up household items, mail, commercial goods, hay and construction material from the ferry docks in the season and the airport in the wintertime. Horse manure, rubbish, and construction debris is hauled by horsepower to the solid waste facility. Some residents keep horses for their own personal use and enjoyment. Horses are also available for rental by visitors. Horses are not only for work, but also for fun. Miles of wooded trails are available for riding. Horse culture is what makes Mackinac Island so special and different from other tourist towns.

> The Island is a small town with close family relationships and a sense of shared history. It is one of the country's premier tourist destinations, and a highly desired location for vacation and retirement homes.

An alternative to horsepower is the bicycle. Residents use bikes daily for work, school, errands, and recreation. It is an essential mode of transportation unique to the Mackinac Island community. Bicycle rental businesses flourish during the Summer season. Visitors often bring their own personal bikes. Competition for the right of way and parking spaces is considerable. The interaction of horses, bikes and pedestrians requires unique planning tools for traffic control.

The City of Mackinac Island is an exceptional Michigan community with special land use circumstances and concerns. The Island is a small town with close family relationships and a sense of shared history. It is one of the country's premier tourist destinations, and a highly desired location for vacation and seasonal living. Business thrives on the island, but is hampered by the lack of housing for employees which directly competes with the need for affordable housing for new island families.

Life on Mackinac Island is not completely unlike that of the mainland. Residents do things in a different way and within the confines of a small island without automobiles.

Mackinac Island Public School holds classes for preschool through high school. Students travel to and from school by foot, bicycle, horse-drawn taxi or snowmobile. School children regularly travel off Island to attend special programs, participate in sports and competitive events. On average, there are 70 students in school per year, with an average graduating class of six.

Employment on the Island consists mainly of hospitality related jobs, as well as important services such as construction, education, administration and medical services. Some residents own and operate their own businesses. The busy tourist season runs from April until November. Wintertime on Mackinac Island is generally quiet and serene and attracts some tourists and visitors; however, significant construction work also

occurs on the Island during the off-season, which can impact the Island's otherwise serene character through construction-related noise and traffic. A few local accommodations and restaurants are open for the entire year to serve residents and welcome visitors. Groomed trails welcome skiers and the many community events are open to all visitors. Island residents relax and enjoy the less hectic season spending time with family and friends and participating in community events.

Life on the Island does present special challenges. About 82 percent of the Island is a State Park under the direction of the Mackinac Island State Park Commission, enacted by legislation in 1895. The remaining 18 percent (less than one square mile) of the Island is privately owned and is in high demand for commercial and residential development. Because of this, affordable housing for the local year-round community is extremely scarce, and housing for seasonal employees is difficult to secure.

Purpose and Planning Process

The purpose of the City of Mackinac Island Master Plan is to preserve Island culture and history, protect natural resources, and support a thriving economy, while confronting challenges from development and limited infrastructure expansion capability. The Master Plan provides guidelines for future development and is the basis of the Mackinac Island Zoning Ordinance.

This Plan presents extensive background information for the City of Mackinac Island, including socioeconomic data, description and mapping of natural and historic resources, and an inventory of existing community facilities. Information is analyzed to identify important characteristics, changes and trends for Mackinac Island. Community concerns are identified based on citizen participation in meetings, workshops and stakeholder interviews. The results of recent surveys, previous planning studies, and input from City commissions and community issues and policies to guide future land use based on the background studies, key land use trends, and community issues. These goals, along with a detailed map of existing land use, provided the basis for the Future Land Use Map. The map specifies the extent and location for the various types of future development. This Plan also provides suggestions for implementation of the identified goals and policies. The guidance provided by this Master Plan will be utilized in updating the Zoning Ordinance and developing a Capital Improvement Program.

Location and Regional Context

The City of Mackinac Island is located in the Straits of Mackinac between Lake Huron and Lake Michigan, three miles east of the City of St. Ignace. According to the City charter, the City includes the land areas of Mackinac Island and Round Island and the navigable waters adjacent to the islands for a distance of one mile off shore. The total land area of Mackinac Island (not including Round Island) is approximately 2,221 acres (3.5 square miles) including about 8.5 miles of Lake Huron shoreline. Only 400 acres on Mackinac Island are under private ownership, and the remaining 1,821 acres (approximately 82 percent) are owned by the State of Michigan.

For reference, **Figure 1-1** shows the regional location and transportation facilities while **Figure 1-2** provides a parcel line and base map of Mackinac Island.





Citv of Mackinac Island

- State Highway
- City Major (Asphalt)
- City Local Improved (Asphalt)
- State Park Improved (Asphalt)
- Private Improved (Asphalt)
- City Local Unimproved (Gravel)
- State Park Unimproved (Gravel)
- Private Unimproved (Gravel)
- Paved Bike Trail
- Footpath/Trail _



Water Bodies

Road Source: City of Mackinac Island Master Plan (2018) Property Line Source: Mackinac County Equalization, 2018





Mackinac Island is not only a regional tourist destination, but draws visitors from all over the world. The Island has a tremendous appeal, as a community that has changed little since well before the automobile. Mackinac Island is a premier tourist destination and has a significant impact on tourism and economics throughout the region. The economies of the communities in the Straits area are interdependent with the tourist economy of Mackinac Island. Retail businesses, motels, and restaurants have been attracted to both St. Ignace and Mackinaw City to serve the tourists visiting the Island and surrounding areas. Two ferry companies that serve the Island operate out of Mackinaw City and St. Ignace from April until the end of October. One ferry service continues to the Island from St. Ignace, weather and ice permitting. When the boats quit, public access is limited to air travel. North Country Aviation, based in Gaylord, provides year round service to the Island from Charlevoix, Gaylord, and Harbor Springs. Additionally, Fresh Air Aviation, based in Charlevoix provides service to the Island from St. Ignace. Air service is frequently coordinated with commercial and charter flights arriving at the Pellston Regional Airport, as well as other points. Charter flights, instruction and sightseeing also part of the service. Mackinac Island State Park maintains the airport on the Island with private and commercial traffic. A number of people reach the Island by private boat, enjoying the updated facilities at the State of Michigan marina. Mackinac Island is a popular port of call for the growing Great Lakes cruise industry. Ports of call vary from one route to the next, but Mackinac Island presently is a stop for several cruise lines including Viking Cruises, Pearl Seas Cruises, and Victory Cruise Line.

> The economies of the communities in the Straits area are interdependent with the tourist economy of Mackinac Island.

The primary tourist season is the summer months of June, July, and August, with July being the peak. A series of activities and events occur throughout the summer months on the Island. The spring and fall seasons are also popular, but to a lesser extent. Many political, professional, and civic organizations hold working conferences on the Island. State and federal dignitaries are visitors, as well. There are coordinated promotional efforts to boost tourism during the spring and fall, offering packages including reduced hotel rates, ferry tickets, carriage tours, and shopping specials. Packages are also used to promote special events on the Island or in nearby Mackinaw City or St. Ignace. The winter season has its special charm, although accommodations, restaurants and retail services are limited. The beauty and serenity of the Island make for an unforgettable experience. Community events and those sponsored by the State Park are enjoyed by all. Outside activities pursued throughout the winter include cross country skiing, snowshoeing, ice skating and quiet hikes on snow covered trails.

History and Significance

Due to its strategic location in the center of the Great Lakes system and the Straits area, Mackinac Island is one of the oldest inhabited places in the State of Michigan and the Midwest. Before European occupation, the Straits area was home to Ojibwa (Chippewa), Odawa (Ottawa), and Potawatomi tribes. Collectively referred to as the Anishinabeg people, these tribal groups migrated from the Atlantic coast during the Woodland period (1000 B.C. to 1650 A.D.). The Island's name derives from the native word, Michilimackinac, meaning, "Land of the Great Turtle." The name alludes to the Island's humped profile, like a huge turtle rising out of the water The Native American style of life in the Straits was semi-nomadic. Archaeological studies show evidence of summer fishing camps on Mackinac Island, where plentiful stocks of trout, pike, sturgeon, herring, and whitefish were harvested. The Straits also functioned as a center of inter-tribal communication and trade. The

Island is regarded by Native Americans as a place of great spiritual importance; the first land to appear after the Great Flood, and the place of origin for Native peoples.

European settlement in the Straits began in the late seventeenth century, with exploration parties, Jesuit missionary outposts, and French fur trading villages. In 1670, Father Claude Dablon established a mission on Mackinac Island to re-settle and protect his followers, a small band of displaced Hurons. The following year the group relocated to St. Ignace, to take advantage of better agricultural land. In the 1690, the first French fort was constructed in the Straits at St. Ignace to guard French commercial fur trading interests in the region. Throughout the late 1600s and early 1700s, the area grew in military and trade significance. The French built Fort Michilimackinac at what is now Mackinaw City in 1714. In 1761, the British took control of the fort, as a result of the Seven Years' War.

The Island is regarded by Native Americans as a place of great spiritual importance; the first land to appear after the Great Flood, and the place of origin for Native peoples.

By 1781, the British re-located the fort to the more defensible Mackinac Island, on land purchased from the Ojibwa. Ste. Anne's Church, along with other buildings, was hauled to the Island across the frozen Straits, to encourage re-settlement of the non-military mainland community to the Island. The new fort, Ft. Mackinac, was located on the bluffs overlooking the harbor. The civilian community settled below and west of the fort, along what today are Main and Market Streets. A wooden palisade wall was constructed around these streets for further protection.

At the end of the Revolutionary War, the Treaty of Paris, negotiated in 1783 between Great Britain and the new United States, technically ceded Mackinac Island to the Americans. Due to the remote location and lack of adequate troops, Americans did not actually take control of the fort until 1796. Meanwhile, by the 1790s, settlement began to occur beyond the palisade wall perimeter. Several farms were developed on the Island, including the 110 acre farm of Dr. David Mitchell (at what is now Harrisonville and the upper part of the Grand Hotel Jewel Golf Course), the George Schindler farm on the southwest bluff, the Ambrose Davenport farm in the present-day Hubbard's Annex area, and the Simon Champaign farm near the present-day Stonecliffe and Woods Golf Course.

The British captured the fort at the beginning of the War of 1812. The assault was launched by night from the unprotected north side of the Island (British Landing). British cannon were placed on high ground behind the fort. The overwhelming force and strategic location forced a quick American surrender. Several attempts were made by American forces to displace the British. In 1814, the British constructed "Fort George" on the hill north of Ft. Mackinac, to guard against another rear attack. A significant attempt on August 4, 1814, known as the Battle of Mackinac Island, ended in defeat for American forces.

In December 1814, the Treaty of Ghent gave control of the Fort back into American hands. In July 1815, the last British troops left the Island, and "Ft. George" was re-christened "Ft. Holmes."

With military matters resolved, the fur trade at Mackinac Island flourished, under the leadership of John Jacob Astor and the American Fur Company. Astor's warehouse on Market Street (now the Community Hall) functioned as industry headquarters. It is interesting to note that the permanent Island population in the 1820s was about 500 persons, including French Canadians, Native Americans, Metis (of French and Indian heritage), and Americans; very close to the permanent Island population at the time of the 2010 Census. During the summer trading season, the number increased to approximately 2,000. During the 1820s, a religious revival movement brought about the founding of the Mission School (1823) and Mission House (1825), in an effort to convert French Catholics, Native Americans, and Metis to Protestant Christianity.

In 1836, a U.S. treaty with Ojibwa and Odawa bands specified that payment for purchased Native American lands in Michigan be made over a twenty-year period in provisions as well as cash. Mackinac Island was designated as the payment distribution point, drawing 4,000 Native Americans to the Island each September. This increased the Island's importance as a provisioning center and commercial hub, as well as a focal point for Native American culture and crafts. In turn, this sparked the interest of American and foreign tourists and travelers to the region. The "Indian Dormitory" was built under one clause of the 1836 treaty, intended to serve as temporary Native American housing during provisioning visits. In fact, the structure was largely used as the office for agent Henry Schoolcraft and as a payment distribution center.

By 1840, over trapping and changes in fashion brought the Island's fur era to an end. Gradually, furs were replaced by fish as items of trade. Commercial fishing operations took over harbor dock space, and by 1845 more than 20,000 barrels of processed fish were shipped annually from the Island. The disposal of fish entrails became a major sanitary issue, and ordinances were passed against such disposal in the (then) Village limits. The "Borough Lot," in front of the current Grand Hotel, was designated as the disposal area. Later, this area became a squatter's haven, a so-called "Shanty Town."

The advent of railroads on the mainland increasingly replaced water-born transportation, decreasing the Island's importance as a fishing and general shipping headquarters. Tourism had by then begun to supplement the Island economy. The American Fur Company buildings were converted into the Astor House Hotel as early as 1836; Mission House began accepting tourists by the 1840s; the Island House opened in 1852; and the Lake View House in 1858. But tourism and summer cottage construction really got underway after the Civil War. In 1875, America's second National Park was established on Mackinac Island. That same year, two areas within the park were set aside to lease for cottages and summer homes. These lots on the East and West Bluff were not actually surveyed and available for construction until 1885. Meanwhile, Gurdon S. Hubbard had built "The Lilacs" cottage in 1870. He subdivided and sold adjacent lands as "Hubbard's Annex to the National Park" beginning in 1882. By the late 1800s, Mackinac Island had become a nationally known summer retreat, outstanding for its clean air, beautiful scenery, and high society. As well-to-do families flocked to the island, modest carpenter-gothic cottages were frequently replaced by or remodeled into elaborate Queen Anne style mansions. The signature project of this era was construction of the Grand Hotel in 1887. The Grand joined the Murray (1882), Chippewa (1902), and Iroquois (1902) hotels in hosting an ever-increasing array of summer residents and guests.

Tourism development stimulated a wide variety of support services, both on the Island and mainland. Rail lines and passenger ships increased in number and service frequency. Retail trade adapted quickly to tourism. The Murdick family began making fudge in the 1880s. The decision to ban automobiles from the Village in 1898, and from the Park in 1901, protected the horse-drawn carriage and bicycle businesses that continue to give the Island its special charm and niche in the region's tourism industry. The importance of horses for Island transportation is also discussed in Chapter 5, Community Services, Facilities and Transportation.

In 1894, the Federal government decided to close Fort Mackinac. Efforts by Michigan's congressional delegation averted an economic disaster by arranging to transfer the Fort and Park to the State of Michigan. In 1895, Mackinac Island State Park became Michigan's first state park, administered by the newly created Mackinac Island State Park Commission. Early on, the Commission became active in preserving and interpreting the Park's historic resources; its first project was renovating and adapting the Officers' Stone Quarters as a military museum. Marquette Park, an Island focal point, was designated by the Commission in 1898 and landscaped in 1905. The statue of Father Marquette was unveiled in 1909.

In 1895, Mackinac Island State Park became Michigan's first state park, administered by the newly created Mackinac Island State Park Commission.

Although many Island businesses had a difficult time surviving the Depression, post-war economic recovery and construction of the Mackinac Bridge brought new waves of visitors to the Island. The Mackinac Bridge opened to traffic on November 1, 1957, uniting the two peninsulas of Michigan. Increased regional growth in recreation and tourism pose new challenges for the Island. Mackinac Island's long and unique history has left a significant physical legacy.

Historic Sites and Districts

Historic resources are an extremely important factor to consider during the process of preparing the Master Plan. A detailed survey of buildings on Mackinac Island conducted by the State Park in 1970-71 estimated that there were at the time over 120 buildings dating from the latter half of the nineteenth century which had significant architectural and historic value. The walls of Ft. Mackinac are some of the oldest remaining manmade structures in the State of Michigan, and the Island is a location of important Native American archaeological sites. In 2010, Michigan Bureau of History records indicated that there were 32 Island buildings or sites on the State Historic Register. Ten of these sites are also on the National Register of Historic Places and the Island has enjoyed National Landmark status since 1951. A listing of the 32 national and state registered historic sites on the Island is included as **Appendix A** of this Plan.

Created under the authority of the Michigan Local Historic Districts Act, Public Act 169 of 1970, a local historic district is a historically significant area that is protected by a historic district ordinance. The local unit of government appoints a historic district commission to review proposed work to the exterior of resources in the district to determine if the work meets the Secretary of the Interior's Standards and Guidelines for Rehabilitation. Designating an area as a local historic district is one of the few ways a community can provide legal protection for its historic resources.

The City of Mackinac Island currently has five historic districts. In 2010, the City of Mackinac Island formed a Historic District Commission (HDC). Under the Commission's leadership, three historic districts were established covering portions of the Island. The geographic location and extent of these historic districts is shown on **Figure 1-3**. The three initial historic districts were:

- Hubbard's Annex Historic District
- Market & Main Historic District
- West End Historic District

The City's Historic District Commission is charged with applying the Secretary of the Interior's Standards and Guidelines for Rehabilitation when evaluating an application for work within one of the City's historic districts. In 2016, the HDC prepared and adopted architectural guidelines to serve as a guide for the Commission when evaluating proposed projects. Design guidelines are necessarily general basic principles, as every historic building is different and each project is unique. The guidelines are general so as to apply to a wide variety of building types and situations.

In 2024, the entire Island was studied to consider whether additional local historic districts should be established, and a Historic District Study Committee was created to lead the effort. The Historic District Study Committee recommended the establishment of two new historic districts on the east end of the island: the Mission Historic District and Small Point Cottage Historic District. These two new historic districts were adopted by City Council on May 1, 2024 and April 17, 2024, respectively. The limits of these new historic districts are shown on **Figure 1-3**.

Government/Community Organization

Mackinac Island's first form of governmental organization was that of a military garrison. Although later established as a Borough in 1817 and a Village in 1875, Mackinac Island was established by charter as a City in 1899. The City Council, headed by the mayor, serves as the legislative or governing body for the City. The dayto-day administration of the City is primarily handled by the Mayor, Mayor's Assistant, City Clerk, City Treasurer, and support staff.

Because the majority of Island land area is State owned and designated as State Park, the influence of State policy is great. The Mackinac Island State Park is administered by the seven-member Mackinac Island State Park Commission, with members appointed by the governor. The Park Commission is a key stakeholder on Mackinac Island and was consulted during the development of this Plan. Existing development on State land consists of the State Park Commission offices, residences and support facilities, the Mackinac Island airport, property leased to the City of Mackinac Island for public utilities and recreation (resource recovery center, waste water treatment plant, water reservoirs, Great Turtle Park), Wawashkamo Golf Course, The Greens of Mackinac, Grand Hotel's Jewel Golf Course, Mackinac Community Equestrian Center and approximately forty-three acres of land leased for private residential purposes.

Status of Planning and Zoning for the City of Mackinac Island

The City Council established a Planning Commission in the early 1980s. The Planning Commission serves as the zoning commission and, as such, monitors the implementation of the Zoning Ordinance to ensure that proposed development is consistent with the City's Master Plan.

Mackinac Island is governed by local zoning. The Planning Commission is responsible for the preparation and adoption of the Master Plan to guide development of the City of Mackinac Island. A master plan developed in the mid-1980s was never adopted. The Island's first master plan, City of Mackinac Island Comprehensive Municipal Master Plan, was adopted August 4, 1999. A review and update was completed March 22, 2011. A zoning ordinance review and update was completed November 12, 2013. The most recent Master Plan was adopted October 9, 2018. Michigan law requires that a zoning ordinance correspond with an adopted master plan. After the completion of this Master Plan, the Zoning Ordinance will need to be reviewed to correspond to land use policies established by the Plan.





West End



State Highway
Improved (Asphalt) Roads

-- Unimproved (Gravel) Roads

Property Lines

Water Bodies

Historic Districts Source: City of Mackinac Island, 2024 Parcel Source: Mackinac County Equalization, 2018

January 2025

26

4241 Old US 27 Gaylord, M www.WadeT

Chapter 2: Demographic and Economic Profile

Population and household characteristics are essential components to consider in the development of any master plan. An analysis of a community's population and household characteristics provides a foundation upon which a major portion of a master plan is based. While an evaluation of a community's current characteristics provides insight to immediate needs and deficiencies, population projections provide a basis for determining future land use requirements, public facility needs, and essential services.

Due to the nature of Mackinac Island as a tourist destination, the community receives a significant number of seasonal residents as well as daily visitors. The year-round population and the summer population, consisting of tourist and non-tourist categories, must be considered in the planning process.

This section of the Plan examines several elements that are central to understanding a community's overall population and housing characteristics. These items include population growth patterns and population shifts, age/gender breakdowns, racial composition, household size, housing characteristics, income characteristics, and employment patterns.

This demographic analysis relies on several key data sources. Figures from the decennial U.S. Census reports, including the most recent 2020 Census, are utilized, where available. The decennial census reports from the Census Bureau are 100% counts of every citizen in the country.

Another key data source is Esri (a leader in GIS software, location intelligence and mapping), who produces independent demographic and socioeconomic estimates for the United States using a variety of data sources, beginning with the latest decennial census data as a base and adding a mixture of administrative records and private sources to capture change. Esri data is available for 2023, with 5-year estimates for the year 2028.

Finally, data on certain detailed demographic topics is only available through the American Community Survey (ACS) 5-year estimates, made available by the U.S. Census Bureau. ACS data is derived from a sample survey of citizens by the Census Bureau. It should be noted that, although the ACS data offers valid insights into certain population characteristics, the data contains a margin of error. For smaller sample sizes, such as for a small community like Mackinac Island, the ACS produces larger sampling errors. For this reason, the Census Bureau's decennial census reports and Esri data is used when available.

Year-Round Population Trends

The City of Mackinac Island's year-round population has changed little over the past several decades. U.S. Census figures for 2020 indicate a population of 583 persons. In discussing the Census data for the City, it is important to note that the Census tally, taken on April 1, does not count residents who reside elsewhere on that day (many Mackinac Island residents who spend winter months elsewhere are not back by April 1). The figures presented in the 2020 Census do not reflect the actual number of persons residing on the Island in the Summer months. Although this situation is common throughout northern Michigan recreational/resort areas, the influx of seasonal residents on Mackinac Island during the Summer months is tremendous. This is evident by the fact that more than 70 percent of the City's total housing units were classified as vacant, of which 96 percent were occupied for seasonal, recreational, occasional, or migrant worker use according to the 2020 Census.

According to the 2020 Census, more than 70 percent of the City's total housing units are classified as vacant, of which 96 percent are occupied for seasonal, recreational, occasional, or migrant worker use

Table 2-1, below, highlights population trends for Mackinac Island from 1950 through 2023. The highest population level occurred at the 1960 Census count, but the population dropped significantly by 1970. The high 1960 population can be explained by the temporary presence of Moral Re-Armament (MRA) on the Island at the time the 1960 Census was taken. Between 1970 and 2010, the year-round population of the island fluctuated, with modest declines or increases each decade. Between 2010 and 2020, the year-round population increased by 8.44 percent from 492 to 583.

The 2023 year-round population estimate from Esri suggests that the year-round population has continued to increase and now stands at 640. Esri estimates that the year-round population of Mackinac Island will remain steady through 2028, with a slight decrease of 7 residents over the 5-year span.

Table 2-1										
	Population Trends									
		C	City of Mac	kinac Islan	1, 1950 – 2	2023				
Year	1950	1960	1970	1980	1990	2000	2010	2020	2023*	
Population	572	947	517	510	469	523	492	583	640	
Change from Previous Census		65.40%	-45.40%	-1.40%	-8.00%	11.50%	-5.98%	8.44%		

*2023 Estimate per Esri.

Sources: 1950-2020 U.S. Census; 2023 Esri Demographic and Income Profile

It should be noted that the accuracy of the Census is only as complete as information provided by the residents. Some people are leery of answering all the Census questions, such as the number of people living in the house.

Seasonal and Tourist Population

For most communities, a discussion of the year-round population would be sufficient when planning for community needs. The City of Mackinac Island is different from most communities in that respect. Because tourism is the City's central industry, the community experiences a tremendous influx of visitors during the summer months. Without an actual census count, it is difficult to calculate the City's seasonal population. Some factors to consider when determining the seasonal population are tourist related employment, vacation homes, available hotel rooms, State Park attendance, and ferry service to Mackinac Island. Estimates suggest the Island experiences an average daily seasonal population of nearly 22,500 persons, of which roughly 5,000 are seasonal employees. For planning purposes, an attempt has been made to estimate the Island's prime tourist season population without duplication. **Table 2-2** illustrates the calculations used for the estimate.

Seasonal Employees

Most Island businesses, including hotels, restaurants, and retail establishments operate only during the tourist season of May through October. According to the Mackinac Island Tourism Bureau, these seasonal operations employ about 5,000 individuals during the prime tourist time (mid-June through August). Some of the major

Island employers are the Mackinac Island State Park, Grand Hotel, Mission Point Resort, and Mackinac Island Carriage Tours.

Table 2-2	
Estimated Seasonal Population	
Mackinac Island	
Category	Number
Year-round residents (per 2023 Esri Demographic Profile)	640
Seasonal residents (654 seasonally-occupied housing units * 2.14 persons per household, derived from Esri 2023 estimates)	1,400
Hotel and lodging @ full occupancy (1,503 rooms @ 2 persons per room, per 2016 survey)	3,006
Seasonal employees (per Tourism Bureau - February 2023)	5,000
Daily transient visitors via ferries	12 000*
(1.2 million annual visitors 2024 estimate, divided by 100 days)	12,000*
Daily transient visitors via cruise ships	
(19,148 passengers in 2023 per Tourism Bureau, divided by 100 days)	191*
Boat slips at full occupancy (80 slips @ 2 persons per boat)	160
Airport traffic	80
Total estimated daily population during summer season	22,477

Data Sources: U.S. Census Bureau; Esri Demographic and Housing Profiles; Mackinac Island Tourism Bureau; ferry service operators. Estimates compiled by Wade Trim.

Note: The estimates above represent a seasonal average, and the population is expected to be even higher on peak days, such as festival or holiday weekends.

*The figures represent an average of the total visitors spread evenly across the 100 days. In reality, certain days, such as holidays and weekends, will feature many more visitors than other days.

Although the two ferry lines employ a significant number of people, the Michigan Department of Labor and Economic Growth lists the number of employees where the main office is located. Consequently, many ferry employees are counted in Mackinaw City or St. Ignace. The employment numbers reported by the State are based on self-reported numbers employers provide on quarterly tax returns. The completeness of the information is reliable.

Seasonal Residents

For some visitors, the Island provides the perfect setting for seasonal or vacation homes. According to the 2020 Census, over 70 percent of housing on the Island is considered vacant, 96 percent of which is occupied for seasonal, recreational, occasional, or migrant worker use. By applying the 96 percent seasonal occupancy rate to the estimated 681 total vacant units (per Esri in 2023), we can assume that roughly 654 units are seasonally occupied. Visitors in this category may stay for as long as the entire summer, while others may only stay for a few weeks. When applying the persons per household average of 2.14 (per Esri in 2023) to the 654 estimated

seasonally occupied units, we can assume that approximately 1,400 additional persons may reside in these units during the summer months. Additionally, the Tourism Bureau estimates roughly 5,000 resident seasonal employees living on the Island during these summer months.

Seasonal Tourism – Lodging

The Tourism Bureau reports that approximately 1,500 hotel rooms are available on the Island. The Island guest room figure includes bed and breakfast facilities as well as hotels. According to the Tourism Bureau, occupancy rates of nearly 100 percent are recorded during the peak months of July and August. The slower months of May, June, September, and October generally experience occupancy rates of 80 to 95 percent.

Seasonal Tourism - Daily Transient Visitor Counts

Another determinant in estimating the summer population is to review attendance figures from the Mackinac Island State Park Commission. Fort Mackinac, one of the Island's major attractions, receives approximately 225,000 visitors during the season. While there has not been any tremendous increase in recent years, the figures show a steady and significant level of tourist attraction to the Island. The number of visitors to the Fort peaks from early July to mid-August.

It is important to look at the number of tourists who use ferry, cruise ship and airport services to visit Mackinac Island. According to the City, approximately 30 planes arrive or depart from the Island each day.

According to the Mackinac Island Tourism Bureau, in 2023, a total of 19,148 visitors came to Mackinac Island via cruise ships. Dividing this number by the approximately 100-day long peak season results in an average of 191 visitors per day.

Although specific figures from the individual passenger ferry service operators are not available, a ferry service operator was contacted in 2024 who estimated that, in total, approximately 1.2 million passengers annually use ferry services. Dividing this number by the approximately 100-day long peak season results in an average of 12,000 visitors per day.

The City collects a "flat rate" franchise fee from each ferry company. This flat rate was established as part of a new agreement in 2012; previous to this agreement, franchise fees were based on ticket sales. The ferry operators indicate that the number of passengers varies year to year. Approximately 55 to 60 percent of the passengers travel from Mackinaw City; the remaining passengers travel from St. Ignace.

While all of these factors still cannot accurately calculate the Island's exact seasonal population, it is important to remember that the figure increases many times over the year-round population. Because tourist and short-time visitors draw on municipal services, the City of Mackinac Island, therefore, needs to continue to provide these services and plan for an estimated daily seasonal population of roughly 22,500 persons.

Age Distribution

Information on age distribution within a population can assist the community in matching public services to community characteristics and in determining what, if any, special needs specific resident groups might have.

The age distribution of the City of Mackinac Island's year-round residents in 2023 is presented in **Table 2-3**, with comparisons to Mackinac County and the State of Michigan.

Table 2-3 Population by Age									
City of Mackinac Island, Mackinac County and State of Michigan – 2023									
Age Group	Mackina	ic Island	Mackina	c County	State of M	lichigan			
nge Group	#	%	#	%	#	%			
Under 5	29	4.5	377	3.5	528,483	5.2			
5-9 years	29	4.5	470	4.3	577,543	5.7			
10-14 years	32	5.0	544	5.0	610,784	6.0			
15-19 years	28	4.4	519	4.8	639,875	6.3			
20-24 years	22	3.4	355	3.3	646,908	6.4			
25-34 years	80	12.5	972	9.0	1,286,710	12.7			
35-44 years	87	13.6	1,075	9.9	1,236,846	12.2			
45-54 years	86	13.4	1,324	12.2	1,237,077	12.3			
55-64 years	102	15.9	1,961	18.1	1,398,648	13.9			
65-74 years	91	14.2	1,970	18.2	1,164,357	11.5			
75-84 years	43	6.7	974	9.0	562,418	5.6			
85 years and over	11	1.7	290	2.7	208,391	2.1			
Totals	640	100.0	10,831	100.0	10,098,040	100.0			
Median Age	46	5.5	53	3.4	41	.1			

Source: 2023 Esri Demographic and Income Profile

As **Table 2-3** demonstrates, year-round residents of Mackinac Island in the young adult (25-34), familyforming (35-44), and empty nester (45-54) age categories make up a larger percentage of the total population (39.5 percent) in comparison to both the County (31.1 percent) and the State (37.2 percent). At 21.8 percent, the percentage of younger age groups (age groups 24 years or under) on Mackinac Island is comparable to the County (20.9 percent), but much lower than the State (29.6 percent). The percentage of older age groups (age groups 65 years and over) on Mackinac Island (22.6 percent) is lower than the County (29.9 percent) but higher than the State (19.2 percent).

According to 2023 Esri data, the median age of year-round residents of the City of Mackinac Island is 46.5 years (up from 43.1 years in 2010). Mackinac County's median age is older at 53.4 (up from 49.0 years in 2010). The median age of the State, at 41.1 years (up from 38.8 years in 2010), is younger than both the Island and the County.

According to Esri, the City's median age is anticipated to increase to 47.3 years by 2028. Similarly, both the County and State's median age is also anticipated to increase over the next 5 years.

It is difficult to get an accurate gauge of the age distribution of the tourists and seasonal residents. In the past, the seasonal employee population was primarily comprised of college age persons. However, in recent years, seasonal employees tend to be older, and more often foreign born.

Racial Composition

Mackinac Island's year-round population is somewhat racially diversified. According to Esri estimates, of the 640 permanent residents in 2023, 486 (75.9 percent) are White. Native Americans are an important resident minority group numbering 86 persons or 13.4 percent of the Island's year-round population. A total of 43 residents (6.7 percent) were listed as Two or More Races. The remainder of the population comprised of Black or African American (16 persons), Asian (1 persons), and Some Other Race (8 persons). The racial composition of Mackinac County is similar to that of the Island, with 73.9 percent White, 16.0 percent Native American, and the remainder of the population classified as other races.

Native Americans are an important resident minority group numbering 86 persons or 13.4 percent of the Island's year-round population

Households and Families

Census data for 2020 indicates a total of 293 (year-round) households within the City of Mackinac Island, which is an increase from 240 households in 2010. Esri estimates indicate that the total number of households will remain steady through the year 2028, staying at 293 total households.

Per the 2020 Census, of the City's 293 households, 106 or 36.2 percent were married couple households, while 31 or 10.6 were cohabitating couple households. A total of 124 households (42.3 percent) were comprised of individuals living alone. 52 households (17.7 percent) contained children under the age of 18.

Census data for 2020 indicates a total of 147 (year-round) families within the City of Mackinac Island, which is an increase from 128 families in 2010. Esri estimates indicate that the total number of families will remain steady through the year 2028, staying at 147 total families.

Average Household Size

According to the 2020 Census, the average household size for Mackinac Island is 1.96. However, Esri estimates for 2023 suggest that the average household size is higher at 2.14. This is an increase from the average household size of 2.05 back in 2010. Data from Esri suggests that the average household size on the Island will remain steady over the next 5 years (2.13 by 2028).

In contrast to the average household size on Mackinac Island, which has increased since 2010 and will remain steady over the next 5 years, the average household sizes within Mackinac County and the State of Michigan have decreased since 2010 and are expected to continue to decrease through 2028. For the County, the average household size was 2.19 in 2010, decreased to 2.11 in 2023, and will continue to decrease to 2.07 by 2028. For the State, the average household size was 2.49 in 2010, decreased to 2.42 in 2023, and will continue to decrease to 2.39 by 2028.

Disability Status

According to the 2021 ACS 5-year estimates, zero persons on the Island under the age of 17 are reported to have a major physical disability. In the 18 to 64 years category, 23.4 percent of Islanders are listed with a disability, as compared to 22.4 percent for the State. In the 65 years and over category, 96.5 percent of the Islanders have mobility and self-care limitations, while State statistics are listed as 71.3 percent. The City wishes

to accommodate this special population, as well as the number of visitors from across the State and elsewhere that may have mobility limitations.

Income

Income statistics for year-round residents of Mackinac Island, Mackinac County and the State of Michigan are presented in **Table 2-4** as taken from the 2023 Esri Demographic and Income profiles. 2010 values are from the U.S. Census. Generally, the median household income and per capita income levels for the year-round residents of the City are comparable to the County but below the levels for the State of Michigan as a whole. However, the income levels for the City, County and State have all increased since 2010 and are expected to increase over the next 5 years, from 2023 through 2028.

According to Esri in 2023, 76 or 25.9 percent of the 294 (year-round) households in the City of Mackinac Island are classified as low income, while 188 or 63.9 percent are middle income. The City's low income household percentage is slightly higher than the County (24.8 percent) and is also higher than the State (20.7 percent). However, between 2023 and 2028, the percentage of low income households on the Island is expected to decrease to 23.2 percent, while middle income household percentage is expected to increase to 65.2 percent.

Table 2-4 Income Statistics City, County, and State – 2010, 2023, 2028										
Place	Mediar	Household	Income	Per Capita Income						
	2010	2023	2028	2010	2023	2028				
Mackinac Island	\$48,594	\$57,911	\$64,787	\$27,451	\$35,295	\$39,531				
Mackinac County	\$39,339	\$57,006	\$63,968	\$22,170	\$37,147	\$43,584				
Michigan	\$48,432	\$65,287	\$75,808	\$25,135	\$38,288	\$44,180				

Source: 2023 Esri Demographic and Income Profile

Education

Education is an important factor in analyzing the capabilities of the local work force and in the economic vitality of a community. The U.S. Census Bureau tracks educational attainment by recording the percentage of citizens who have graduated from high school and who have gone further and obtained a bachelor's degree. Statistics from the 2000 and 2010 Census indicate that a higher proportion of Island residents (25 years of age or older) are high school graduates or higher, as compared to Mackinac County and the State as a whole. Additionally, a higher proportion of Island residents (25 years of age or older) have obtained a bachelor's degree or higher educational level, as compared to Mackinac County and the State as a whole. Although, the 2021 ACS data suggests the amount of high school or higher and bachelor's or higher persons has decreased on the Island. These values may be subject to dispute, seeing as though the margin of error for this data is very high compared to the Island's total population (refer to **Table 2-5**). It should be noted that these numbers apply only to the Island's year-round population.

Table 2-5 Educational Attainment – Persons 25 Years and Older City, County, and State – 2000, 2010, 2021										
Place	High S	chool Grad Higher %	uate or	Bachelor's Degree or Higher 9						
	2000 2		2010 2021		2010	2021				
Mackinac Island	84.1%	94.5%	80.5%	31.1%	29.6%	28.9%				
Mackinac County	82.5%	89.1%	91.5%	14.9%	20.1%	24.7%				
Michigan	83.4%	89.3%	91.6%	21.8%	28.6%	30.6%				

Source: 2000/2010 U.S. Census; 2017-2021 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates

Employment

The Michigan Department of Technology, Management & Budget (DTMB), regularly publishes employment data. Employment data on the civilian labor force is presented in **Table 2-6**, comparing Mackinac County and the State at regular intervals from 1990 through 2022 (the DTMB does not have this data available for the City). The unemployment rate for Mackinac County has traditionally been higher than that of the State as noted in the table. Additionally, it is notable that, while the unemployment rate for the State has declined since 2014, the unemployment rate for the County has risen since 2014.

Table 2-6 Labor Market Statistics Mackinac County and Michigan – 1990-2022											
State of MI	tate of MI 1990 1995 2000 2005 2010 2014 2018 2022										
Labor force	4,620,000	4,835,000	5,144,000	5,097,000	4,799,000	4,754,000	4,966,000	4,833,000			
Employed	4,262,000	4,577,000	4,953,000	4,754,000	4,194,000	4,408,000	4,756,000	4,624,000			
Unemployed	358,000	285,000	190,000	344,000	605,000	346,000	210,000	209,000			
Unemployment rate	7.7%	5.3%	3.7%	6.7%	12.6%	7.3%	4.2%	4.3%			
Mackinac Co	1990	1995	2000	2005	2010	2014	2018	2022			
Labor force	6,236	7,274	6,881	6,590	5,560	5,316	4,312	4,223			
Employed	5,343	6,411	6,368	5,938	4,746	4,723	3,550	3,525			
Unemployed	893	863	513	652	814	593	762	698			
Unemployment rate	14.3%	11.9%	7.5%	9.9%	14.6%	11.2%	17.7%	16.5%			

Source: Michigan Department of Technology, Management & Budget

Employment data at the City level for 2023 is available through Esri. Esri estimates that, of the 545 year-round residents of Mackinac Island who are age 16 or older, 524 are participants in the labor force. Of these, 514 are employed and only 10 are unemployed. This results in an unemployment rate of 1.9 percent, which is exceptionally low when compared to both the County and State. This data is evidence of the robust tourist economy on Mackinac Island.

It is also important to remember that the unemployment rate for the Island and similar seasonal communities is higher during the winter months and lower during the summer months, reflecting the nature of tourism's seasonal work. Because of the area's tourism character, the majority of employment is in lower paying service producing industries rather than in goods producing industries. In 2023, based on Esri data, 33.5 percent of Island residents were employed in the service industry (termed "Accommodation/Food Services"), which far exceeded any other industry category. The purpose of reviewing these employment statistics is to stress the important role of the Island as a major employment center for Mackinac County and the region during the summer season.

Housing Units and Housing Structure Types

According to the decennial census reports, the total number of housing units on Mackinac Island increased from 565 in 2000 to 1,002 in 2010. However, the 2020 Census recorded a decrease to 980 total housing units. Overall, however, this is an increase of 73.5 percent between 2000 and 2020. Esri estimates that there are 975 total housing units on the Island in 2023, which will decrease slightly to 963 total housing units by 2028.

Discussion on housing structure types in this section is derived from 2021 ACS information. As **Table 2-7** shows, the distribution of housing structure types for the City of Mackinac Island is considerably different than the County as a whole. Much of this difference can be accounted for in provision of multiple-unit structures for summer employees. For Mackinac Island, there is a much more even distribution of housing unit types compared to the County. The largest percentage of housing structures in the City (as of the 2021 ACS) are 1 unit structures (detached or attached), at 40.0 percent; however, for the County as a whole, more than 80 percent of structures are 1 unit structures (detached or attached). Following closely behind 1 unit structures, the second highest percentage of housing units in the City were 2-4 unit structures at 27.1 percent of total City housing stock. Ten or more unit structures comprise 24.6 percent of total City housing stock, while units in 5-9 unit structures comprise 6.2 percent of City housing stock.

	Table 2-7 Type of Housing Structures City of Mackinac Island and Mackinac County – 2000, 2010, 2021											
	Mackinac Island Mackinac County											
Structure Type	20	00	20	10	20	21	20	00	20	10	2021	
		%	#	%		%	#	%	#	%	#	%
1 unit attached or detached structures	370	65.3%	428	58.2%	427	40.0%	7,878	83.7%	8,903	82.3%	8,640	81.9%
2-4 unit structures	134	23.6%	138	18.8%	289	27.1%	364	3.9%	437	4.0%	489	4.6%
5-9 unit structures	28	4.9%	62	8.4%	66	6.2%	109	1.2%	164	1.5%	151	1.4%
10 or more unit structures	26	4.6%	95	12.9%	262	24.6%	170	1.8%	235	2.2%	512	4.9%
Mobile home or trailer	9	1.6%	12	1.6%	23	2.2%	892	9.5%	1,080	10.0%	763	7.2%
Totals	567	100%	735	100%	1,067	100%	9,413	100%	10,819	100%	10,555	100%

Source: 2000/2010 U.S. Census; 2017-2021 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates

Housing Occupancy Characteristics

Housing occupancy characteristics for the City and County are presented in **Table 2-8**. Of the 975 total housing units on the Island per 2023 Esri data, 294 or 30.2 percent were occupied year-round and 681 or 69.8 percent were vacant. In comparison to 2010, the City's occupied housing percentage has increased (from 24.0 percent to 30.2 percent) and conversely, the City's vacant housing percentage has decreased (from 76.0 percent to 69.8 percent).

Of the 294 occupied housing units in 2023, 181 (or 61.6 percent) were renter-occupied, while 113 (or 38.4 percent) were owner-occupied. Since 2010, the number and percentage of renter-occupied housing units has increased significantly, from 104 units (43.3 percent of all occupied units) to 181 units (61.6 percent), while the number and percentage of owner-occupied housing units has decreased significantly, from 136 units (56.7 percent of all occupied units) to 113 units (38.4 percent).

The profile of housing on Mackinac Island is substantially different from the County as a whole. While a significant percentage of Mackinac County's housing units are seasonally occupied, the percentage is not nearly as high as on the Island. In terms of owner and renter occupancy, a much higher percentage of Mackinac County's housing units are owner-occupied and much lower percentage or renter-occupied in comparison to the Island.

Housing occupancy characteristics for the City of Mackinac Island reflect a heavy seasonal population. The lure of island living, along with the abundant recreational opportunities, have attracted people to Mackinac Island, many of whom reside here during the summer months. As mentioned earlier in this section, according to the 2020 Census, of the City's total housing units classified as vacant, 96 percent were occupied for seasonal, recreational, occasional, or migrant worker use.

Table 2-8 Housing Occupancy Characteristics City of Mackinac Island and Mackinac County – 2010 and 2023										
		Mackina	ic Island			Mackina	c County			
Category	20	10	20	23	20	10	2023			
	#	%	#	%	#	%	#	%		
Occupied Housing	240	24.0%	294	30.2%	5,024	46.6%	5,090	48.5%		
Owner - Occupied	136	13.6%	113	11.6%	3,937	35.8%	3,818	36.4%		
Renter - Occupied	104	10.4%	181	18.6%	1,087	9.9%	1,272	12.1%		
Vacant Units	762	76.0%	681	69.8%	5,986	54.4%	5,409	51.5%		
Total Housing	1,002	100%	975	100.0%	11,010	100%	10,499	100.0%		

Source: 2023 Esri Housing Profiles
Housing Values and Rent

One comparative measure of the local housing stock is housing value. In 2000, the median value of owneroccupied housing units on the Island was \$170,000. According to figures compiled by the 2023 Esri housing profile, this median value has sharply increased to \$438,000. The median value of owner-occupied housing units for the County and State, per the 2023 Esri data, is much lower at \$186,229 and \$222,633, respectively.

This sharp increase in housing values on Mackinac Island is reflective of numerous factors, both inside and outside the Island. Local factors include the high desirability of living on the Island, historic significance of housing stock, high construction costs on the Island, waterfront land values, and limited availability of owner-occupied homes. The primary outside factor is the current state of the nation-wide housing market, featuring high demand for housing which has pushed up housing prices. According to Esri, the median value of owner-occupied housing units is expected to increase to \$448,077 by 2028.

Table 2-9 shows the distribution of owner-occupied housing units by value in 2021, based on ACS 5-year estimates. Of the 152 owner-occupied units recorded by the ACS, only 11 were valued at less than \$100,000, and only 10 were valued between \$100,000 and \$200,000. A total of 29 units were valued between \$200,000 and \$300,000. The remainder were valued at more than \$300,000, including 24 units which were valued at more than \$1,000,000.

Also shown in **Table 2-9**, median rental values on the Island (\$908) are notably higher than that of the County (\$649), but are more comparable to State values (\$969). It should be noted that the 2021 ACS data is a sample count and contains margin of error. Further, confidence in the reported value of contract rent is greater than confidence in the reported values of owner-occupied homes. Renters are asked to state a fact -- how much is monthly rent. Homeowners are asked to state an opinion -- how much do they estimate the home would sell for.

Table 2-9 Comparative Distribution of Housing Values and Rent City, County and State – 2021								
Financial	Mackina	c Island	Mackir	ac Co.	Michigan			
Characteristics	#	%	#	%	#	%		
VALUE: Owner-								
Occupied Housing	152	100.0	3,741	100.0	2,966,347	100.0		
Units								
Less than \$50,000	0	0.0	324	8.7	255,911	8.6		
\$50,000 - \$99,999	11	7.2	883	23.6	342,898	11.6		
\$100,000 - \$149,000	0	0.0	800	21.4	407,304	13.7		
\$150,000 - \$199,999	10	6.6	516	13.8	484,498	16.3		
\$200,000 - \$299,999	29	19.1	550	14.7	683,100	23.0		
\$300,000 - \$499,000	43	28.3	470	12.6	566,674	19.1		
\$500,000 - \$999,999	35	23.0	155	4.1	192,293	6.5		
\$1,000,000 or more	24	15.8	43	1.1	33,669	1.1		
Median Housing Value	\$422	,700	\$139	,200	\$199,100			

RENT: Occupied Units Paying Rent	232	100.0	995	100.0	1,027,094	100.0	
Less than \$500	37	15.9	227	27.8	105,122	10.2	
\$500 - \$999	101	43.5	546	54.9	444,517	43.3	
\$1,000 - \$1,499	78	33.6	127	12.8	348,689	33.9	
\$1,500 or More	16	6.9	45	4.5	128,766	12.5	
Median Rent	\$9	08	\$6	49	\$969		

Source: 2017-2021 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates

Housing Affordability

The housing stock in a community should be affordable to its residents. If housing costs are prohibitive, housing needs remain unmet in spite of housing unit availability. On the Island, housing affordability is an increasingly important issue for many year-round residents and seasonal employees. Some long-time year-round residents and descendants are finding it difficult to meet rising costs and, combined with other difficulties of Island living, are having to relocate to the mainland. As discussed earlier in this Chapter, the vast majority of the jobs are low paying seasonal service industry jobs, and yet housing costs are significantly above average and continuing to rise.

Total household income determines the price range of affordable housing for virtually all families. One method of determining housing affordability is to correlate housing values to household incomes. It can generally be determined that a household can afford to own a home that is no more than three times the household's yearly gross income. Thus, it is assumed that a household earning \$50,000 per year can afford a home that is \$150,000 or less in value. As noted in earlier in **Table 2-4**, the median household income on Mackinac Island, as recorded by the 2023 Esri profiles, was \$57,911. The median value of owner-occupied housing units was \$438,000. This median housing value is more than 7 times the median household income, suggesting a housing affordability concern on the Island.

According to the Esri Demographic and Income Profiles, the median value of owner-occupied housing units on the Island is more than 7 times the median household income on the Island, suggesting a housing affordability concern

Another method for evaluating housing affordability is the percentage of income a household spends on housing costs. Typically, housing costs should not exceed 30 percent of a household's gross income. According to the 2021 ACS, of the owner-occupied housing units on the Island with a mortgage, 32.2 percent were occupied by households who were paying more than 30 percent of their household income on monthly ownership costs. According to the 2021 ACS, of the occupied housing units on the Island occupied by renters, 27.6 percent were occupied by households who were paying more than 30 percent of their gross income in rental costs. Both of these figures further suggest a housing affordability concern on the Island.

Age of Housing Units

Typically, the economically useful age of residential housing units is approximately 50 years. Due to the historic nature of Mackinac Island and the value of the housing units, it is not surprising that over fifty percent of the total housing units are approaching or are over 50 years old (built earlier than 1970). **Table 2-10**, below, compares residential housing unit age for Mackinac Island, Mackinac County, and the State of Michigan based on data provided by the 2021 ACS. As is shown, the largest percentage (43.2 percent) of housing units on the Island were built in 1939 or earlier. This is reflective of the historic character of the Island, and is a much higher percentage than found in both the County and State. However, due to the care and concern of Island residents, older homes in the community have largely been preserved in good repair.

Table 2-10 Comparative Age of Structures, Total Housing Units City, County, and State – 2021									
Year Structure Built	Mackinac Island	Mackinac County	Michigan						
Duiit	%		%						
2020 or later	0.0%	0.1%	0.1%						
2010-2019	1.1%	3.4%	3.7%						
2000-2009	11.3%	10.4%	9.9%						
1990-1999	9.0%	14.3%	13.0%						
1980-1989	17.8%	14.4%	9.8%						
1970-1979	7.2%	15.7%	15.3%						
1960-1969	8.2%	10.3%	11.8%						
1950-1959	1.5%	9.9%	14.6%						
1940-1949	0.6%	5.5%	7.2%						
1939 or earlier	43.2%	16.0%	14.5%						
Totals	100%	100%	100%						

Source: 2017-2021 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates

Chapter 3: Natural Resources

Some of the significant attractions for the residents and visitors of Mackinac Island are the area's natural environment, fresh air, and island setting. The natural environment that attracts people to the area also imposes constraints on the use of the land. Often, the alteration of sensitive environments creates problems that cannot be easily corrected. An analysis of the City of Mackinac Island's physical environment can assist government officials in planning for future use. This Chapter includes resource discussions of climate, geology, topography, soils, water, wetlands, and wildlife.

Climate

The climate of the Island is similar to that of other parts of the Eastern Upper Peninsula, particularly those areas near the Straits of Mackinac. Generally, the summers are very mild and enjoyable, with the average May-September temperature in the 50s (F). The season of above freezing temperatures on the Island typically lasts about four and one-half months, from mid-May to early October. During the winter, the temperature typically hovers around freezing for December, January, and February with temperatures occasionally dropping to 15 to 20 degrees below zero. Snowfall averages about 93 inches annually, with seasonal variation ranging from 40 to 120 inches. Annual precipitation averages about 30 inches. The effects of Lakes Michigan and Huron are somewhat diminished due to the proximity of the Upper and Lower Peninsulas. Lake-effect snow is virtually nonexistent and fall and spring temperatures are also influenced with temperatures staying warmer in the fall and cooler in the spring. Because of this, Mackinac has about 180 frost-free days per year, which is higher than many of the surrounding inland areas.

Table 3-1 Climate Summary Statistics Mackinac Island Area, 1991-2020 Averages						
Category	St. Ignace/Mackinac Bridge					
Avg. Temp January	13.6 deg. F					
Avg. Temp February	13.5 deg. F					
Avg. Temp March	19.9 deg. F					
Avg. Temp April	31.2 deg. F					
Avg. Temp May	41.9 deg. F					
Avg. Temp June	52.4 deg. F					
Avg. Temp July	59.1 deg. F					
Avg. Temp August	59.0 deg. F					
Avg. Temp September	53.1 deg. F					
Avg. Temp October	42.1 deg. F					
Avg. Temp November	31.7 deg. F					
Avg. Temp December	22.8 deg. F					
Average Annual Precipitation	27.9"					
Average Annual Snowfall	93.0"					
Average Annual Snowfall 93.0" Source: National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration U.S.						

Source: National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration U.S. Climate Normals, 2020

Climatic conditions significantly influence the environment of the area, affecting the operation of municipal services as well as the economic development. The climate is particularly important on Mackinac Island because of its direct bearing on tourism. **Table 3-1** documents some important weather statistics recorded at two weather stations near Mackinac Island: St. Ignace and the Mackinac Bridge.

Geology

According to geologists, the bedrock underlying Mackinac Island was laid down during the Devonian age of the Paleozoic Era. Mackinac Island is part of a bowlshaped bedrock complex called the Michigan Basin. The bedrock on the Island is Garden Island Formation. The limestone features of the Island were formed

Draft Report – January 22, 2025

approximately 350 million years ago. Mackinac Island first appeared as the last glacier retreated north of the straits about 15,000 years ago. About 9,000 years ago, (over a period of approximately 2,000 years), Lake Algonquin receded to reveal Mackinac Island. The "Island" during this epoch was the tip of the peninsula which extended through Round Island and Bois Blanc Island and connected to the mainland near Cheboygan (see **Figure 3-1**). During the Lake Nipissing period, approximately 4,000 years of relatively high precipitation caused the lake to gradually rise to a level about 50 feet higher than Lake Huron is today. The erosion sensitive nature of limestone, combined with the erosive power of the historic Great Lakes washed away softer materials, resulting in the magnificent limestone formations found on the Island, such as Skull Cave, Sugar Loaf, and Arch Rock.



Topography

The topography of Mackinac Island is wedge shaped, with a high point of greater than 885 feet above sea level (see **Figure 3-2**). The low elevation, located along the shoreline, is about 590 feet, as compared to 577 feet for Lake Huron. The significant bluffs are primarily located on the southwest edge of the Island and along the eastern and southeastern edges of the Island. These bluff areas are comprised of the St. Ignace-Rock Outcrop Complex soil type, with slopes between 35 and 75 percent (see **Figure 3-3**). Round Island's topography is similar to Mackinac Island, with steep slopes on the northeast side of the Island and a single high point with an elevation of approximately 680 feet.



City of Mackinac Island | 2025 Master Pla

Digital Elevation Model:

- Higher Elevations

658-ft

- Lower Elevations
- Base Layers:
 - State Highway
 - Improved (Asphalt) Roads
 Unimproved (Gravel) Roads
 - Property Lines
 - Water Bodies

4241 Old US 27, Suit

Gaylord, N www.Wade

January 2025

Topography Source: Mackinac County Digital Elevation Model, Michigan Geographic Data Library Parcel Source: Mackinac County Equalization, 2018

10 Meter (33 Ft) Contour Lines

42

Soils

One important determinant of land use is the soil's suitability for a variety of uses. The physical and engineering properties of a soil type should be considered before development occurs.

Figure 3-3 shows the distribution of soil types throughout Mackinac Island. St. Ignace silt loam (70B) and Alpena gravelly loam (124D) are the two most predominant soil types on the Island. While the soil association information presented in **Figure 3-3** and steep slope and hydric soils presented in **Figure 3-4** can be used as a general guide for management of large undeveloped tracts of land, it should not be used for development of specific sites. For specific sites, the Mackinac County Soil Survey should be consulted. The following is a brief description of the soil associations found on Mackinac Island. The soil survey for Mackinac County shows 14 different associations for Mackinac Island.

- 27B Greylock Fine Sandy Loam: (1 to 6 percent slopes) Nearly level and undulating areas on ground moraines, end moraines, and drumlins.
- 27D Greylock Fine Sandy Loam: (6 to 15 percent slopes) Gently rolling and rolling areas on ground moraines, end moraines, and drumlins.
- 33 Pits, Sand and Gravel
- 35 Histosols and Aquents, ponded: Depressions, beaver dam areas, and marshes.
- 36 Markey and Carbondale Mucks: Depressions on ground moraines, lake plains, and outwash plains.
- 52A Ingalls Fine Sand: (0 to 3 percent slopes) Nearly level areas on lake plains and outwash plains.
- 61B Paquin Sand: (0 to 6 percent slopes) Nearly level and undulating areas on outwash plains and lake plains.
- 70B St. Ignace Silt Loam: (0 to 6 percent slopes) Nearly level and undulating areas on bedrock-controlled ground moraines and lake benches.
- 70D St. Ignace Silt Loam: (6 to 15 percent slopes, rocky) Gently rolling and rolling areas on bedrock-controlled ground moraines and lake benches.
- 70F St. Ignace-Rock Outcrop Complex: (35 to 75 percent slopes) Very steep areas on bedrock-controlled ground moraines and lake beaches.
- 116 Udipsamments and Udorthents (Nearly Level) Flat areas that were excavated for borrow material, or cut and fill areas.
- 124D Alpena Gravelly Loam: (0 to 15 percent) Nearly level to rolling areas on glacial lake beach ridges.
- 163B Esau-Zela Complex: (0 to 3 percent slopes) Ridge-swale complex on beach ridges; Esau on low ridges with slopes of 0 to 3 percent; Zela in swales with slopes of 0 to 2 percent.
- 164A Moltke Loam: (0 to 3 percent slopes) Nearly level areas on lake plains and outwash plains.

Figure 3-3 Mackinac Island Soils Map





City of Mackinac Island 🔰 2025 Master Plan

Base Layers:

Soils, Slopes and Floodplains:

- Non-Hydric Soils
- Soils Not Classified
- Slopes Greater That 10% State Flood Hazard Areas
- ls
- ----- Improved (Asphalt) Roads

State Highway

- -- Unimproved (Gravel) Roads
- ---- Property Lines
 - Water Bodies

Soils Source: SSURGO Soil Data, USDA Natural Resource Conservation Service; Slope Source Derived from Digital Elevation Model Service Parcel Source: Mackinac County Equalization, 2018 January 2025



Water Resources

Although the Island is located in the Lake Huron end of the Straits of Mackinac, there is very little surface water located on the Island. The only surface water visible on the United States Geological Survey topographical maps is a pond associated with Grand Hotel Golf Course. Additionally, a small creek on the west side of the Island, Brown's Brook, is fed by underground springs and flows year-round. There are a number of seeps with water trickling out of the limestone slopes cut on the east and west sides of the island. A small spring also feeds into Croghan Water on the Northwest side of the Island.

The water quality surrounding the Island is considered excellent. The lake water is the source for all drinking water which is filtered for use on the Island (see Chapter 5 – Community Facilities, Services and Transportation).

Floodplains

Floodplain information is made available by the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) through its National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP) (December 15, 2022 effective date for Mackinac Island). From a planning standpoint, this information is intended to promote floodplain management through implementation of sound land use within floodplain areas. Presently, there are several areas of the island, all of which are located along the shoreline, that fall within a "special flood hazard area." Special flood hazard areas are those having special flood, mudflow or flood-related erosion hazards where the NFIP's floodplain management regulations must be enforced and where the mandatory purchase of flood insurance applies. The special flood hazard areas on Mackinac Island have been determined in consideration of the base flood elevation of 585 feet above sea level. Most of the special flood hazard areas are immediately adjacent to the shoreline. The exceptions are the downtown and east end areas of the island, where floodplains extend slightly further beyond the immediate shoreline. Special flood hazard areas are shown on **Figure 3-4**. Efforts should be made to maintain these floodplain areas in their natural state to assure preservation of natural features and to limit damage to personal property. Some, but not all, of these special flood hazard areas are occupied as public parks or private open spaces.

Wetlands

Wetlands are unique and diverse ecosystems where water is found, either on the surface or near the surface, at various times during the year. These areas often contain poorly drained soils which support water-loving vegetation. Wetlands are also referred to as marshes, swamps or fens. Residents of Michigan are becoming increasingly aware of the value of wetlands. Beyond aesthetic value, wetlands protect the water quality of lakes and streams by filtering polluting nutrients, organic chemicals, and toxic heavy metals. Wetlands are closely related to high groundwater tables and serve to discharge or recharge aquifers.

Residents of Michigan are becoming increasingly aware of the value of wetlands. Beyond aesthetic value, wetlands protect the water quality of lakes and streams by filtering polluting nutrients, organic chemicals, and toxic heavy metals.

Croghan Water is an important marsh, located at the north central portion of the Island, along British Landing Road. This area is a natural drainage area for rain and snow melt water. It is also fed by underground springs, which protect it from severe wet and dry cycles.

Additionally, two wetlands are shown on the Soils Map (**Figure 3-3**). An emergent wetland is located along the shore on the east side of the Island, approximately one third of a mile south of the Wildflower Trail. This wetland (Carver Pond), a calcareous fen, referred to locally as Lone Lake, is dominated by herbaceous hydrophytic plants. A shrub/scrub wetland is located on the west side of the Island, northwest of Devil's Kitchen, and is dominated by woody vegetation less than six meters tall. Another wetland area borders Brown's Brook, especially near the mouth. There are also some less conspicuous wetland areas on both the east and west sides of the island.

Part 303 (Wetlands Protection) of Michigan's Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act (P.A. 451 of 1994) defines wetlands as "land characterized by the presence of water at a frequency and duration sufficient to support, and that under normal circumstances does support, wetland vegetation or aquatic life, and is commonly referred to as a bog, swamp, or marsh." The act further specifies State jurisdiction depends on proximity to lake, stream, pond, or Great Lake, and/or having a direct hydrological relationship with it. Wetlands that meet the statute criteria are considered regulated and require a permit before draining, filling, dredging, or construction in a wetland.

Woodlands and Flora

The Island provides a variety of habitats and supports a broad diversity of plant species. Island habitats include the northern mixed hardwood forests, upland conifers, lowland conifers, meadows, beaches and marshes. Northern hardwoods are the predominant forest type on the Island, which includes sugar maple, beech, basswood, and red oak. The other forest types include upland conifers, such as white-cedar, white spruce, balsam fir, white pine, red pine, and hemlock. The lowland conifers include northern white-cedar, balsam fir, white spruce, eastern larch, and paper birch. A belt of predominantly northern white-cedar surrounds the Island, as is typical of islands in the Western Great Lakes.

Mackinac Island is located in a floral transition zone, between the boreal forests of the north, and the mixed hardwoods further south. The Island supports over 600 species of plants. A 1995 study of the Island flora found some previously resident native species missing, and many new introduced species.¹ The State of Michigan recognizes rare plants and classifies them according to the level of protection granted: endangered, threatened, or special concern. Some of the protected plants found on the Island include all the orchids, some ground pines (Lycopodium species), and Pitcher's Thistle. Additionally, the Dwarf Lake Iris (Iris lacustris), a State threatened species, is no longer found in the wild on the Island (though the original siting of this species type was found here in 1810). One plant listed as rare is the Twisted Whitlow Grass (Draba arabisans Michaux), which grows on large boulders and outcrops of limestone. Mackinac is one of only four counties in Michigan to have this plant.

Approximately 28 percent of the plant species on the Island are introduced species. Case in point is Norway Maples, which have been brought to the Island over the years and planted as shade trees in yards and along streets. Now, this nonnative species has established itself throughout the Island and is out-competing many of the native trees. Left unchecked, the aggressive Norway Maple may someday replace the native Sugar Maple as the dominant hardwood tree on the Island. In the last few years, great strides have been made in removing them and controlling their spread on State Park land, and individuals on private land are similarly being

¹ Martin, Patricia L., A Floristic Study of the Vascular Plants of Mackinac Island, Michigan, Masters Thesis, Central Michigan University, 1995.

encouraged to remove and control their spread. Care should be taken to protect native flora and to eradicate exotic plants on the Island such as the following:

- Japanese Knotweed (Polygonum cuspidata)
- Phragmites (Phragmites australis)
- Common St. John's Wort (Hypercum perforatum)
- Wall Lettuce (Lactuca muralis)
- Golden Lungwort/Wall Hawkweed (Hieracium murorum)
- Purple Loosestrife (Lythrum salicaria)
- Black Spotted Star Thistle/Spotted Napweed (Centaura maculosa)
- Periwinkle/Myrtle (Vinca minor)
- Garlic Mustard (Alliaria petiolata)
- Japanese Knottweed (Fallopia japonica)
- Wild Parsnip (Pastinace satica)
- Common Buckthorn (Ramnus cathartica)
- Glossy Buckthorn (Rhamnus frangula)
- Crown Vetch (Securigera varia)

In addition to invasive species issues, our woodlands face threats from diseases. Beech Bark blight is killing the American Beeches on the Island and will probably claim 85 to 95 percent of these trees. Spruce bud worm is also damaging the White Spruce and Balsam Fir populations. Mackinac State Historic Parks has a checklist of wildflowers found on Mackinac Island, organized by family and specifies which species are introduced. A copy of this list is included in **Appendix B**.

Wildlife and Fish

The wildlife species found on the Island are typically smaller mammals, including squirrels, chipmunks, hares, raccoons, minks, river otters, beaver, coyote, fox and bats, our once most populous mammal. Unfortunately, the bat population has diminished lately due to the presence of White-nose syndrome first found in Mackinac County in the winter of 2013-2014. The disease is caused by the fungus Pseudogymnoascus destructans, which colonizes the bat's skin and usually results in death. It is estimated that 90 to 95 percent of the Little Brown Bat population has already been lost. During the winter, when the Straits of Mackinac is frozen, other larger mammals occasionally cross the ice from the mainland or neighboring islands. Due to the significant influx of summer tourists and the limited amount of wilderness area, very few larger mammals remain on the Island year round. However, since the last Master Plan, the island has seen the establishment of a permanent deer and coyote population. Like the non-native plants introduced to the Island, two non-native mammals were recently introduced to the Island and are now prolific. Gray squirrels were introduced in the 1970s at Fort Holmes, and eastern cottontails were introduced as recently as the 1990s.

A variety of bird species can be viewed on Mackinac Island, including species that reside on the Island yearround, summer breeding and nesting species, and those tha stop briefly during migratory flights. The yearround permanent species include: Chickadees, Nuthatch, and Purple Finch. The summer breeding species include: American Robin, the Yellow Warbler, Black Throated Green Warbler, Indigo Bunting, Ovenbird, American Redstart, Chimney Swift, and many others. Mackinac Island provides the appropriate habitats to support five species of eastern swallows during the summer. Birds that are occasionally spotted on the Island include the Broadwing Hawk, Osprey, and Great Gray Owl. Mackinac is on the flyway for migrating birds, especially hawks and eagles. Thousands pass over every spring and fall and, for the last three years, the Straits Area Raptor Watch has stationed a bird watcher to count the vultures, eagles, falcons, hawks and owls passing over Fort Holmes from March until early June. Mackinac Island State Historic Parks has a checklist of the bird species found on Mackinac Island. This checklist is included in **Appendix B**.

Fishing in the Straits area has been a significant part of the Island's history. Mackinac Island was one of the earliest fisheries in the upper Great Lakes. At the peak, in the middle part of the nineteenth century, the Island exported an estimated 25,000 barrels of fish annually.

Fishing in the Straits area has been a significant part of the Island's history. Mackinac Island was one of the earliest fisheries in the upper Great Lakes. At the peak, in the middle part of the nineteenth century, the Island exported an estimated 25,000 barrels of fish annually. The back bone of the fishing industry was the Lake White Fish, which spawn in abundance in the Straits of Mackinac, and also the Lake Trout. Today, in addition to those two species, there are a number of other fish in the Straits including Perch, Small Mouth Bass, Pike, Walleye, Brown Trout and Chinook salmon. The Chinook were introduced to the Great Lakes in an effort to control the invasive Alewife.

Although the Michigan Department of Natural Resources (MDNR) does not stock the Straits of Mackinac, there are some other stocking programs around the area that may influence the fishing around the Island. The local tribe of Native Americans is stocking one half million Chinook salmon at St. Martin's Bay annually. The MDNR also stocks Chinook salmon and brown trout at Detour. Today fishing from the Island is primarily recreational, with a few companies providing charter fishing excursions in the Straits area. The predominant fish caught is the King Salmon and the season is best during June, July, and early August.

Sites of Environmental Contamination and Concerns

Part 201 (Environmental Remediation) of the Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act (PA 451 of 1994), as amended, provides for the identification, evaluation, and risk assessment of sites of environmental contamination in Michigan. The Remediation and Redevelopment Division (RRD) of the Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy (EGLE) is charged with administering the law. A site of environmental contamination is identified by RRD as "a location at which contamination of soil, groundwater, surface water, air, other environmental resource is confirmed, or where there is potential for contamination of resources due to site conditions, site use, or management practices."

The RRD maintains a database on the agency's website of environmentally contaminated sites by county, showing the sites by name, pollutant(s), and site status. The current list (February 2023) identifies one site on Mackinac Island which qualify as a contaminated site per Part 201. The facility's name is Island Hardware (Facility ID# 00003237).

The current RRD list (February 2023) also includes two sites of environmental contamination which qualify as a result of a Baseline Environmental Assessment (BEA) prepared by a new or prospective property owner and disclosed to EGLE pursuant to Part 201. One site is located at 6309-66 Main Street and 6550 Wendell Street (Site ID# 49000091). The other is located at 1 Lakeshore Drive (Site ID# 4900007).

A second list for Leaking Underground Storage Tanks (LUST) is also maintained by the RRD and is governed by Part 213 of the Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act (PA 451 of 1994), as amended. The purpose of the program is to provide remedies for sites posing a threat to the public health, safety, or welfare, or to the environment, regardless of whether the release or threat of release is of a regulated substance. LUSTs are those contaminated sites with leaking petroleum products from underground tanks.

- <u>An Open LUST</u> site means a location where a release has occurred from an underground storage tank system, and where corrective actions have not been completed to meet the appropriate land use criteria. An Open LUST site may have more than one confirmed release.
- <u>A Closed LUST</u> site means a location where a release has occurred from an underground storage tank system, and where corrective actions have been completed to meet the appropriate land use criteria. In accordance with Section 21315(1) of Part 213, EGLE may audit a closure report, wherein the results of corrective actions are documented, up to six months after receipt of the closure report. This audit window may result in a confirmed release(s) being reopened during the six-month time frame following receipt of a closure report if deficiencies are noted.

Enbridge Line 5 Pipeline

Of particular environmental concern is the nearly 70 year old Enbridge Line 5, a major oil pipeline in the Enbridge Lakehead System, which conveys petroleum from western Canada to eastern Canada via the Great Lakes states. Line 5 is particularly notable for passing under the Straits of Mackinac. Public concerns have focused on the risk of a spill under the Straits of Mackinac, the difficulty of controlling any spill that might occur, and the impact such a spill would have on Mackinac Island. According to Enbridge, the pipes under the straits have never leaked, are monitored 24 hours a day, and are regularly inspected by underwater autonomous vehicles. However, there have been numerous spills elsewhere in Michigan from Enbridge pipelines, including a major Line 5 spill at Crystal Falls in 1999, as well as the 2010 Kalamazoo River oil spill on Line 6.

Anchor strikes to the pipeline have occurred in recent years, including a June 2020 anchor strike that temporary shut down the pipeline to repair significant damage. In November 2020, the Governor of Michigan announced the termination of Enbridge's easement to operate Line 5 in the Straits of Mackinac and requiring them to decommission Line 5 by May 2021. The Governor's action was based on a finding that Enbridge has repeatedly violated the 1953 Easement and that the continued operation of the pipeline violates the state's solemn duty to protect the Great Lakes under the public trust doctrine. Legal battles between Enbridge and the State are ongoing.

Surface Water Discharge Permits

All point source discharges into surface waters are required to obtain a National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit, which is issued by the Michigan Water Resources Commission upon recommendation by EGLE, Surface Water Quality Division. Permit requirements generally address discharge limitations, effluent characteristics, monitoring and reporting requirements, along with facility management requirements. The wastewater treatment plant and water filtration plant are the only operations on the Island that currently hold point source discharge permits.

Air Quality

Air Quality is monitored by the Air Quality Division of EGLE. Standards have been established as acceptable levels of discharge for any of the following air pollutants: particulate matter, sulfur dioxide, nitrogen dioxide, carbon monoxide, ozone, lead, and trace metals. These pollutants are monitored on a continuing basis at selected locations around the state. Monitoring in recent years has shown the level of pollutants in the region to be within the established acceptable standards. Air discharge permits are required for businesses discharging more than the acceptable level of any of the regulated air pollutants. While there are discharge permits issued within Mackinac County, there are no permits issued to businesses located on Mackinac Island.

Chapter 4: Existing Land Use

Patterns of Land Ownership

The patterns of land ownership on Mackinac Island are complicated. At the most basic level, the Island is comprised of privately owned land, State owned land, and State owned land that is leased for private use. Round Island, which according to the City Charter is part of the City of Mackinac Island, is federally owned. On Mackinac Island, most State land is under the jurisdiction of the Mackinac Island State Park Commission, which has been making a concerted effort in recent years to clarify ownership issues resulting from decades of encroachment and lack of accurate survey information. The State Park has acquired some conservation and scenic easements on private property to limit development on those parcels and protect views and has purchased additional properties. The State Park has also granted a number of specific easements for utility lines to traverse State property. The patterns of land ownership are depicted in **Figure 4-1**.

Existing Land Use Analysis

Categories and Methodology

The review of existing land use on the Island (as of Fall 2023) was conducted by a small team of Mackinac Island citizens who were also part of the Master Plan Steering Committee. For each specific area of the Island, an initial identification of existing land use was checked by one or more residents of that particular area. A total of 10 existing land use categories were established for the analysis, as follows:

- Residential, Year-Round
- Residential, Seasonal
- Condominium Attached Structure
- Employee Housing
- Accommodations (For Rental to Guests)
- Commercial
- Institutional
- Museum
- Recreation
- Vacant Land/Rights-of-Way

Additionally, a study of the use of private barns was conducted; however, private barn is not considered an existing land use category. An Island-wide existing land use map (**Figure 4-2**) illustrates the distribution of existing land use for each individual property. Several existing land use maps have been prepared at a larger scale for specified areas of the Island (**Figures 4-3 through 4-6**), including Downtown, the East End, Harrisonville, and Stonecliffe.



City of Mackinac Island | 2025 Master Pla

Ownership:

Private Land

State Land

State Land Leased for Private Use

Base Layers:

- State Highway
- Improved (Asphalt) Roads
- Unimproved (Gravel) Roads
 Property Lines
 - Mater De die

Water Bodies

4241 Old US 27, Suit

Gaylord, N www.Wade

53

January 2025



of Mackinac Island Citv



Base Layers:

Jase La	iyeis.
—	State Highway
—	Improved (Asphalt) Roads
	Unimproved (Gravel) Roads
	Property Lines
	Water Bodies

January 2025



Existing Land Use Source: Wade Trim and the City of Mackinac Island, February 2024 Parcel Source: Mackinac County Equalization, 2018

Condominium Attached Structure

Existing Land Use Categories: Residential, Year-Round

Residential, Seasonal

Employee Housing



Water Bodies

Vacant/Rights-of-Way

Accomodations (For Rental to Guests) Existing Land Use Source: Wade Trim and the City of Mackinac Island, February 2024 Parcel Source: Mackinac County Equalization, 2018







\dtdata\projects\Mck2013\01d\GIS-data\FIII



of Mackinac Island



Base Layers:

	-)
_	State Highway
	Improved (Asphalt) Roads
	Unimproved (Gravel) Roads
	Property Lines
	Water Bodies



4241 Old US 27 Gaylord, N www.Wade 58

Existing Land Use Source: Wade Trim and the City of Mackinac Island, February 2024 Parcel Source: Mackinac County Equalization, 2018

Condominium Attached Structure

Existing Land Use Categories:

Residential, Year-Round

Residential, Seasonal

Employee Housing

A summary table (**Table 4-1**) lists the distribution and number of uses by land use type for each specified area and subsection of the Island. The following areas and subsections are included in the summary table:

- Downtown, with 4 subsections:
 - o Mackinac Island School to Market Street
 - o Market Street to Hoban Street
 - Hoban Street to Astor Street
 - o Astor Street to Marquette Park
- East End, with 3 subsections:
 - o Marquette Park to Church Street
 - o Church Street to Truscott Street
 - o Truscott Street to Mission Point Resort
- Harrisonville, with 5 subsections:
 - Four Corners (Annex/Huron Roads) to 3rd Street
 - \circ 3rd Street to 5th Street
 - o 5th Street to 7th Street
 - North of 7th Street
 - Trillium Heights (Trillium Drive)
- Bluffs, British Landing, and the Lakeshore, with 6 subsections:
 - East Bluff
 - o Fort Area
 - West Bluff
 - o Annex
 - o British Landing
 - o Beyond British Landing, along Lake Shore Road to Mission Point Resort
- Stonecliffe, with 5 subsections:
 - Towering Oak Court to Maple Ridge Street
 - o Spruceview Lane to Forest Driveway
 - o Forest Driveway to Lake Shore Road, North of Stone Brook Road
 - o Stone Brook Road to Eckel Drive
 - o Eckel Drive to Green Shed Lane

The following methodology was utilized in the identification of existing land use:

- If a property/structure had two uses (for example, a property containing a structure with commercial on the ground floor and employee housing above), it was shown on the existing land use map with a hatch pattern to represent both existing land use categories. Within the summary table, the use was listed in both existing land use categories (note: this means that the total number of uses listed in the table for a particular area may exceed the actual number of properties in that area).
- A residential property/structure which could be used year-round but was not so used in the Fall of 2023 was counted as seasonal.
- It is understood that some of the "condominium attached structures" have units which can be used, and in some cases are used, year-round. However, no effort was made to determine how many units in each such condominium structure were used year-round or seasonal.
- In the summary table, employee housing structures were subdivided into "small" (3 or fewer units) and "large" (more than 3 units). (Please note that the small or large distinction is based on the number of units, not the number of occupants.)
- In the summary table, buildings not in one of the identified areas of the island were included in the counts of the nearest counted area. As examples, the Wawashkamo area buildings are included in the British Landing area, and the airport and waste water plant's buildings are in the Stonecliffe area.

Existing Land Use Analysis

The summary table of structures by existing land use, for each section and subsection of the Island, is presented as **Table 4-1**. A narrative describing existing land use on the Island is included below.

Residential, Year Round

In general, higher concentrations of residential year-round homes are located in downtown, Harrisonville, and in the Stonecliffe areas, with a small number in the Annex and British Landing area.

<u>Residential, Seasonal</u>

Residential seasonal homes include houses that on Mackinac Island are called "cottages", many of them over 100 years old. They are on both the East Bluff and West Bluff and in the Annex, with a few downtown. Some of them have converted a part of the cottage or barn into a winterized unit which can be used for occasional winter visits.

In the seasonal residential category, there are also homes that have been built so they can be used year-round (some were so used in recent years) and the owners have chosen to leave the Island typically in the fall/winter seasons. This is true for some of the houses identified as "seasonal" in Harrisonville, especially Trillium Heights, or in the Stonecliffe area.

Table 4-1											
Existing Land Use											
Mackinac Island, Fall/Winter 2023-2024											
Number of Uses by Existing Land Use Category											
Area of Town	Residential, Year-Round	Residential, Seasonal	Condominium Attached Structure	(S - L)	for the second s	Accommodations (For Rental to Guests)	Commercial	Institutional	Museum	Totals Uses	Vacant Land
DOWNTOWN											
Mackinac Island School to Market Street	7	17	0	(6 - 5)	11	1	2	2	0		0
Market Street to Hoban Street	9	16	0	(6 - 4)	10	6	3	1	0		0
Hoban Street to Astor Street	3	0	0	(18 - 2)	20	12	39	3	1		0
Astor Street to Marquette Park	0	3	0	(14 - 2)	16	8	20	6	2		0
Totals	19	36	0	n/a	57	27	64	12	3	218	0
EAST END											
Marquette Park to Church Street	2	7	1	(2 - 2)	4	9	3	1	0		0
Church Street to Truscott Street	4	7	2	(8 - 3)	11	1	1	2	0		1
Truscott Street to Mission Point Resort	9	16	7	(1 - 4)	5	2	4	3	0		2
Totals	15	30	10	n/a	20	12	8	6	0	101	3
HARRISONVILLE											
Four Corners to 3rd Street	2	2	2	(6 - 4)	10	0	12	2	1		2
3rd Street to 5th Street	24	1	1	(8 - 3)	11	0	2	0	0		7
5th Street to 7th Street	33	10	0	(6 - 3)	9	0	1	0	0		13
North of 7th Street	27	3	0	(9 - 6)	15	0	1	1	0		11
Subtotals	86	16	3	n/a	45	0	16	3	1	170	33
Trillium Heights	9	1	0	(0 - 1)	1	0	1	0	0		11
Totals	95	17	3	n/a	46	0	21	2	1	185	44
BLUFFS, BRITISH LANDING, AND THE LA	KESHOR	E									
East Bluff	0	20	0	(0 - 0)	0	0	0	0	0		1
Fort Area	0	2	0	(0 - 0)	0	1	0	0	1		1
West Bluff	3	27	0	(1 - 0)	1	0	0	0	0		8
Annex	4	15	0	(0 - 0)	0	0	0	0	0		8
British Landing	4	7	0	(0 - 0)	0	0	1	3	0		7
Beyond British Landing, along Lake Shore Road to Mission Point Resort	0	1	0	(0 - 0)	0	0	0	1	0		1
Totals	11	71	0	n/a	1	1	1	3	1	89	25
STONECLIFFE											
Towering Oak Court to Maple Ridge Street	8	13	0	(0 - 0)	0	0	0	0	0		65
Spruceview Lane to Forest Driveway	4	4	0	(0 - 0)	0	0	0	0	0		32
Forest Driveway to Lake Shore Road, North of Stone Brook Road	8	18	0	(0 - 0)	0	0	0	0	0		39
Stone Brook Road to Eckel Drive	0	12	5	(0 - 0)	0	0	0	0	0		40
Eckel Drive to Green Shed Lane	11	10	0	(1 - 0)	1	9	2	1	0	-	17
Totals	31	57	5	n/a	1	9	2	1	0	106	193
ISLAND TOTALS	171	211	18	n/a	125	49	96	24	5	699	265

City of Mackinac Island 2025 Master Plan

Adopted _____, 2025 Page - 45

Condominium Attached Structure

Condominium attached structures have virtually all been built to be usable year-round, but the majority of the units are not so used, being in actual use during the extended season from May to the end of October, both by the owner and rented to others. These condominium attached structures are found in downtown, on the south side of Harrisonville, and in the Stonecliffe area.

Employee Housing

Employee housing is found downtown, in Harrisonville, and in the Stonecliffe area. The structures are converted from former family houses, from former hotels, or are structures purposely built to house employees in single rooms or in units for two or more individuals, owned by one of the Island's employers. Some have kitchen and laundry facilities, and some do not. Their primary occupancy is during "the tourist season" from early May to the end of October.

Accommodations (For Rental to Guests)

Accommodations for rental to guests range from the two large hotels, the Grand and Mission Point, through mid-sized hotels, to smaller hotels, and include bed & breakfasts. They are located in the downtown area with one mid-sized hotel at Stonecliffe. They are all open by the end of May and closed during and by the end of October, while some of the bed & breakfasts are open for guests during the winter months. The Island has an estimated 1,600 rooms available for the many tourists who come for one or more nights (Mackinac Island Tourism Bureau, 2024). On a number of nights in mid-summer, there is not an extra room to be had on the Island.

Commercial

Commercial uses of land include restaurants, gift shops, snack shops, fudge stores, and offices for arranging carriage tours and rental of bikes and horses. There are two year-round banks, a post office, and a grocery store. These uses are found on downtown's Main Street, primarily between French Lane and Fort Street, with occasional isolated commercial uses on the east end of Main Street, in Harrisonville, at Stonecliffe, and at British Landing. While most horses leave at the end of the tourist season, several teams remain on the Island all winter, so that horse-drawn taxis and wagons for deliveries and trash removal can continue year-round.

Institutional

Institutional uses of structures on the Island include the City office, Mackinac Island Medical Center, Police and Fire Department offices and buildings, the Library, the School, a City museum, and several churches. These institutional uses are all in the downtown area. The State Park also operates offices and work buildings in the downtown area, with seven buildings downtown (five museums, one employee housing structure and a visitor's center). The airport with its associated buildings, the water intake/treatment plant, the solid waste and waste water processing areas and buildings, two reservoirs (the lower reservoir and upper reservoir), and three cemeteries, are all located on State Park owned land in the interior of the Island. Near the Fort is a second fire station, and a facility belonging to the electric cooperative that serves the Island (these facilities are also situated on State Park owned land). Other institutional uses on State Park owned land include the State of Michigan's dock at British Landing.

Recreation

A recreation land use category is included on the existing land use maps. This land use category encompasses public or private recreation-related lands on the Island, including three golf courses (Wawashkamo, Jewel "Woods Nine", and Jewel "Grand Nine"), Marquette Park, Great Turtle Park, and the Mackinac Island State Harbor. Some of these recreational lands are privately owned while some are owned by the State Park. As these lands generally do not contain principal structures, the recreation category is not included in **Table 4-1**.

Vacant Land/Rights-of-Way

Lands which are currently vacant or unoccupied, as well as road rights-of-way, are classified into this category. The majority of the State Park owned land on the Island is shown as this category on the existing land use map, reflective of the undeveloped nature of the land. Numerous vacant, privately-owned lots are interspersed within subdivisions amongst otherwise built-up areas, such as in Trillium Heights, British Landing, and the Stonecliffe area (including Woodbluff and Stonebrook).

Private Barns

An inventory of private barns was conducted as part of the 2018 master planning process. Because private barns are accessory to principal uses, such as dwellings, they are not listed in **Table 4-1**. However, it was important to conduct an inventory of them because of the Island's unique horse culture and traditions. A private barn is defined as a structure in which one or more horses were recently stabled. In addition, there were 23 barns that, with some restoration, including clearing out the inevitable "stuff" which accumulates in otherwise empty barns, could return to stabling a horse. In 2018, there was a total of 44 actual or potential private barns on the Island, located in the following areas. (The first number is the current and recent use for one or more horses, the second number is the potential and plausible additional usable barns.)

- Harrisonville: 4 1
- East Bluff: 5 7
- Fort Area: 0 3
- West Bluff: 6 4
- Annex: 3 7
- British Landing: 1 0
- Beyond British Landing, on Lake Shore Road to Mission Point Resort: 2 1

Chapter 5: Community Services, Facilities, and Transportation

Water Distribution and Sewage Collection

Municipal water and sewer systems, maintained by the Department of Public Works (DPW), serve the majority of the water and sewer needs in the downtown area and other developed portions of the Island. While most of the State Park land is not served by water and sewer, many of the support facilities and service lines run through State Park property. City water and sewer does serve all State Park fire suppression and consumer service needs. The DPW has a 40-year franchise agreement (expires 2033) with the Mackinac Island State Park Commission to erect and maintain facilities and distribution systems for water supply and sewage treatment and disposal on Mackinac Island. DPW facilities on State Park property include the water reservoirs, Solid Waste Handling Facility, and Waste Water Treatment Plant, as well as horizontal water and sewer assets.

Sewer service in Harrisonville is limited. The public sewer system does not currently serve the older single family dwellings and residential developments in Harrisonville, although the newer housing developments in the area such as Edgewood and Woodville Court and Iroquois employee housing have installed private sewer mains which connect to the municipal system. Likewise, many of the newer residential developments have been required to install sewer mains which meet the City's specifications and connect to the municipal system. A few scattered single family residences, located on the northern and eastern portions of the Island, either on leased State Park land or private parcels surrounded by State Park land, are not served by municipal sewer. Two single family residences on the far northern portion of the Island are not served by City water and take their supply directly from Lake Huron.

Water System

The following narrative was prepared for the City by Fishbeck, Thompson, Carr & Huber (FTC&H) in April 2022 as part of a Water System Reliability Study. The Water Treatment Plant, including the raw water intake, was originally constructed in 1984 with a conventional filtration system. The raw water intake was installed 783 feet into Lake Huron at a depth of approximately 40 feet. In 1997, the conventional filtration system was replaced with a membrane filtration system.

Raw water is conveyed from the lake through an 18-inch ductile iron pipe to the shorewell at the WTP. Two vertical turbine shorewell pumps with a capacity of 2,000 gallons per minute (gpm) (2.88 MGD) each draw water directly from the shorewell, which causes water to flow from the intake. The shorewell pumps provide a total capacity of 5.76 MGD and a firm capacity of 2.88 MGD.

Water is pumped by the shorewell pumps through two strainers to four continuous microfiltration membrane filtration skids. The original membranes and the skids were installed in 1997; the membranes were then replaced in 2006 and again in 2016 due to their age and reductions in performance. The new membranes are chlorineresistant, which allows the City the ability to, if needed, pre-chlorinate the raw water just prior to filtration. The skids have a total capacity of 2.30 MGD and a firm capacity of 1.73 MGD. The firm capacity of the skids is the limiting factor relative to the WTP capacity, meaning the plant has a firm capacity of 1.73 MGD with one skid out of service. Process air is fed to the membrane skids via two compressors housed within the plant.

Filtered water from the membrane skids flows to the concrete clearwell beneath the plant, where chlorine is added for disinfection. The clearwell has a total capacity of 100,000 gallons. Water is pumped from the clearwell to the distribution system by four vertical turbine pumps: two pumps for the low-pressure district and two for the high-pressure district. The pumps currently in use were installed in 1998. During normal plant operations only the high-pressure district pumps are used. Water is pumped to the high-pressure district and then bleeds down into the low-pressure districts through a series of pressure reducing valves.

The WTP uses chlorine gas for disinfection, which is shipped to the City in 150-pound cylinders. The chlorination equipment is located in the chlorine room at the WTP. Since the water demand varies seasonally, so do the chlorine requirements.

The WTP requires improvements to continue reliable operation. Most of the equipment is 20 to 30 years old, and several items need to be replaced or rehabilitated due to age and condition. The Project Plan from the Water System Reliability Study focuses on the installation of new membrane filtration skids, improvements to the disinfection system, as well as other needs.

A total of about 140 fire hydrants throughout the system are maintained by the DPW. These are used in street washing, horse drawn street sweeping, as well as fire protection.

Leak surveys of the water system are conducted every other year by an outside firm in conjunction with the DPW.

Wastewater

The wastewater treatment facility, which is located near the center of the Island, has a rated capacity of 0.99 MGD. It was built in 1971, with expansions in 1984, 1992 and 2013. In 2024 a total rebuild of the Biddle Point pump station controls, pumps, motors, ventilation, and standby power was completed. Biddle Point handles sewage from the East and West Bluffs, Grand Hotel, Fort Mackinac, and all of the downtown and Mission areas. Pump configuration was changed from two 100 Hp and two 75 Hp pumps to three 75 Hp pumps. While these changes dropped the firm capacity from 1,650 GPM to 1,350 GPM, reliability was improved by having three identical pumps. Power costs were also reduced with the new configuration. If needed, capacity can be increased significantly by changing to higher horsepower pumps and/or the addition of a fourth pump. There are four smaller pumping stations located at Mission Point, Park Avenue in the Annex, near the Airport, and near Stonebrook. Mission Point lift station was refurbished in 2021. The Airport lift station was rebuilt in 2022. Improvements are planned for Stonebrook and Park Avenue. Additionally, newer developments have installed private sewer lines to Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy (EGLE) specifications and the City has accepted responsibility for some of these lines.

Due to the dwindling capacity of the wastewater treatment facility, the City Council established a policy in June 2004 limiting the number of residential equivalency units (REU's) sold each year, with the goal of extending the life of the wastewater treatment facility. Specifically, the policy limits the number of new REU's issued per year on the Island to 10, on a "first come, first served" basis. These 10 REU's are allocated per year, as follows:

- 3 REU's reserved for residential
- 2 REU's reserved for change of use or small commercial
- 5 REU's open to residential or commercial

In 2023, EGLE announced the award of a \$15 million Clean Water State Revolving Fund grant to the City of Mackinac Island to support the construction of a new wastewater treatment plant. This grant will be added to other State and local funding sources including low-interest loans. In 2023, Fleis & Vandenbrink Engineering was contracted to construct the new wastewater treatment plant, increasing capacity, addressing ongoing odor issues, and removing Chlorine gas hazards. Once bid, the project cost became \$77.4 million. Additional funds from the State of Michigan totaling \$39.7 million were assigned to this project. Ground was broken in the fall of 2023 for a new Moving Bed Biological Reactor (MBBR) facility with an enclosed headworks, septage receiving station, and UV disinfection. Work is expected to be completed in the fall of 2025.

In 2024, in consideration of the wastewater treatment plant update, secured funding, and construction underway, the City Board of Public works expanded the REU distribution to 20 REU's per year, allocated as follows:

- 3 REUs reserved for strictly residential
- 2 REUs reserved for change of use or small commercial
- 5 REUs reserved for residential OR boardinghouse use
- 10 REUs reserved for commercial

Although the City's REU limitation policy remains in place as of the adoption of this 2024 Master Plan, the need for the policy is likely to end in the fall of 2025 when the new wastewater treatment plant is constructed and begins operations. Over the past 20 years, the City's REU limitation policy has been an influential factor working to limit growth and development on the Island. Other factors, including the City's Master Plan, zoning ordinance, and Historic District standards, play a similarly influential role in managing the character and scale of development on the Island. The potential for the City Council to rescind the REU limitation policy in the near future reinforces the need for the City to proactively plan for its future and ensure that its Master Plan is accompanied by strong regulatory tools such as the zoning ordinance and Historic District standards.

Stormwater

The stormwater collection system is in place in the downtown area and the Mission Area of the City of Mackinac Island. The downtown portion extends west to Mahoney Street. The nutrient load entering the system as debris and manure is minimized by the diligent street sweeping efforts conducted by both the City and the State Park. All portions of the stormwater collection system ultimately drain to Lake Huron. The stormwater system is fully owned by MDOT.

Solid Waste

Solid waste is an especially important function for an island community, and as such, Mackinac Island has developed a state-of-the-art processing and handling operation. The composting program is considered a model program by other communities from around the State.

Residential and commercial pick-up is offered on the Island by Mackinac Island Service Company using horse drawn drays. The dump on the Island was closed and capped in 1993. The Island currently operates an aggressive recycling and composting program, which serves to minimize the amount of solid waste shipped off-island for landfill disposal. Three types of municipal solid waste (compostable, recyclable, and landfill) are collected and taken to the Solid Waste Handling Facility, where the different types of waste are processed and

sorted. Approximately 85 percent of municipal solid waste collected annually is collected between June 1 and September 30 each year. Approximately 26 percent of this waste is recycled, roughly 24-25 percent is composted on the Island, and the remaining 49-50 percent ends up in an off-island landfill. Single use plastic cups, water bottles, and similar items are among the materials which must be transported off-island. The City should consider whether additional efforts to reduce single use plastic waste are needed, such as providing more water fountains and water bottle filling stations.

Construction debris, such as wood and drywall, is utilized in the composting process. The wood is separated for grinding once a year, and then the woodchips are mixed into the early stages of the compost process or used to cap dumpsters to prevent animal scavenging. Scrap metal, including discarded appliances, is now separated and periodically shipped off-island to a recycler. Much more metal than originally anticipated has been collected. The landfill solid waste collected on Mackinac Island is taken off-island and transported to a landfill in Dafter, Michigan. The recycling program is operated as source separated. Garbage and recyclable wastes are picked up daily from businesses during the summer season (May 1 – November 1) and curbside from residences weekly for garbage and every two weeks for recyclables. For the wintertime season (November 1 – May 1), pickup is twice weekly for commercial and weekly for residential. The City recycles three types of plastics, glass, magazines, tin, aluminum, styrofoam, and cardboard. The City collects newspaper, but due to the small volume and low market value, the City shreds the newspaper and uses it in the composting process.

The City's composting program is considered a model program by other communities from around the State

The composting program takes yard waste, food and paper waste from restaurants, horse manure from street and stable cleaning. The process involves a number of mixing steps and moving the compost piles. The compost piles are aerated with the leachate collected for treatment. Finally, the material is screened, cured (aged), and ultimately tested by EGLE prior to being sold. This process allows for a considerable amount of the waste to be converted into usable material which is sold on the Island for lawn and garden areas as well as used on the dump for additional cover. This material, once composted, is spread on top of the capped dump. The current composting and recycling facility is meeting the existing needs and is adequate to meet the anticipated needs for the near future. Landfill operations often suffer from transportation delays of empty and full dumpsters. Occasionally, especially in the spring, delays in shipping leave construction projects and City landfill operations unable to meet demand.

Other Utilities

Electric power is provided to Island residents, businesses, and the State Park by Cloverland Electric Cooperative of Dafter. The electricity is provided through lines from St Ignace located under Lake Huron. The electric service is provided throughout the developed portions of the Island via a combination of buried and overhead transmission lines. The reliability of the electric services has been improving, although the Island still experiences occasional short-term power outages. These occasional power outages support the need to have a sufficient number of full-time Island residents as employees of the power company. In the winter of 2015-16, Cloverland Electric upgraded and buried lines in the downtown area.

The Island is provided with phone and internet service by AT&T through copper and fiber optic cable. However, only certain portions of the Island, including downtown, have good access to fiber optic service, while other portions of the island have limited access, including many of the residential areas. Cable television service is provided to Island businesses and residents by Astrea. Internet is provided mainly by Astrea and AT&T. Additionally, many on the Island utilize satellite systems for their television reception, which must meet certain Island and State Park regulations.

The Island does not have natural gas service. Rather, propane gas is delivered to the Island via barge in 100 or 250 pound cylinders. Mackinac Island Service Company stores the cylinders at the Coal Dock awaiting enduser delivery. Roughly 50 commercial and residential customers use propane. For commercial customers, propane is typically used for cooking, while residential customers typically use propane for small gas heating units or for cooking alternative. The Service Company delivers propane cylinders by dray or hand-pushed cart using certified installers for hazard prevention. Mission Point uses propane that is stored in two, 30,000 gallon propane tanks on their property, serviced by a propane delivery truck.

Most winter heating on the Island is served by electricity, while a few may heat or supplement with propane, fuel oil, wood pellets or wood.

Police, Fire, and Emergency Medical Services

The full time, year-round Island police force consists of a chief, two corporals, and three officers. During the summer, the staff is supplemented with four seasonal officers, and three traffic interns. The Michigan State Police assign two state troopers to the Island for 16 weeks in the summer. The Police Department operates two, four-wheel drive police vehicles.

The Police Department offices are located downtown on the first floor of the old City Hall building on Market Street. A substation in Harrisonville is also utilized. This facility allows for an increased police presence and greater accessibility for the public in Harrisonville and is used for conducting interviews, writing reports, and has an outside phone that is a direct dial to emergency dispatch.

Since 2006, the Island has had a community-wide addressing system and is participating in the county-wide 911 emergency services.

The year-round Mackinac Island Fire Department currently has a roster of 22 certified volunteer paid firefighters. Fire equipment includes four fire trucks: Squad 1, Engine 1, and Ladder 1 and 2; as well as other rescue vehicles: Rescue 1 (4x4), Battalion Pickup Truck with Wildland Fire Pump, and Ice Rescue Catamaran. This equipment is stored at Fire Station #1 on Market and Fire Station #2 on Edison Road. The department is also equipped for ice and water rescue.

In 2015, the City of Mackinac Island was awarded a Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) port security grant. This grant funded a \$500,000 custom 31 foot vessel constructed by SAFE Boats International in Bremerton, Washington, which created the Mackinac Marine Rescue Team (MMRT). The vessel arrived at the Straits of Mackinac in June of 2015. The MMRT is managed and operated by members of the Mackinac Island community who are paid on call and trained to the United States Coast Guard small boat operators standards. MMRT later became a full Department of the City of Mackinac Island and now goes by Mackinac Marine Rescue (MMR). MMR assists all the Mackinac Island public safety agencies by providing a marine platform that works with the Mackinac Island Medical Center and Mackinac Island EMS to provide medical evacuations of critical patients requiring care off the Island. The vessel has firefighting capabilities to assist the Mackinac

Island Fire Department and its mutual aid partners. Additionally, the team is trained to carry our hazardous materials screening and search and rescue missions in conjunction with the Mackinac County Sheriff Department, the United States Coast Guard, and other agencies. The vessel is operated from late April until early November each year based on the weather.

Emergency Medical Service (EMS) on the Island operates year-round and is provided under an agreement with Cheboygan Life Support Systems, a non-profit firm from Cheboygan. They are responsible for staffing, equipment, and vehicle maintenance and repair. Emergency medical technicians (EMT) are on call 24 hours per day.

The Mackinac Island Medical Center, affiliated with Mackinac Straits Health System in St. Ignace, provides year round emergency and primary care medicine to Island residents and visitors.

Staffing for both volunteer and paid emergency services personnel continues to be a concern in the community.

School

The Mackinac Island Public School serves grades pre-Kindergarten through twelfth grade, with enrollment for the 2023-2024 school year of approximately 70 students. The school has also instituted a preschool program for 3- and 4-year-old children. The teacher to student ratio for the school is 1 to 6. The school facility is used through the year for volleyball, basketball, and community activities. The school has recently added robotics and e-sports to their curriculum. School students generally score above the state and national averages on standardized tests, with graduates continuing their education or entering the job market or the military. Scholarships are offered to all high school graduates who qualify through Mackinac Island Community Foundation endowments and other scholarship funds. The Mackinac Arts Councils supports the school in numerous ways with field trips, theater productions, and poetic and artistic showcases. The school built a duplex to house their staff in 2017 and is planning on building another duplex in 2024-25.

Recreation

The City of Mackinac Island has a Recreation Master Plan on-file with the Michigan Department of Natural Resources. The current plan was adopted in 2023 and covers calendar years 2024 through 2028. A recreation ordinance was adopted by the City on January 17, 1996. With the acceptance of this ordinance, the City established a recreation department, which is overseen by a five (5) member recreation board, that are appointed by the Mayor. The Board of Recreation hired a full time Recreation Director.

Prior to the formation of a recreation department, any recreational facilities and program developments were carried out by Mackinac Island Recreational Development, Inc, (MIRD). MIRD, an all-volunteer group, was incorporated as a non-profit organization in 1979. With the cooperation of the Mackinac Island State Park

Recreation Mission Statement: To provide the community of Mackinac Island year-round recreational opportunities that encourage, support and convey a healthy, active lifestyle for all. Commission, the City of Mackinac Island, and Mackinac Island Public School, MIRD designed and implemented long range recreation plans and year round recreation programs. MIRD was a driving force behind the planning and building of Great Turtle Park.

The recreation department is currently running over 50 programs throughout the year for all interests including physical activity, sports arts and crafts.

Currently, the school operates a Play Safe Playground, which includes slides, climbers and swings, all ADA compliant. The City also operates:

- East End Cove open space along the water
- Veterans Memorial City Park memorial display, and benches with ADA compliant restrooms
- Great Turtle Park softball and soccer fields, basketball court, sand volleyball court, horseback riding arena, skate park, disc golf course, covered pavilion, concession stand, park benches, barbeque grills and an ADA compliant playground

Mackinac Island Recreation Department works closely with the Mackinac Island State Park, MIRD and the public school to utilize resources, both in personnel and facilities, in developing programs and activities for all residents of the Island. An example of this would be Great Turtle Park, which was built on property that is leased to the City by the State Park.

The current long range goals for the Recreation Department include:

- Continuation of present recreation programs and activities with the goal of expanding offerings to include a wider variety of activities
- Development of City owned land known as East End Cove for future recreational needs
- Golf driving range
- Restrooms by Burough Lot Playground and Water Filtration Plant
- Design and build a recreational facility
- Build a pool
- Boardwalk maintenance and improvements
- Street end improvements and maintenance
- Playground equipment- upgrades and maintenance
- Workout facilities
- Splash pad
- Greenhouse development, placement and maintenance
- Archery shooting range

• Dog park

The short-term goals of the Recreation Department are as follows:

- Continuation of present recreation programs and activities as well as developing new programs and activities to fill the need of an ever-changing population
- A covered area to accommodate a winter ice skating rink and summer protection from inclement weather or sun
- Great Turtle Park Projects
 - o Completion of landscaping and trail ways
 - Finish landscaping sledding hills
 - Soccer field upgrades
 - Improve signage at entrances to the park
 - o Add more gardens
 - o Playground improvements and updates
 - o Softball field upgrades
 - Adding a pickleball court
 - o Adding an adult workout area
 - o Improved entrances
- Develop a plan for pool access within the community
- Provide a year-round activity center for the Island youth
- Children's day camps
- Development and maintenance of a kayak/canoe launch

Municipal, State, and Federal Facilities

Many municipal, state, and federal facilities are located on Mackinac Island as follows:

- City Offices and Community Hall 7358 Market Street
- Fire Station 1 7366 Market Street
- Fire Station 2 2290 Edison Road
- Police Station/Courthouse/Police Lockup 7374 Market Street
- Police Substation 3013 Cadotte Avenue
- St. Martin's Place Police Housing- Market Street
- Wastewater Treatment Facility 3134 Stonecliffe Road
- Water Treatment Plant 6602 Main Street

- Solid Waste Facility 3883 Dousman Street
- Mackinac Island Public Library 7549 Main Street
- Mackinac Island Post Office 7316 Market Street
- Mackinac Island Medical Center 7474 Market Street
- State Park Offices 7029 Huron Road
- State Park Visitors Center 7165 Main Street
- Mackinac Island Airport 7700 Annex Road
- State Park British Landing Dock M185

Civic Organizations and Churches

Although private civic organizations on Mackinac Island are not affiliated with any governmental unit, they are listed in this Chapter because of the important services they provide to the community residents. Organizations currently active on Mackinac Island include:

- 4-H
- American Legion
- Condominium Associations
- Cottagers' Association
- Lions Club
- Little Traverse Conservancy
- Mackinac Arts Council
- Mackinac Associates
- Mackinac Connect
- Mackinac Horsemen's Association
- Mackinac Island Community Foundation
- Mackinac Island Recreation Development, Inc.
- Mackinac Island Ski Club
- Mackinac Island Tourism Bureau
- Mackinac Island Yacht Club
- Straits Pride
- Wawashkamo Golf Club
- Women in Hospitality Industry Leadership Alliance
Churches currently active on Mackinac Island include:

- Mackinac Island Bible Church
- Ste. Anne's Roman Catholic Church
- Trinity Episcopal Church
- Union Congregational (Little Stone) Church

Transportation

The transportation system is a key element of the community's infrastructure. As an island, transportation issues are different from mainland communities, and can be discussed in terms of the transportation access to the Island and on-island transportation.

The City of Mackinac Island has, by Charter authority, a 15-year Ferry Boat Franchise agreement (which started in 2012 and will end in 2027) with two private ferry lines to transport passengers to the Island from April 21st- October 31st of each year. These two ferry lines are the Mackinac Island Ferry Company and Shepler's Mackinac Island Ferry. For the winter months, November 1st- April 20th, one ferry line (Mackinac Island Ferry Company) has an exclusive contract with the City of Mackinac Island to provide service. Ferry service is provided from both Mackinaw City and St. Ignace in the summer months and from St. Ignace in the winter weather permitting. In June 2024, Hoffmann Family of Companies, the private company who owns Shepler's Mackinac Island Ferry, acquired the Mackinac Island Ferry Company, making it the owner of both ferry lines serving the Island. Freight service is provided by three companies. The Island ferry docks for each of the ferry and freight operators are located in the downtown and are close to each other causing increased congestion in these areas at peak times. Heavy freight and trucks land at the Mackinac Island State Park British Landing Dock.

Air service is available to the Island year-round, using the State Park airport located near the center of the Island.

Motor vehicles have been banned on the Island since before the turn of the 20th century. Due to the lack of cars and trucks, the transportation issues facing the Island are very different from other communities. Horse-drawn carriages, horse-drawn taxis, horseback, foot, and bike are the only means for the movement of people and goods. An exception is made for emergency vehicles, handicap mobility vehicles, and vehicles granted a special permit during limited times of the year. Class 1 electric bicycles are used by some residents with disabilities; use of these bikes requires a personal affidavit of mobility disability. Additionally, during the winter, snowmobiles are allowed by permit in the City streets of the Island and only on some of the roads in the State Park.

Although the Island is without automobile traffic, there are still traffic-related issues and concerns. The combination of various transportation modes and the significant influx of tourists to the Island on a daily basis, who are not familiar with horses, gives rise to transportation related issues and conflicts. One of the most significant traffic issues is the congestion in the downtown during peak times. Horses continue to be a significant part of the transportation history on Mackinac Island. According to Mackinac Island Carriage Tours, Inc. website, "Carriage men officially began providing tours of the Island in 1869 when the first city carriage license was issued. In 1948, the carriage men officially established the Mackinac Island Carriage Tours, Inc...Today, Mackinac Island Carriage Tours, Inc. is the world's largest, oldest, and continually operated horse and buggy livery, with approximately 100 freight and passenger carriages put in motion by over 400 horses."

During the summer, Mackinac Island is home to approximately 600 horses. Two-thirds of these are associated with the Mackinac Island Carriage Tours, providing sight-seeing tours, taxi service, deliveries, and shuttle services. The majority of the horses are taken off the Island in the fall to winter on the mainland, leaving a much smaller number of horses on the Island for winter use. However, winter horse use for taxis, tours, and freight is growing, along with the winter tourism business. The horses brought to the Island are specially trained for the unique situation of Island duty. Some residents also own horses for necessary transportation and riding enjoyment.

Although the Island is without automobile traffic, there are still traffic-related issues and concerns. The combination of various transportation modes and the significant influx of tourists to the Island on a daily basis, who are not familiar with horses, gives rise to transportation related issues and conflicts. One of the most significant traffic issues is the congestion in the downtown during peak times. Conflicts between foot, bike, and horse traffic are heightened in the commercial area when multiple ferries arrive and bring thousands of people into the downtown amidst carriages, bike rentals, and pedestrians. The lack of knowledge or understanding about Mackinac Island traffic contributes to the congestion and confusion in the downtown at peak times.

Road/Trail Maintenance

The local street system of any community is a vital part of the total transportation system. The transportation routes are comprised of a variety of roads and trails, as shown in **Figure 1-2**. The responsibility for road construction and maintenance is split between the City and the State Park, based on location. Roads which are located partially in the City and partially in the State Park are maintained accordingly. The perimeter road, Lake Shore Road (M-185) is a state trunkline maintained by the Michigan Department of Transportation (MDOT), and as such is eligible for state funding. The remainder of public roads and trails are maintained by the City and the State Park. **Figure 1-2** distinguishes the major and local City streets, as well as the improved and unimproved roads and trails within the State Park land.

Street maintenance issues are addressed by the entity with jurisdiction over that portion of the street. In summer, a crew of people continually making the rounds sweep and shovel manure off the streets in town, and in other areas of the island, a horse pulled mechanized street sweeper is used. Additionally, every night, selected major streets are washed. Sweeping and shoveling are sporadic on the rest of the Island. In winter, snow plowing of the streets is done by the State Park under an agreement with the City. The construction and repair of streets has a different meaning for this island community with very few motorized vehicles; the roads have an extended life expectancy due to the lower load level. However, the effects of horse shoes and narrow carriage wheels cause rutting and pitting not noted with motorized vehicle traffic. In addition, pavement markings do not last with repeated horse traffic.

Mackinac Island Transportation Authority

The Mackinac Island Transportation Authority (MITA) was created in 2019 by the City of Mackinac Island to provide funding and resources to help insure the safe, reliable and affordable year-round ferry transportation of passengers and goods to and from Mackinac Island, and to operate and maintain of the city-owned Coal Dock.

In December 2021, the MITA completed its first ever extensive Transportation Study and Master Plan for the water ferry system servicing Mackinac Island. This Plan reflects intensive community input on ferry service schedules, terminals, vessels, infrastructure and funding required to sustainably support not only peak season service, but also year-round passenger and freight services. The resulting Master Plan delivers a comprehensive vision for the future of the ferry transportation service in the Straits of Mackinac. Key needs and goals identified through community and stakeholder engagement included:

- Increase number and frequency of winter sailings, including Sunday service
- Increase winter service reliability, including ice and inclement weather capability
- Provide earlier and later sailing times throughout the year
- Improve aging vessel fleet, including winter service vessels
- Increase availability and reduce cost of long-term covered/indoor parking
- Reduce system capital and operating costs through realized efficiencies

Key recommendations of the Master Plan include:

- Expansion of ferry service year-round with earlier morning and later evening sailings
- Expansion of winter ferry service with additional Monday-Saturday daily sailings, and new Sunday sailings
- Modernization of the ferry fleet for increased capability, reliability, and environmental sustainability while reducing operating and maintenance costs
- Potential increase to system efficiency through combined passenger and freight service
- Realize ferry system cost efficiencies through ferry operator collaboration of schedules, staffing, fleet resources, purchasing, and other efficiencies
- Harness financial tools available through MITA governance and public/private partnerships for funding of system improvements and operating costs

Airport

The Mackinac Island Airport is owned and operated by the Mackinac Island State Park and features a paved and lighted 3,500' runway and terminal building. The airport is open year-round and serves as the Island's lifeline to the mainland, especially during the winter months when the ferries do not run.

The Michigan Zoning Enabling Act, Public Act 110 of 2006, includes language that requires the incorporation of an airport approach plan within a Master Plan when an airport is located in the community. This language

was enacted, in part, to ensure that land use policies do not endanger the State's mission to preserve a system of essential public facilities that provide access for all regions of the State to the nation's air transportation system.

The following excerpts are taken from Section 203 of the Michigan Zoning Enabling Act:

If a local unit of government adopts or revises a plan... after an airport layout plan or airport approach plan has been filed with the local unit of government, the local unit of government shall incorporate the airport layout plan or airport approach plan into the plan...

A zoning ordinance adopted after March 28, 2001 shall be adopted after reasonable consideration of both of the following:

- The environs of any airport within a district.
- Comments received at or before a public hearing under section 306 or transmitted under section 308 from the airport manager of any airport.

A zoning ordinance amendment adopted or variance granted after March 28, 2001 shall not increase any inconsistency that may exist between the zoning ordinance or structures or uses and any airport zoning regulations, airport layout plan, or airport approach plan.

The Aeronautic Code of the State of Michigan provides that the Michigan Aeronautics Commission may adopt an approach plan for each licensed airport which describes the airport protection area. Approach protection plans are intended to provide airport sponsors with standards which are reasonable and enforceable under local zoning ordinances. These plans should also provide airport sponsors with sufficient airspace protection according to local needs and conditions. The Airport Layout Plan for the Mackinac Island Airport is included in **Appendix C**.

Local and emergency air service is provided by Fresh Air Aviation, based at the Mackinac County Airport in St. Ignace. This service is available year round, but is especially important to Island residents during the winter months and in case of emergency.

Regional air service is available at Pellston Regional Airport in Emmet County (20 miles from Mackinaw City to Pellston), Alpena County Regional Airport in Alpena (95 miles from Mackinaw City to Alpena), and at Chippewa County Airport, located at Kinross (25 miles from St. Ignace to Kinross). Commercial air service at these facilities is provided by Delta, offering transportation between northern Michigan and Detroit Metro Airport, with regularly scheduled daily flights. United Parcel Service and Federal Express provide air freight service at these airports.

The Cherry Capital Airport in Traverse City (100 miles from Mackinaw City to Traverse City) has commercial passenger service provided by Delta to Detroit Metro Airport, and United and American to Chicago O'Hare Airport. Air freight service at Traverse City includes Federal Express and United Parcel Service.

Chapter 6: Community Goals and Policies

Draft Report – January 22, 2025

Before a community can actively plan for its future growth and development, it must first set certain goals and policies that define the boundaries of its needs and desires. This establishes a basis for the future land use and zoning plan formulation. These goals and policies must reflect the type of community that is desired and the kind of lifestyle its citizens wish to follow, given realistic economic and social constraints. In developing goals and policies, the Master Plan Steering Committee analyzed existing community characteristics, such as social and economic conditions, environmental resources, available services and facilities, and existing land use. In addition, public input and opinions were solicited during the process of developing goals and policies.

Public Input

During the planning process for this Master Plan update, several important engagement activities were employed to gain public input. These included:

- Town Meeting
- Business Stakeholders Virtual Focus Group
- Online Citizen Survey
- Online Student Survey

The results of these public outreach activities helped shape community goals and policies and are summarized below.

Town Meeting

On August 31, 2023, a Town Meeting was held at the Mackinac Island Community Hall in Mackinac Island. Approximately 50 citizens attended the meeting. The purpose of the workshop was to engage community members in the identification of needs and concerns and the establishment of goals and policies for future land use and development. The workshop began with a project overview and background information presentation focusing on the project impetus, requirements, and value. Next, attendees were asked to list Mackinac Island's top three strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats. In total, 43 questionnaires were collected.

Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, and Threats (SWOT) Questionnaire

The following paragraphs list each of the four subjects, followed by the most common topics participants mentioned regarding that subject. Each topic needed a minimum of 5 mentions on separate questionnaires to make the list. Topics are listed with one being the most common.

What are Mackinac Island's greatest strengths?

- 1. Beauty/natural features
- 2. Community involvement
- 3. History
- 4. Residents

What are Mackinac Island's greatest weaknesses?

- 1. Lack of affordable housing
- 2. Communication between the local government and residents
- 3. Boat lines/ferry services
- 4. Infrastructure
- 5. Increasing corporate presence

What are Mackinac Island's biggest opportunities?

- 1. Historic preservation
- 2. Limiting development
- 3. Increased housing
- 4. Acquiring new residents

What are Mackinac Island's most significant threats?

- 1. Excessive tourism/overcrowding
- 2. Overdevelopment
- 3. Pipelines (Line 5)
- 4. Corporate involvement
- 5. Lack of year round housing/unaffordable housing

Creative Solutions Group Exercise

For the second and final exercise, participants were asked to separate into small groups. From there, they were given a background on planning and development issues cited from a 2016 Mackinac Island community survey. Groups were advised to choose a facilitator, recorder, and spokesperson. Next, groups chose at least one topic outlined from the 2016 survey and had to work together to brainstorm potential solutions. After all topics and solutions were noted, the spokesperson shared the table's findings with all participants.

Some of the most common topics included environmental protection and growth management. Popular solutions regarding environmental protection were waste management and expanding the sewer system. Popular solutions regarding growth management included preemptive zoning changes and better communication between the local government and residents.

Business Stakeholders Virtual Focus Group

The City believes it is of great importance to gain input from the business community related to the Master Plan. Therefore, a focus group discussion was held to hear from key stakeholders in the business community. An invitation to participate was sent out to approximately two dozen stakeholders identified by the Master Plan Steering Committee. Those who were both willing and available to participate did so at a virtual meeting on Monday, October 30th at 3pm. The meeting featured a discussion about Mackinac Island's strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats (SWOT).

Strengths

Numerous strengths were identified, which have been generalized and listed below:

- Horse culture
- Historic character and building
- State Park ownership to manage growth and protect island character

Page - 62

- Unique destination unlike any other and the strength of the tourism industry
- Active non-profit community and community resources
- Excellent community services, including first responders
- Family owned and multi-generational businesses
- New investments and investors within the community
- Island location and the Great Lakes
- Strong representation in State government

<u>Weaknesses</u>

Numerous weaknesses were identified, which have been generalized and listed below:

- Challenge of attracting new talent and employees
- Economy heavily dependent on tourism
- Our economy is based on one industry. As the tourism industry does well, so do we, but if the tourism industry declines, so will we
- Housing affordability for existing housing, combined with the high cost of construction
- Lack of available land, specifically to accommodate new housing
- Lack of families on the island and lack of children in school
- Need for businesses which employ year-round employees
- Lack of broadband/fiber-optic
- Limited support services in certain areas, such as day care and physical fitness
- Reliability of ferry service during the Winter
- Need for and cost of infrastructure improvements

Opportunities

Numerous opportunities were identified, which have been generalized and listed below:

- Availability of State funding to improve the ferry service
- Island recognition and positive attention can be capitalized upon
- Strong market demand for housing and accommodations
- Recent improvement and growth of the arts council
- Potential opportunity for the construction of new docks

<u>Threats</u>

Numerous threats were identified, which have been generalized and listed below:

- Anything that would change the culture and character of the island
- Revising the ban on automobiles is a threat
- Competition from destinations such as Traverse City
- The temporary work visas/lotter system is a threat and challenge to bringing in needed employees
- Ability to grow is hampered by infrastructure limitations
- The threat of the Line 5 pipeline leaking.
- The cost of doing business on the Island is a threat

As a final wrap-up to the discussion, and to specifically inform the development of the new Master Plan, participants were asked what one or two topics the new Master Plan must address. The following answers were offered:

- The Master Plan must be supportive of major anchors such as the Grand Hotel, Fort Mackinac, Mission Point, Carriage Tours and the ferry lines to ensure they have the flexibility to thrive
- The Master Plan must address how to get more dignified housing for people on the other end of the spectrum (families, the service industry, etc.)
- We need to work with the State and the State Park to tackle the key issues noted such as infrastructure improvements, transportation, and affordable housing
- The City needs to support that growth through infrastructure improvements
- The issue of traffic flow and congestion needs to be addressed
- The Master Plan needs to strike an appropriate balance between historic preservation and economic development, resulting in a win-win for both (one should not come at the expense of the other)

Citizen Survey

An online survey was made available to the general public between July 31 and October 15, 2023. The survey was advertised on the City's website and social media outlets. Hard copies of the survey were also made available at City Hall during business hours. A total of 243 surveys were completed as of October 17, 2023. Citizen surveys help guide the planning process for the future.

Filters were applied to the survey results to evaluate differences in opinion between various segments of respondents. For the purposes of this analysis, the following six respondent segments were considered:

- 1. Younger and Family Formation Respondents (49 years or younger see Question #1 86 total)
- 2. Older Respondents (70 years or older see Question #1 39 total)
- 3. Year Round Residents (see Question #2 103 total)
- 4. Summer Residents (see Question #2 86 total)
- 5. Newer Residents (lived on Mackinac Island between 0 and 9 years see Question #3 68 total)
- 6. **Business Stakeholders** (work on the island, own/operate a business on the island, own commercial or industrial property on the island see Question #4 72 total)

The survey summary narrative below identifies instances where differences in the responses across the respondent segments were notable.

A public opinion survey was conducted in the Fall of 2016 during the development of the City's previous Master Plan. The 2016 survey was available only in paper format and was answered by 55 persons. The 2016 survey included some of the same questions which were asked as part of this online survey. Where appropriate, this summary compares responses from the 2016 survey with responses from this new survey.

<u>Age</u>

The age of survey respondents skewed toward an older demographic, with most participants between ages 50 to 69 (49%). The second most common age range was those 30 to 49 years (27%) followed by 70 years or over (16%). Participants under the age of 29 represented 9% of survey-takers.

Residence Status

42% of participants said they live on Mackinac Island full-time, 35% said they were summer residents, 10% said they were seasonal workers, and the remaining 13% identified either as island workers, frequent visitors, or other. There were some distinctions in the answers across the respondent segments, as follows:

- Among Younger and Family Formation Respondents, 50% identified as year-round residents
- Among Older Respondents, 69% identified as summer residents
- Among Newer Residents, 59% indicated that they were year-round residents

Residence Tenure

The majority (53%) of respondents have lived on Mackinac Island for more than 20 years. This was the most common answer among all respondent segments (excluding Newer Residents) except Younger Respondents, whose most common answer was 1 to 4 years (30%). The second highest response overall was those who have lived on the Island between 10 to 19 years (16%). 74% of Older Respondents said they've lived on the Island for 20 years or more.

Relation to Community

Respondents were asked to indicate their relationship to the community, with various answer options presented. Respondents were able to select multiple responses. The following answers were received (all respondents):

- 57% work on Mackinac Island
- 53% own residential property on the island
- 28% own or operate a business on the island
- 24% are retirees
- 17% rent residential property on the island
- 11% own commercial or industrial property on the island
- 3% selected none of the above
- 2% go to school on the island

There were some distinctions in the answers across the respondent segments, as follows:

- A larger percentage of Younger and Family Formation Respondents (82%) and Year Round Residents (76%) work on the island in comparison to the rate indicated by all survey respondents (57%)
- Newer Residents are much more likely to rent residential property (31%) in comparison to the rate indicated by all survey respondents (17%)
- Summer Residents (76%) and Older Respondents are much more likely to own residential property (69%) in comparison to the rate indicated by all survey respondents (53%)

Recent Changes

Survey participants were asked what they thought about the changes that have occurred on Mackinac Island over the past 5 years. This question required an open-ended response. Open-ended responses (from the 114 survey-takers who answered the question) commonly related to concerns that the Island is getting too commercialized and/or over-developed.

<u>Uniqueness</u>

Respondents were asked to indicate what they think makes Mackinac Island a unique experience. This question required an open-ended response. The most common answers (among the 134 survey-takers who answered this question) included natural beauty, lack of cars/horse culture, and history. Respondents were then asked what they believe other people would say when asked what makes the Island unique. Most answers (among the 128 who answered) were similar to the previous, although answers related to the slower pace of living and the Island's natural beauty were also common.

Preservation

When asked what elements of Mackinac Island's heritage are most important to preserve, the 5 most popular answers overall were:

- 1. Ban on motor vehicles (60%)
- 2. Historic buildings and architecture (45%)
- 3. Horse and buggy culture (43%)
- 4. Island history (39%)
- 5. Cultural and natural attractions (36%)

There was broad agreement across the respondent segments, as all six listed these same elements in their top 5 answers. The ban on motor vehicles was the top answer for all six respondent segments. The only distinctions were the varying order of these elements after ban on motor vehicles, as follows:

- Island history was third among Younger Respondents
- Horse and buggy culture was second among Older Respondents, Summer Residents, Newer Residents, and Business Stakeholders
- Cultural and natural attractions was fourth among Year Round Residents

Reasons to Reside, Work or Visit

Respondents were asked to list their top three reasons they love living in, working in or visiting Mackinac Island. The 3 most popular answers overall were:

- 1. Island character (74%)
- 2. Natural features (74%)
- 3. Friendly people (33%)

There was broad agreement across the respondent segments, as all six listed these same answers in their top 3, although Younger Respondents, Older Respondents, and Summer Residents listed natural features above island character.

On the opposite end, the following were the least commonly indicated answer choices for respondents overall:

- 1. Shopping (1%)
- 2. Schools (4%)
- 3. Neighborhoods (8%)

This same question was asked during the 2016 survey. Survey-takers at that time noted the same top two responses as were noted in 2023.

Congestion

Respondents were asked to indicate whether congestion on Mackinac Island is a concern. The majority (80%) of respondents indicated yes, while 14% indicated no and 6% were undecided. All six respondent segments agreed; however, there were some distinctions (varying by more or less than 5% from the overall yes response), as follows:

- 88% of Summer Residents said yes
- 72% of Business Stakeholders said yes
- 69% of Newer Residents said yes

Respondents were given the opportunity to expand on their answer by providing an open-ended response. The most common write-in answer related to concerns about too many bikers and unsafe bikers.

Cost of Living

Participants were asked if the cost of living and/or the cost of visiting the Island was a concern to them. Most (61%) of the respondents said that they were both were a concern, while 19% said that only cost of living was a concern, and 7% said that only cost of visiting was a concern. These answers were generally consistent across all six respondent segments, with the following distinctions:

- Although 65% of Business Stakeholders indicated that both were a concern, a larger percentage of Business Stakeholders (21%) said that neither are a concern in comparison to the overall respondents where only 11% said that neither are a concern
- A higher percentage of Newer Residents (37%) felt that only cost of living is a concern in comparison to the overall results (19%)

What Would You Change?

Participants were asked what one thing they would change about Mackinac Island. This question required an open-ended response. Some of the most common answers (from the 127 respondents who answered this question) included limiting development, too many tourists, lack of affordable housing, and issues with safety specifically related to the use of e-bikes.

Balancing Preservation and Development

Participants were asked how the City can balance preservation and development within the Island. This question required an open-ended response. Of the 116 respondents who answered this question, common answers centered around stopping or restricting development and preserving as much land as possible.

Focus Areas

Participants where given a listing of 10 common planning and development issues and were asked which issues should the new Master Plan focus on. The were allowed to select up to 3 issues. Overall, the five most common responses were:

- 1. Growth management (50%)
- 2. Housing affordability (42%)
- 3. Traffic and congestion (39%)
- 4. Environmental protection (35%)
- 5. Historic preservation (30%)

There was some noteworthy variation across the six respondent segments, as follows:

- Although #2 overall, housing affordability was the top choice for Younger Residents (64%), Year Round Residents (60%) and Newer Residents (67%). Growth management was the top choice for the remaining three respondent segments.
- The answers from the Younger Residents varied most significantly from the overall responses. Growth management was not in the top 5 responses from Younger Residents (growth management was their #7 response at 23%). The following were the top 5 responses of the Younger Residents:
 - Housing affordability (64%)
 - Transportation (40%)
 - Environmental protection (36%)
 - Employee housing (34%)
 - Traffic and congestion (30%)
- Public services and facilities was the #8 issue overall (22%), but was the third highest issue for Newer Residents (36%)
- Transportation was the #6 issue overall (26%), but was a top 5 issue for Younger Residents (40%), Year Round Residents (32%), Newer Residents (36%), and Business Stakeholders (37%)

The 2016 public survey asked this same question. At that time, survey-takers indicated historic preservation, environmental protection, and growth management as their top three issues that needed to be addressed.

Next, participants were asked how Mackinac Island can best address the key issues they identified. This question required an open-ended response. Of the 109 who answered this question, common responses included limiting development, improving boat service, providing more affordable housing mainly for employees, and seeking government funding for improvement projects.

Mackinac's Future

As the survey closed, respondents were asked if they had any other ideas for City leaders concerning the future of Mackinac Island. This question required an open-ended response. Of the 86 who answered, common responses included making more of an effort to involve young people, diversifying committee memberships, and hiring a city manager.

Student Survey

In 2023, a survey was conducted of the students at the Mackinac Island Public School. The survey was administered on September 25th during their social studies class. Six of the seven questions were open ended. A total of 17 surveys were completed. A brief summary is provided below.

Students were asked what they thought the Island's greatest feature or asset was; common answers included arch rock, trails, and fudge. When asked about important elements on the Island which should be preferred, students commonly indicated parks and historical sites. Students' top three reasons why they enjoy living on Mackinac Island were: location (47%), friendly people (35%), and other (29%). Common write-in answers for the "other" category included no cars and the ability to use snowmobiles. Many students indicated that more amenities and activities would make the City more exciting to visitors of all ages. Students were asked what one thing is they would change about Mackinac Island. A common answer was less tourists.

Foundational Planning Principles

Originally developed during the 2018 Master Planning process, a series of foundational planning principles were presented and reviewed. The initial planning principles were generally based on the 10 Principles of Smart Growth, as developed by the Smart Growth Network, and the 6 Livability Principles, as developed by the Partnership for Sustainable Communities. It has been decided that these principles remain relevant and appropriate. Broad and aspirational, these planning principles serve as the foundation for the Goals and Policies presented in this chapter and the Future Land Use planning proposals presented later in this report. A total of 11 principles have been established, which are listed on the next page.

City of Mackinac Island Master Plan Foundational Planning Principles

- 1. Foster a distinctive, attractive community with a strong sense of place. Embrace and uphold the Island's distinctive historical and cultural characteristics, such as its horse culture, which are cherished by citizens and visitors.
- 2. Promote equitable, affordable housing with a range of housing opportunities and choices.
- 3. Invest in healthy, safe, and walkable neighborhoods.
- 4. Allow for a planned mixture of land uses on the Island which are maintained in compatible relationships with each other.
- 5. Enhance and foster a strong economic base.
- 6. Provide a variety of transportation choices as part of a safe and reliable transportation network.
- 7. Take advantage of compact site design to preserve open spaces and natural features.
- 8. Protect open space, natural beauty and critical environmental areas.
- 9. Direct development toward areas where existing infrastructure is available.
- 10. Make development decisions predictable, fair and cost effective.
- 11. Encourage community and stakeholder collaboration in development decisions.





Goals and Policies Introduced

By combining and discussing the outcomes and comparisons of public engagement opportunities, the various planning research efforts, and the foundational planning principles, the Master Plan Steering Committee has established a series of goals and policies to guide the future of Mackinac Island. Organized by category, and listed in no particular order, the specific goals and policies are intended to be more detailed and work to implement the foundational planning principles.

Planning and Community Engagement

GOAL:

Proactively plan for the future of Mackinac Island and utilize all available tools and resources to implement the Master Plan, while coordinating with local and regional partners and encouraging community and stakeholder collaboration in development decisions.

- 1. Promote an open Island decision-making process and encourage ongoing active citizen involvement.
- 2. Encourage and provide diverse opportunities for the solicitation of community feedback related to City administration.
- 3. Utilize a proactive planning process as a check and balance on decision making. Review and update this Master Plan, when necessary, as required by Michigan Planning Enabling Act.
- 4. Review the Zoning Ordinance upon adoption of the Master Plan and amend as appropriate.
- 5. Establish, maintain, expand, and encourage discussions with State Park officials regarding proposed land acquisitions and/or easements and other aspects of the State Park operations.
- 6. Initiate and maintain proactive conversations with private property owners regarding preferred future land uses.
- 7. Research and utilize solid demographic data to inform local decision-making. Specifically, the City should establish a strategy to better track the number of seasonal residents and visitors to the Island.
- 8. Promote a healthy, balanced, year-round and seasonal economy for the benefit of Island residents and visitors, stressing support for local businesses and employees, in a manner that complements the historic character of Mackinac Island.
- 9. Consider and evaluate the creation of a City Manager staff position to effectively carry out the policies established by City Council and enhance overall City administration.

10. Explore and pursue alternative funding and revenue sources, such as state or federal grant programs, to support planning, historic preservation, environmental preservation, zoning, housing, and other community development related planning initiatives.

Community and Development Character

GOAL:

Protect and enhance Mackinac Island's exceptional character by: strengthening the historic downtown core, protecting the residential and historic character of the City's neighborhoods, and preserving the Island's natural beauty and environmentally sensitive areas.

- 1. Manage the design and location of residential, mixed-use and commercial development on the Island in a manner which:
 - Reinforces the traditional settlement pattern of the Island;
 - Protects important natural and cultural resources;
 - Preserves the character and integrity of downtown Mackinac Island and the Island's historic districts;
 - Creates opportunities for affordable housing; and,
 - Is able to be supported by available infrastructure systems and community services.
- 2. Protect community character by ensuring that new development and redevelopment projects fit their context especially as seen from public places such as roads and public waters.
- 3. Utilize innovative planning and zoning techniques, to allow for mixed land uses and increased employee housing and/or residential (year-round) apartments in the downtown.
- 4. Encourage planned land uses in coordination with public utility, facility, and service improvement programs.
- 5. Review existing zoning district regulations throughout the Island and consider revisions to ensure that the type, scale, height, orientation, density and overall character of development is appropriate given the physical capabilities and characteristics of the land, is compatible with the historical context of area, and is able to be supported by available infrastructure capacities.
- 6. Encourage the use of environmentally sound "green building" techniques and minimize the negative environmental impacts of building and human habitation.

7. Encourage actions to keep construction activity limited, especially during the peak season, to protect peace and quiet and overall quality of life on the Island. Continue to evaluate construction impacts as part of site plan review.

Historic Preservation

GOAL:

Preserve and protect the Island's historic landmark status and historically diverse culture and historic integrity for present and future generations.

- 1. Protect and preserve Island history, including historic sites, neighborhoods, buildings, structures, and scenic features.
- 2. Encourage creative historic design and planning techniques which produce visual harmony while preserving the significant natural and historic features of Mackinac Island.
- 3. Maintain the City's historic district designations and require adherence to historic preservation and design standards for development within the City's historic districts.
- 4. Consider new or expanded historic district designations, following recommendations of the City's Historic District Study Committee.
- 5. Review existing zoning regulations in historic districts/areas and consider revisions to ensure that new development and redevelopment conforms to historic patterns of development.
- 6. Continue to educate the public on historic districts, their value in protecting the historic landmark status of Mackinac Island, and the availability of programs that assist property owners in maintaining historic structures, including grants and tax deductions.
- 7. Encourage and assist property owners to undertake improvements to historic structures thorough incentives such as local grant programs and making greater use of state and federal historic tax credits.
- 8. Adopt land use policies and regulations that foster the Island's horse tradition.
- 9. Support and encourage the expansion of the Island's fishing industry. Specifically, the City should consider actions which lead to additional opportunities or facilities for seasonal mooring for Island residents.
- 10. Work with the State Park, conservation agencies, and private groups to preserve historically significant structures and buildings.

11. Work with entities such as the State Park and the DNR Waterways Commission to coordinate the compatible design of improvements within the public right-of-way and on City-owned property. Such improvements may include sidewalks, boardwalk, street lighting, street trees, trash receptacles, benches and wayfinding signs.

Housing

GOALS:

Support a broad range of housing options for all population segments and age groups, including year-round residents, families, resident workforce, seasonal residents, and employees.

Promote housing affordability to support a year-round community.

POLICIES:

- 1. Adopt policies and undertake actions in support of the recommendations of the City of Mackinac Island Housing Strategy.
- 2. Encourage the development of housing to meet the needs of all household types and income groups, with a specific focus and emphasis on providing affordable single-family housing and housing options for the elderly.

Affordable Housing Action Strategies:

- Provide incentives, especially in the downtown and Harrisonville districts, for the development of affordable/workforce housing for individuals and families.
- Consider allowances for higher density for projects that provide permanently affordable housing, if appropriate given the capacity of available infrastructure.
- Develop public/private partnerships to create new housing opportunities for individuals and families committed to year-round residency, dispersed throughout the Island.
- Evaluate the use of public land for new affordable housing.
- Plan and oversee creation of year-round resident rentals of quality housing for low income and workforce residents.
- 3. Review and consider zoning ordinance changes to ensure that ample opportunities and incentives are available to encourage affordable housing for existing and future residents; specific consideration should be given to allowing accessory dwelling units (ADUs) under certain conditions and where appropriately integrated within existing neighborhoods.
- 4. Increase the supply of housing for independent retirees, seniors, and others needing assisted living housing.

- 5. Protect the neighborhood feeling of residential areas, seeking to maintain their viability to support year-round residents. Discourage any plans or projects which would result in the loss of housing units for year-round residents.
- 6. Encourage the maintenance of the existing housing stock and residential neighborhoods in good repair, appearance, usefulness, and safety.
- 7. Identify appropriate development standards, regulations, and locations for employee housing.

Employee Housing Action Strategies:

- Work with businesses to develop a strategy for businesses to adequately house employees.
- Encourage new hotels to provide on-site housing for employees
- View the mainland communities of St. Ignace and Mackinaw City as acceptable locations for employee housing
- 8. Match allowable residential densities to the characteristics and available services of proposed sites, considering infrastructure needs such as roads, public water, utilities, and especially the capacity of the Island's public wastewater system.
- 9. Acknowledge and maintain the Island's unique summer cottage community.
- 10. Examine the impacts of the fractional home ownership model on existing neighborhood character and the supply of affordable year-round housing and consider enacting policies that will ensure the model supports the vision for Mackinac Island as established in this Master Plan.

Natural Environment, Public Lands, and Recreation

GOALS:

Preserve, protect, and maintain environmentally sensitive areas, open space, and public parks for the enjoyment of residents, tourists, and future generations.

Maintain and improve the recreational facilities and activities.

Restore the Island's native lands, waters and wildlife to functional and sustainable levels.

Establish and manage an Island-wide network of publicly and privately held open spaces, intended to protect critical land and water resources, habitats, and scenic vistas, while affording reasonable public access, consistent with a policy of wise stewardship.

POLICIES:

1. Preserve the unique beauty of Mackinac Island by protecting natural areas and landmarks, waterfront setting, and historic structures.

- 2. Identify, acquire, and protect desirable open space areas, scenic vistas, and environmentally sensitive lands.
- 3. Partner with State Park, conservation agencies, and private groups to preserve natural areas.
- 4. Encourage a land use pattern that is oriented to and respects the natural features and water resources of the area. Promote the protection of sensitive features including shoreline, wildlife habitat, wildlife corridors, wetlands, water quality, steep slopes, native plants, dark skies, and wooded areas.
- 5. Require an environmental impact review for proposed development during the site plan review or special use permit process.
- 6. Maintain the Island's adopted Recreation Master Plan and update at five-year intervals; dilligently pursue implementation of the plan's recommendations to improve and expand recreational opportunities for all ages.
- 7. Support cooperative recreational planning and development between the City, school, civic groups, and private entities.
- 8. Pursue outside funding sources, such as grants, for land acquisition and/or recreational development.
- 10. Discourage the planting of invasive species and continue efforts to reduce and eliminate invasive species.
- 11. Work to preserve existing and create new private and public greenspace and other public spaces that are attractive, well-maintained, and encourage social interaction.
- 12. Work to establish improved water access points to the Lake, such as a canoe/kayak launch, to encourage water recreation opportunities.
- 13. Review and adopt, as necessary, policies and land development codes that:
 - Minimize the impacts of runoff from new development proposals
 - Require adherence to standards which ensure that erosion and sedimentation, and other forms of contamination, are minimized.
 - Preserve dark skies through appropriate site lighting restrictions
 - Encourage stormwater management controls to improve drainage and reduce contaminants to public utility systems
- 14. Continue to maintain and work to improve the City's historic boardwalk.
- 15. Support state, regional and local efforts to decommission the aging Enbridge Line 5 pipeline, which runs through the Straits of Mackinac.

Transportation

GOAL:

Provide a transportation system that will move people and goods to, from, and around the Island in a way that is safe, convenient, economical, and sensitive to the character of the various areas of the Island.

- 1. Preserve and strengthen the ban on "horseless carriages" and promote the use of horses for recreation and transportation.
- 2. Evaluate and implement actions that **enhance safety and reduce conflicts** between different modes of transportation (i.e., horses, bikes, and pedestrians):
 - Encourage the efficient use and maintenance of existing roadways and infrastructure to support safe and convenient access for pedestrians, bicycles and horses/carriages.
 - Establish and implement policies to accommodate persons with disabilities.
 - Improve existing and establish additional crosswalks to facilitate safe pedestrian crossing of busy streets and intersections.
 - Review and consider modifications to improve consistency and effectiveness of existing safety signage.
 - Increase the presence of public safety officers to educate the public and enforce transportation safety policies.
 - Evaluate bicycle and pedestrian safety along Cadotte Avenue ("Grand Hill") and pursue needed improvements, potentially to include a sidewalk or other designated walking area.
- 3. Evaluate and implement actions to **reduce congestion** on the Island:
 - Continue to work with ferry services and other tourist agencies to provide improved visitor orientation and education about traffic safety rules and considerations.
 - Continue to coordinate with service companies to schedule deliveries, trash removal and similar activities during off-peak times to reduce congestion.
 - Investigate bicycle usage and trends, and consider equitable solutions to reducing bicycle congestion on the Island.
 - Review and consider modifications to improve consistency and effectiveness of existing wayfinding signage.
 - Increase the presence of public safety officers to educate the public and enforce congestion reduction policies.

- 4. Adopt policies and undertake actions in support of the Mackinac Island Transportation Master Plan and the Mackinac Island Transportation Authority's mission to help ensure the safe, reliable, accessible, and affordable year-round transportation of passengers and goods to and from Mackinac Island.
- 5. Continue to cooperate with ferry and air service providers to provide the most affordable and efficient service to and from the Island for residents and tourists alike.

Infrastructure and Public Services

GOALS:

Improve and maintain the transportation systems, community facilities, programs, and public utilities to accommodate the needs of residents and visitors.

Continuously monitor and ensure that the quantity of waste water generated does not exceed the capacity of the treatment plant and that the quality of effluent leaving the treatment plant meets all standards of the regulatory agencies.

- 1. Provide high-quality educational facilities adequate to meet present and future growth needs.
- 2. Recruit, train, and provide continuing support for Island volunteers who provide emergency services.
- 3. Continue to oversee an assessment, maintenance and improvement program for public water and sewer lines.
- 4. Encourage the placement of utilities underground and the improvement of utilities to coincide with development.
- 5. Provide additional public restrooms, bike parking areas, public seating, trash receptacles, and drinking fountains in the downtown area.
- 6. Maintain dedication to the advanced recycling and composting programs, water filtration, and wastewater treatment and continue public education programs regarding these existing programs and facilities.
- 7. Ensure that new development and redevelopment is adequately served by available and efficient water and wastewater treatment facilities and roads.
- 8. Investigate county and state requirements applicable to private wastewater treatment systems and consider whether local measures should be undertaken for the protection of community health and the natural environment.

- 9. Develop informational brochures and other media for property owners on the benefits of using pervious pavement for parking and driveways and redirecting storm water runoff into natural areas for infiltration into the ground.
- 10. Review land development regulations to ensure appropriate placement and screening of satellite dishes, antennas, mechanical, HVAC and similar equipment.
- 11. Review land development regulations to ensure that service entrances, commercial dumpsters, and mechanical/service equipment, are screened from the public right-of-way and, in downtown, are screened from public view.
- 12. Explore and pursue alternative funding and revenue sources, such as state or federal grant programs, to support infrastructure and public service improvements on the Island.
- 13. Encourage and incentivize improvements to cellular and internet services, particularly within underserved areas, which are supported by outside funding and are sensitive (in terms of design) to the historic and aesthetic character of the Island.

Chapter 7: Future Land Use

Introduction

The City of Mackinac Island is a unique Michigan island community, with limited land available for private development. The future land use plan specifies appropriate land use categories for all land located within the Charter boundaries of the City of Mackinac Island. Through careful land use planning and zoning techniques, the City of Mackinac Island wishes to ensure the protection and preservation of the historic and scenic features and unique neighborhoods of the island, while allowing for some additional development in select areas.

Future Land Use Classifications

The Mackinac Island Master Plan Steering Committee developed the following future land use recommendations. The future land use categories and locations are based on an analysis of several factors, including the pattern of existing land use, local social and economic characteristics, environmental conditions, and available community services and facilities, along with the community's expressed foundational planning principles, goals and policies.

The future land use plan proposes locations for nine primary land use classifications, as listed here in no particular order of importance, and described more fully below.

- Conservation/Park
- Recreation/Open Space
- Shoreline Residential
- Cottage Residential
- Mixed Residential
- Single Family Residential
- Hotel/Boardinghouse
- Market Street
- Commercial

Figure 7-1 illustrates the location and extent of the proposed future land use areas on Mackinac Island. The uses anticipated within each of these categories are discussed below.

Conservation/Park

The Conservation/Park category is the most extensive future land use category proposed for the City of Mackinac Island. It includes all of Round Island (not shown on Figure 7-1) and much of the State Park land on Mackinac Island. It also includes publicly or privately owned properties that are dedicated as permanent conservation/park use, including several lots within the Stonecliffe and Annex areas.



City of Mackinac Island | 2025 Master F

Future Land Use Categories:

Conservation/Park
 Recreation/Open Space
 Shoreline Residential
 Cottage Residential
 Mixed Residential



Hotel/Boardinghouse

Single Family Residential

Commercial

Base Layers:

- ---- State Highway
- Improved (Asphalt) Roads
- -- Unimproved (Gravel) Roads
- Property Lines

Water Bodies

January 2025



Activities proposed to be allowed in the Conservation/Park category include the fostering of wildlife habitat and environmental protection, parks and recreation facilities, cemeteries, and open space. These uses are consistent with the current State Park and Federal Wilderness designation of the properties. The Conservation/Park area is intended to be protected for current and future enjoyment by residents and visitors alike. Only very limited and low intensity development should be allowed to occur, consistent with the recreation and conservation goals.

It is recognized that some property within State Park lands on Mackinac Island is leased for other uses, including scattered residential development and public utilities. The airport, cemeteries and DPW facilities are also shown in this category. It is intended that such existing uses will continue to be accommodated within this planning category. Future development of State Park land for purposes other than conservation or recreation should be carefully examined on a case by case basis. Decisions for any development on State Park property are solely under the jurisdiction of the State. However, this Master Plan urges consultation, cooperation, and interaction between the State and City on planning and development issues on State Park land.

Recreation/Open Space

The Recreation/Open Space category includes both publicly and privately owned properties that are primarily used for active recreational or open space purposes. It is intended that these areas continue to serve as recreational and open space for more active and intense recreational uses. As shown on the Future Land Use Map, this category includes the Mackinac Island School property, Grand Hotel open space and golf courses, Wawashkamo Golf Course, Mackinac Community Equestrian Center, The Greens of Mackinac putting course, Marquette Park, Great Turtle Park, Mackinac Island State Harbor, and the lakeshore open space areas at Windermere Point and in front of Mission Point Hotel.

Shoreline Residential

For historic, environmental, and scenic reasons, exceptional care is needed in the review of any development to be located at or near the shoreline of the Island. It is recommended that a separate planning area be designated for all shoreline property located outside of the downtown area, generally lakeward of Lakeshore Road (in some cases, on both sides of Lakeshore Road). This designation also applies to the steep bluff slope below Stonecliffe, West Bluff and Hubbard's Annex.

Lands in this category may be privately or publicly owned. It is not the intent of this category to prohibit development – low density residential use may be allowed in a manner that protects and is compatible with the unique characteristics of the shoreline. In these designated shoreline areas, special setback, height, and landscape buffer standards are critical to retain scenic views, prevent erosion, and buffer any development from the road and shoreline.

Residential

Proposed residential land uses on Mackinac Island are presented in three sub-categories: Cottage Residential, Mixed Residential, and Single Family Residential. These planning areas are discussed in more detail below.

Cottage Residential

The Cottage Residential category is created to recognize and protect the distinct nature of the historic summer cottages located on the West Bluff, Hubbard's Annex extending to Stonecliffe, East Bluff, Marina District Downtown, and on a few privately held residential properties on the north side of the Island. Many of these cottages are eligible for the National Register of Historic Places and thus constitute an important architectural heritage. Any future development of the area is envisioned to be consistent with density levels and design standards of the existing Cottage Residential development. Low density is important to retaining the special character of the Cottage Residential area.

Mixed Residential

The Mixed Residential category is designed to accommodate both single family and multi-family residential uses, at higher densities than anticipated in the Single Family area. Neighborhoods included in the Mixed Residential future land use category include Harrisonville, the neighborhood around Ste. Anne's Catholic Church, and near the foot (south end) of Cadotte Avenue. Additionally, two small areas located inland from Windermere Point are designated for Mixed Residential use (see **Figure 7-1**).

The Mixed Residential area is anticipated to incorporate sites for employee housing and for multiple-family units. Ideally, such housing will be integrated in a non-conflicting manner with single family uses also included in this planning area. Reasonable restrictions or conditions may be needed to assure compatibility of single family, multi-family and employee housing uses, and the preservation of the character of the residential neighborhood. Depending on the situation, employee housing occurs in separate structures, or within units initially designed for single family use. The Mixed Residential area is where affordable, workforce housing can most appropriately be accommodated on the Island. It is also envisioned that churches and small-scale home occupations can be successfully integrated into the Mixed Residential neighborhoods.

Single Family Residential

The Single Family Residential use designation is intended to accommodate existing areas developed for residential use, at a relatively low density of approximately three units per acre. Due to the historic nature of Mackinac Island and the limited amount of private land available for development, some existing residential lots in the Single Family Residential planning areas may be platted at a higher density. These smaller existing lots are incorporated as compatible pre-existing uses. Areas designated for Single Family Residential uses are located in two small pockets near downtown on Mahoney Avenue, an area east of the marina on the lake side of Main Street, British Landing, and property within the more recent developments of Woodbluff, Stonecliffe, Stonecliffe Manors, Stonebrook and Forest Ridge (see **Figure 7-1**).

Hotel/Boardinghouse

The Hotel/Boardinghouse category recognizes the significance of Mackinac Island as a tourist resort destination. The area allows for a wide variety of different land use activities typically associated with and integrated into large resorts, including shops, restaurants, recreation facilities, and semi-public open space. This category is not intended to include all the neighborhood bed and breakfast facilities or hotels located within the downtown, but rather it is intended to demark Hotel/Boardinghouse uses and facilities which occupy large parcels or contiguous areas. Hotel/Boardinghouse areas in this category include Grand Hotel, Stonecliffe, Mission Point Resort, and a number of smaller establishments located along Main Street.

Market Street

Designated as an official historic district in 2013, many of the Island's most historically significant structures are clustered along Market Street (see historic site list and map in **Appendix C**). However, the name "Market Street" itself suggests the street's beginnings as an historic commercial center. While the City wishes to preserve the historic value of structures and sites along Market Street, continuing commercial use there is seen as a vibrant part of the preservation effort. For this reason, small-scale commercial uses are anticipated to remain in the Market Street Historic planning area alongside traditional residential, civic and institutional uses. City Hall is located at the heart of this planning area, and is in itself an admirable example of adaptive re-use of a historic structure. Reasonable restrictions on all uses in the district are desired, to ensure preservation of the area's unique and important cultural and architectural legacy. Such restrictions could include limitations on demolition or structural alterations, standards for repairs or maintenance which are sensitive to historic values, and/or special development review processes focused on historic preservation. Density or height limitations may also be appropriate in certain circumstances, to retain the scenic and historic characteristics of the area.

Commercial

The core of the area designated for Commercial use is located along Main Street, between Windermere Point and Marquette Park. This area not only accommodates the commercial needs of year-round residents, but also serves as the center for most of the Island's tourism activity. The Commercial area includes a variety of retail commercial uses, gift shops, lodging facilities, and restaurants. Transportation-related services, such as carriage and bicycle tour facilities, are appropriate within the Commercial classification, as are civic, office, and institutional uses, such as public restrooms and the island information booth. The ferry docks, another key Island land use, are located in this area and add to the commercial activity level downtown.

A number of residential uses exist downtown in the Commercial area. It is intended that these downtown and above-the-store residential uses will remain. Further, above-the-store residential uses may be added in the future, consistent with the character of the downtown. This type of housing is preferred and encouraged for those employed in the downtown area.

Chapter 8: Zoning Plan, Implementation and Adoption

Introduction

The overall intent of this Master Plan is to identify and develop the most appropriate land use strategies for meeting City needs in a manner which supports the health, safety, and welfare of the current and future residents. These strategies are embodied within this Plan both graphically and in text. However, without the implementation of these strategies, this Master Plan becomes nothing more than a document upon a shelf. A Master Plan is a statement of policy and is ineffective unless acted upon. There are a number of avenues that the City of Mackinac Island can follow to implement this land use plan.

Before implementation can occur, it is critical that the appropriate City governmental bodies recognize and support this Master Plan. Once the Plan is adopted, it is considered official and should be used by the Planning Commission, Historic District Commission, City Council and other City bodies as a guide for future planning and resolving conflicts. Implementation of the Plan may be realized by actively:

- Regulating the use and manner of development of property through up to date reasonable zoning controls, subdivision regulations, and building and housing codes
- Assuring community wide knowledge, understanding, support, and approval of the Plan
- Providing a program of capital improvements and adequate, economical public services by using available governmental financing techniques to encourage desired land development or redevelopment
- Reviewing the plan periodically (at least every five years) to evaluate its consistency with changing trends and citizen desires

This Chapter discusses further the strategies for implementing the goals, objectives and land use recommendations of this Master Plan.

Zoning Plan

Zoning regulations are adopted under the local police power granted by the State for the purpose of promoting community health, safety, and general welfare. Such regulations have been strongly supported by the Michigan courts, as well as by the U.S. Supreme Court. Zoning consists of dividing the community into districts, for the purpose of establishing population density and regulating the use of land and buildings, their height and bulk, and the proportion of a lot that may be occupied by them. The regulations with each zoning district are unique; however, regulations within the same district must be consistently applied throughout the community for that particular district.

The intent of zoning is to assure the orderly development of the community. Zoning is also employed as a means of protecting property values and other public and private investments. Because of the impact that zoning can have on the use of land and related services, it should be based on a comprehensive long-range community plan.

Zoning is an effective tool not only for the implementation of the Plan, but also benefits individual property owners. It protects homes and investments against the potential harmful intrusion of business and industry into residential neighborhoods; requires the spacing of buildings far enough apart to assure adequate light and air; prevents the overcrowding of land; facilitates the economical provision of essential public facilities; and aids in conservation of essential natural resources.

The City of Mackinac Island Zoning Ordinance, Ord. No. 479, as amended, is a regulatory tool that guides land use and development within the City. As stipulated by the Michigan Zoning Enabling Act, Public Act 110 of 2006, as amended, the Zoning Ordinance must be based upon a Master Plan. Therefore, this Master Plan, by setting forth the long-term vision of the City of Mackinac Island, provides the basis for the City Zoning Ordinance, which contains the rules that govern the path to that vision.

As required by the Michigan Planning Enabling Act, the following is an explanation of the relationship between the future land use classifications presented in this Master Plan and the zoning districts established in the City Zoning Ordinance. Potential revisions to the Zoning Ordinance and Zoning Map, based on the recommendations of this Master Plan, are also outlined.

Existing Zoning Districts

The City Zoning Ordinance and its official Zoning Map have established a total of 11 zoning districts, as follows. Taken from the Zoning Ordinance, the intent statement for each zoning district is also provided.

- **R-1, Low Density Residential.** To establish and preserve quiet, low density residential neighborhoods, safe and free from congestion by pedestrians, bicycles and horses, and free from other uses except those which are both compatible with and convenient to the residents of such a district.
- **R-3, High Density Residential.** To establish and preserve quiet neighborhoods of single- and multiple-family homes, free from other uses except those which are both compatible with and convenient to the residents of such a district, and to provide adequate housing opportunities for permanent and seasonal residents.
- **R-4, Harrisonville Residential.** To establish and preserve a quiet neighborhood of primarily singleand two-family homes within the area of the Island commonly known as Harrisonville, free from other uses except those which are both compatible with and convenient to the residents of Harrisonville, and to provide adequate housing opportunities for permanent and seasonal residents.
- **HB, Hotel Boardinghouse.** To establish areas for the housing of seasonal employees and visitors and for the provision of adequate overnight accommodations for tourists, free from other uses except those which are compatible with and convenient to the residents of such district.
- **C, Commercial.** To establish and preserve a cohesive business district suited to the needs of travelers, tourists, vacationers, and seasonal and permanent residents.



- **MD**, **Market**. To establish and preserve a district (formerly called the Historic District) containing several historically significant structures and other buildings primarily fronting Market Street, which together form a neighborhood with unique historic character.
- **CD**, **Cottage**. To establish and preserve areas of large residential estates characterized by unique Victorian or other style architecture, large landscaped yards, and quiet low density residential use.
- **ROS, Recreation/Open Space.** To establish and preserve public and private areas for outdoor recreation and open space purposes, to provide recreation opportunities for residents and visitors, and to preserve scenic views to Lake Huron which serve to enhance the historic and natural character of the island.
- **RS, Shoreline Residential.** To establish a district which allows for low density residential use in a manner which protects, and is compatible with, the unique characteristics of the Lake Huron shoreline.
- **M, Marine.** To establish a zoning district for the historic harbor area of Mackinac Island encompassing the entire area between the east and west breakwaters lakeward from the ordinary highwater mark. To regulate the necessary uses thereof with recognition of historical uses and further recognizing that this harbor provides the transportation link for most goods and passengers being transported to and from Mackinac Island.
- L, Lake. To establish a zoning district to regulate uses and structures in the water area surrounding Mackinac Island which are outside the historic harbor area ("Marine District"), said water area to be considered those areas lakeward from the ordinary high-water mark, recognizing the historical uses, the need for open viewing areas and scenic atmosphere of Mackinac Island.

Relationship between the Future Land Use Classifications and Zoning Districts

This Master Plan has established a total of nine future land use classifications, as listed below (each classification is described in detail in Chapter 7):

- Conservation/Park
- Recreation/Open Space
- Shoreline Residential
- Cottage Residential
- Mixed Residential
- Single Family Residential
- Hotel/Boardinghouse
- Market Street
- Commercial

Table 8-1 summarizes how the future land use classifications in this Master Plan relate to, or can generally be accomplished by, the various zoning districts from the City Zoning Ordinance.

Table 8-1 Future Land Use and Zoning District Relationship Summary		
Future Land Use Classification	Primary Zoning District(s) which accomplishes the recommendations of the Future Land Use Classification	Other Zoning District(s) which may accomplish the recommendations of the Future Land Use Classification
Conservation/Park	R-1, Low Density Residential	ROS, Recreation/Open Space
Recreation/Open Space	ROS, Recreation/Open Space	R-1, Low Density Residential
Shoreline Residential	RS, Shoreline Residential	L, Lake - for areas lakeward from the ordinary high-water mark
Cottage Residential	CD, Cottage	
Mixed Residential	R-3, High Density Residential R-4, Harrisonville Residential	-
Single Family Residential	R-1, Low Density Residential	
Hotel/Boardinghouse	HB, Hotel/Boardinghouse	
Market Street	MD, Market	
Commercial	C, Commercial	M, Marine - for areas lakeward from the ordinary high-water mark

Potential Zoning Ordinance and Map Changes

To effectively implement the recommendations contained within this Master Plan, various changes to the City Zoning Ordinance and Zoning Map are likely necessary. Therefore, it is recommended that the City initiate a review of the zoning ordinance after the adoption of this Master Plan. Related to the currently adopted Zoning Map, the City should consider the following changes:

- 1. A reduction in the amount of land zoned HB, Hotel/Boardinghouse within the Stonecliffe area, consistent with the limits of the Hotel/Boardinghouse future land use classification.
- 2. An expansion of the RS, Shoreline Residential zoning district to encompass lands in the Windermere Point area.

Numerous specific policies have been outlined in Chapter 6 of this Master Plan which are related to, or could be accomplished through changes to the City's Zoning Ordinance. A listing of these policies is provided below. The City should review the currently adopted Zoning Ordinance and consider whether changes are necessary and appropriate at this time to implement such policies.

- 1. Review the Zoning Ordinance upon adoption of the Master Plan and amend as appropriate. (*Planning and Community Engagement Policy #4*)
- 2. Utilize innovative planning and zoning techniques, to allow for mixed land uses and increased employee housing and/or residential (year-round) apartments in the downtown. *(Community and Development Character Policy #3)*
- 3. Review existing zoning district regulations throughout the Island and consider revisions to ensure that the type, scale, height, orientation, density and overall character of development is appropriate given the physical capabilities and characteristics of the land, is compatible with the historical context of area, and is able to be supported by available infrastructure capacities. (*Community and Development Character Policy #5*)
- 4. Maintain the City's historic district designations and require adherence to historic preservation and design standards for development within the City's historic districts. (*Historic Preservation Policy #3*)
- 5. Review existing zoning regulations in historic districts/areas and consider revisions to ensure that new development and redevelopment conforms to historic patterns of development. (*Historic Preservation Policy #5*)
- 6. Adopt policies and undertake actions in support of the recommendations of the City of Mackinac Island Housing Strategy. (*Housing Policy #1*)
- 7. Consider allowances for higher density for projects that provide permanently affordable/workforce housing, if appropriate given the capacity of available infrastructure. (*Housing Policy #2*)
- 8. Review and consider zoning ordinance changes to ensure that ample opportunities and incentives are available to encourage affordable housing for existing and future residents; specific consideration should be given to allowing accessory dwelling units (ADUs) under certain conditions and where appropriately integrated within existing neighborhoods. (*Housing Policy #3*)
- Review and revise the zoning ordinance, as necessary, to allow and ultimately increase the supply of housing for independent retirees, seniors, and others needing assisted living housing. (*Housing Policy* #4)
- 10. Examine the impacts of the fractional home ownership model on existing neighborhood character and the supply of affordable year-round housing and consider enacting policies that will ensure the model supports the vision for Mackinac Island as established in this Master Plan. (*Housing Policy #10*)
- 11. Require an environmental impact review for proposed development during the site plan review or special use permit process. (*Natural Environment, Public Lands and Recreation Policy #5*)
- 12. Review and adopt, as necessary, land development codes that:
 - Minimize the impacts of runoff from new development proposals
 - Require adherence to standards which ensure that erosion and sedimentation, and other forms of contamination, are minimized.

- Preserve dark skies through appropriate site lighting restrictions
- Encourage stormwater management controls to improve drainage and reduce contaminants to public utility systems

(Natural Environment, Public Lands and Recreation Policy #13)

- 13. Review land development regulations to ensure appropriate placement and screening of satellite dishes, antennas, mechanical, HVAC and similar equipment. (*Infrastructure and Public Services Policy* #11)
- 14. Review land development regulations to ensure that service entrances, commercial dumpsters, and mechanical/service equipment, are screened from the public right-of-way and, in downtown, are screened from public view. (*Infrastructure and Public Services Policy #12*)

Grants and Capital Improvements Investments

A master plan can also be used as a guide for future public investment and service decisions, such as the local budget, grant applications, and administration of utilities and services. Many communities find it beneficial to prioritize and budget for capital improvements projects (such as building expansions, infrastructure improvements, major equipment purchases, park improvements, etc.). A Capital Improvements Program (CIP) is one tool which is often used to establish a prioritized schedule for all anticipated capital improvement projects in the community. A CIP includes cost estimates and sources for financing for each project. Therefore, it can serve as both a budgetary and policy document to aid in the implementation of a community's goals defined in the master plan.

Recreation Planning

A recreation plan is one way to implement important recreation related goals defined in the master plan. By developing a recreation plan consistent with Michigan Department of Natural Resources requirements, a community is eligible for certain MDNR recreation grants. It is recommended the community maintain a recreation plan and keep it updated at five-year intervals, as required by the agency.

5-Year Master Plan Review

The Mackinac Island Master Plan is a flexible document that should be updated periodically to address major changes in the community, such as the addition/loss of a major employer or changing citizen attitudes relating to a controversial issue. At least every five years after the adoption of a Master Plan, the Planning Enabling Act requires that a Planning Commission "review the Master Plan and determine whether to commence the procedure to amend the Master Plan or adopt a new Master Plan." The findings of the review must be recorded in the minutes of the relevant meeting or meetings of the Planning Commission.

Implementation Matrix

In order for the Master Plan to be implemented, the city and community partners must carry out the actions needed to achieve the goals and the community's vision for Mackinac Island's future. To aide the city in implementation of the plan's recommendations, an Implementation Matrix has been prepared (**Tables 8-2 through 8-8**). The Implementation Matrix is organized around the six major themes established in the Goals and Policies section of the Master Plan. These six themes are as follows:

1. Planning and Community Engagement

- 2. Community and Development Character
- 3. Historic Preservation
- 4. Housing
- 5. Natural Environment, Public Lands, and Recreation
- 6. Transportation
- 7. Infrastructure and Public Services

Under each theme, various "actions" are presented. Each action includes a time frame in which the action should be carried out and the task leader(s) most likely to carry out the action. The task leader listed first should be the primary lead on the action item; others listed are recommended collaborators.

Timeframe Key

Now - Begin work immediately upon plan adoption

Near – Begin work within 1 to 2 years. Inform the task leader(s) and initiate a committee if necessary. The committee should meet at least (1) time per year starting now until the time of implementation to ensure any further work and study on the action is completed and implementation begins on time.

Next – Begin work within 3 to 5 years. The Planning Commission should monitor the progress of the near-term action items and be ready to continue progress with these next action items.

Ongoing – Actions that require continuous monitoring or effort.

Responsibility Key		
BC – Business Community		
CA – City Administration/Staff		
CC – City Council		
HDC – Historic District Commission		
PC – Planning Commission		
RD – Recreation Department		

Funding KeyPUB – Includes public funds from the city general operating budget.Public funds may also include local government bonds.PVT – Includes funds from private sources, such as foundations,
corporations, or personal property owners.OUT – Includes funds from sources generally outside of the city, such
as county, state and federal funds through grants and loan programs
and other allocations.
Table 8-2 Implementation Matrix: Planning and Community Engagement				
Action	Timeframe	Responsibility	Funding	
Regularly review and update this Master Plan	Ongoing	PC	PUB	
Review the Zoning Ordinance upon adoption of the Master Plan and undertake amendments as appropriate. (Refer to the Potential Zoning Ordinance and Map Changes section on pages 88-90 of this Master Plan.)	Now	PC, CC, CA	PUB, OUT	
Establish a strategy to better track the number of seasonal residents and visitors to the island	Near	PC, CA, BC	PUB	
Consider and evaluate the creation of a City Manager, grantwriter, and/or other staff positions necessary to support City administration and initiatives	Near	CC, CA	PUB	
Develop a formal Public Participation Strategy which outlines how the public will be engaged throughout the planning, zoning and development process	Next	CC, CA	PUB	

Table 8-3								
1			~	• /	1.5	1		

Implementation Matrix:	Community	and Developmen	t Character

Action	Timeframe	Responsibility	Funding
Use the Goals and Policies of this Master Plan as a guide when reviewing proposals for new development and redevelopment	Ongoing	PC, CC, CA	PUB
on the island	Oligoling	FC, CC, CA	FOD
Engage with the State Park and the DNR Waterways			
Commission to make sure they are aware of the need for	Now	HDC, CC, CA,	PUB
coordination with the City to ensure their capital improvement	11011	PC	100
projects on the Island are appropriately designed			
Review the Zoning Ordinance and consider if any changes to			
the MD Market District are necessary to ensure that the	Near	PC, CC, CA	PUB
character of Market Street is protected in line with the intent of	iveai	10,00,01	100
the Market Street future land use classification			
Investigate the feasibility and potential of a property transfer		CC, CA, PC,	
tax to be used for preservation, housing, infrastructure, and/or	Near	HDC, BC	PUB
other similar community improvement initiatives.		1100,00	

Table 8-4 Implementation Matrix: Historic Preservation				
Action	Timeframe	Responsibility	Funding	
Identify and advertise on the city website available incentives for private property owners to undertake improvements to historic properties	Now	HDC, CA, PC	PUB	
Consider establishing site and architectural design guidelines for new development and redevelopment outside of the Historic Districts	Now	PC, CA	PUB, OUT	
Review and revise, as necessary, the city's historic district design guidelines to ensure that new development and redevelopment conforms to historic patterns of development and the Secretary of Interior's Standards for Historic Preservation	Near	HDC, CA, PC	PUB	
Develop and execute a public education campaign relative to the importance of historic districts, historic district design guidelines, and the availability of programs that assist property owners in maintaining historic structures, including grants and tax deductions	Next	HDC, CA, PC	PUB, PVT, OUT	

Table 8-5 Implementation Matrix: Housing					
Action	Timeframe	Responsibility	Funding		
Led by the City's Housing Committee and supported by the Mackinac Island Community Foundation, evaluate and adopt policies and undertake other actions in support of the recommendations of the City of Mackinac Island Housing Strategy	Ongoing	CC, PC, CA	PUB, PVT		
Review the Zoning Ordinance and undertake amendments, as necessary, to address housing in line with the recommendations of the City of Mackinac Island Housing Strategy and this Master Plan.	Now	PC, CC, CA	PUB, OUT		

Table 8-6 Implementation Matrix: Natural Environment, Public Lands, and Recreation				
Action	Timeframe	Responsibility	Funding	
Regularly review and update the island's Recreation Master Plan	Ongoing	RD, CC, CA	PUB	
In line with the city's Recreation Master Plan, seek outside funding and undertake needed parks and recreation facility improvements	Ongoing	RD, CC, CA	PUB, OUT	
In line with this Master Plan, seek outside funding and undertake needed environmental conservation and protection efforts, including efforts to reduce and eliminate invasive species	Ongoing	RD, CC, PC, CA	PUB, OUT, PVT	
Identify best practices for building design, sustainable site design, and stormwater management, and consider actions and policies, including possible zoning changes, that encourage or require their use as part of new development and redevelopment projects	Next	CC, PC, CA, BC	PUB, PVT	

Table 8-7	l

Implementation Matrix: Transportation				
Action	Timeframe	Responsibility	Funding	
Identify and seek outside funding in support of traffic safety, congestion, and non-motorized improvements	Ongoing	CC, PC, CA	PUB, OUT	
Evaluate and adopt policies and undertake other actions in support of the recommendations of the Mackinac Island Transportation Master Plan	Now	CC, PC, CA	PUB, PVT	
Negotiate an appropriate and beneficial fee structure policy for ferry providers, which results in affordable rates and fees and functional schedules for residents and visitors. Engage the State of Michigan in these discussions to ensure public access to and use of State lands.	Now	CC, CA, BC	PUB, OUT	
Establish a traffic safety and congestion task force to carry forward actions as recommended in this Master Plan	Near	CC, PC, BC, CA	PUB, PVT	
Review and consider modifications to improve consistency and effectiveness of existing safety and wayfinding signage.	Next	CC, CA, BC	PUB	

Table 8-8 Implementation Matrix: Infrastructure and Public Services					
Action	Timeframe	Responsibility	Funding		
Prepare and annually update a Capital Improvements Plan as a guide for major infrastructure and public service improvements	Ongoing	CC, PC, CA	PUB		
Identify and seek outside funding in support of public infrastructure and services improvements	Ongoing	CC, PC, CA	PUB, OUT		
Hold an annual joint meeting with City Council, Planning Commission, Historic District Commission and similar bodies to ensure coordination and collaboration on city initiatives	Now	CC, PC, CA	PUB		

Appendices

Draft Report – January 22, 2025

City of Mackinac Island 2025 Master Plan

- Appendix A: Historic, Geologic and Scenic Sites
- Appendix B: Natural Resources (Mackinac Island State Parks Checklists)
- Appendix C: Mackinac Island Airport Layout Plan

RESOLUTION OF ADOPTION CITY OF MACKINAC ISLAND MASTER PLAN

The following Resolution was offered by Commissioner ______ and seconded by Commissioner ______:

WHEREAS, the City of Mackinac Island, Mackinac County, Michigan established a Planning Commission under State of Michigan Public Act 33 of 2008, as amended (Michigan Planning Enabling Act); and,

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission is required by Section 31 of the Act to make and adopt a basic plan as a guide for the development of the City; and,

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission has worked with the consultants at Wade Trim to oversee a planning process that included opportunities for public input as well as investigations and surveys of existing resources; and,

WHEREAS, a draft plan was prepared by the Planning Commission and presented to the City Council in accordance with Section 41, (1) of Public Act 33, and the City Council approved the distribution of the draft plan for review and comment pursuant to Section 41, (2) of said Act; and,

WHEREAS, after expiration of a 63-day review and comment period, the Planning Commission did give notice of a public hearing on the draft plan in accordance with Section 43, (1) of Public Act 33, with such public hearing being held on February 11, 2025;

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT, the contents of the draft plan, dated January 20, 2025, with revisions as discussed during the February 11, 2025 Planning Commission meeting, is hereby adopted by the City of Mackinac Island Planning Commission in accordance with Section 43, (2) of Public Act 33 by not less than a majority of its membership.

AYES:

NAYS:

ABSENT:

I, ______, Secretary of the Mackinac Island Planning Commission, do hereby certify the foregoing to be a true and correct copy of a resolution that was adopted by the Planning Commission at their regular meeting held on February 11, 2025.

Signature

Section IX, Itema.

Katie Pereny

From: Sent: To: Cc: Subject: Megan Hornbogen <mhornbogen@bjparchitects.com> Friday, January 24, 2025 10:19 AM Katie Pereny Barry Polzin Mackinac Market- Amended Submittal



Katie,

We are submitting amended drawings for Mackinac Market to address a few items that we discovered upon starting construction the existing porch/canopy framing was in better condition than expected and we have revised the drawings to keep the existing roof framing and just replace the roof, railing, and trim. We had hoped to eliminate the center column in front the of existing doors, but it is not feasible given the existing structure uncovered upon demolition. The existing center column is shown back in elevation and plan, we propose to add column surround to match the columns at the curb. We also have added the replacement of the second story street façade windows with a more appropriate shaped and proportioned unit.

The balance of the previously approved work remains unchanged.

Thanks, Megan Hornbogen, AIA, NCARB

mhornbogen@bjparchitects.com

BARRY J POLZIN ARCHITECTS, INC 101 N. Lakeshore Blvd. Marquette, MI 49855 O 906-226-8661 C 906-360-8522

lie No.	C24.057.055(H)
Exhibit_	,
Date	1.24.25
nitials_	KP



MACKINAC MARKE 7377 MAIN ST. MACKINAC ISLAND, MICHIGAN AUGUST 26, 2024



REVISED 1/17/25



Section IX, Itemb.

Dorther	E E E E E	BUILDING DEPARING CONING ACTION 90 PO Box 455 M Please complete both The Fee and five (5) of and all required docu the Zoning Administr	JAN 2 8 2025 Ackinac Island, MI 49757 h sides of application. copies of the application, plans ments must be submitted to rator fourteen (14) days prior to ng Commission Meeting.			
	wner & Mailing Address (If Different From Applicant)					
Josh						
	Ben C Prost/6mile Cypress PKWy					
	1CB, FL 33966					
Is The Pro	posed Project Part of a Condominium Associatio	n?	NO			
Is The Pro	posed Project Within a Historic Preservation Dist	rict?	Yes			
Applicant	's Interest in the Project (If not the Fee-Simple O	wner):				
Is the Proj	posed Structure Within Any Area That The FAA R	egulates Airspace?	NA			
	nce Required?		NO			
Are REU's	Required? How Many?		do /			
Sta Spe Pla	ecial Land Use Inned Unit Development	Appeal of Planning Co Ordinance Amendme Ordinance Interpreta	nt/Rezoning			
Uti	her		Photon			
Decements		rie No.	R125.076.003(4)			
and the second	nformation:	Exhibit_	G			
A. Pro B. Leg	operty Number (From Tax Statement):	Date	1			
C. Add	al Description of Property: Single Family Ha		10000			
	dress of Property: 7778 Mahoney	AVE Initials	KU			
	ning District: West End					
F. Site	Plan Checklist Completed & Attached: Yes					
G. Ske	Plan Attached: (Comply With Section 20.04 of the Zoning Ordina	nce)				
	tch Plan Attached: Yes					
	hitectural Plan Attached: <u>Yes</u>					
I. Asso J. FAA	ociation Documents Attached (Approval of project	ct, etc.): <u>1/14</u>				
	FAA Approval Documents Attached: <u>N/A</u>					
K. Pho	tographs of Existing and Adjacent Structures Atta	ached: <u>yes</u>				
Droport	an abuvation (1)	2				
_	Construction/Use:					
A. Prop	posed Construction: /					

New Building

____Other, Specify__

_____Alteration/Addition to Existing Building

B. Use of Existing and Proposed Structures and Land:

Existing Use (If Non-conforming, explain nature of use and non-conformity):

	Proposed Use:			
	• 10			
C.	If Vacant:			
	Previous Use:			
	Proposed Use:			
STAT	TE OF MICHIGAN)		
COUNTY OF MACKINAC) ss.		

AFFIDAVIT

The applicant agrees that the permit applied for, if granted, is issued on the representation made herein and that the permit issued may be revoked without further notice on any breach of representation or conditions.

The applicant further understands that any permit issued on this application will not grant any right of privilege to erect any structure or to use any premises described for any purposes or in any manner prohibited by the Zoning Ordinance, or by other codes or ordinances or regulations of the City of Mackinac Island.

The Applicant further agrees to furnish evidence of the following before a permit will be granted:

- A. Proof of ownership of the property; and/or other evidence establishing legal status to use the land in the manner indicated on the application.
- B. Proof that all required federal, state, county, and city licenses or permits have been either applied for or acquired.
- C. Other information with respect to the proposed structure, use, lot and adjoining property as may be required by the Zoning Administrator in accord with provisions of the Mackinac Island Zoning Ordinance.

The Applicant further agrees to notify the Zoning Administrator when construction reaches the stage of inspection stated on the permit, if granted. Upon completion of construction to the structure(s) or land the Zoning Administrator shall inspect the premises for compliance with the Mackinac Island Zoning Ordinance and the terms of this permit. Upon determination of compliance, an occupancy permit may be issued. It is further understood that pursuant to the City of Mackinac Island Zoning Ordinance, No. 479 and amendments, adopted November 2013, unless a substantial start on the construction is made within one year, unless construction is completed within one and one-half years from the date of issuance of the permit, this permit shall come under review by the Planning Commission and may either be extended or revoked.

The undersigned affirms that he/she or they is (are) the applicant and the <u>Muhage</u> (specify: owner, Lessee, Architect/Engineer,Contractor or other type of interest) involved in the application and that the answers and statements herein attached are in all respects true and correct to the best of his, her or their knowledge and belief. The applicant hereby further affirms that he/she or they has read the foregoing and understands the same. If the applicant is other than the owner, then a notarized affidavit from the owner, giving the applicant permission to seek the requested zoning action on their behalf, shall also be submitted with this application.

DATE:	CHECK NO:	INITIALS:		Revised October 2023
FILE NUMBER:			FEE:	
Occupancy Permit Issued				Revised October 2023
	Date	Inspector	Comments	
nspection Record: Inspection	Data	lugar ant	Common de	
Coning Permit Issued:	ru		IVE I	
		OR OFFICE USE O		
Acting in the County of	- Mack My commis	Inac ssion expires: 8	County, Michigan	
Kathryn Pereny Notary Public State of Michigan Mackinac County My Commission Expires 8/7/2030	Notary Pub		0	
Kathryn Pereny	- Path	ryc Pere	x	
				·*
Signed and sworn to before me	e on the \mathcal{R}	day of Janua	2024	
Please Print Name			Please Print Name	
Roy shiyock				
Signature			Signature	
Mal		SIGNATUR		
AIN				

City of Mackinac Island

7358 Market Street P.O. Box 455 Mackinac Island, MI 49757

Site Plan Review Checklist Please Submit With The Application for Zoning Action

As a minimum, the following information shall be included on the site plan submitted for review and processing; more complex plans may require additional information as noted.

NOTE: The engineer, architect, planner and/or designer retained to develop the site plan shall be responsible for securing a copy of the City of Mackinac Island Zoning Ordinance (Ord. No. 479, effective November 12, 2013), which can be obtained via the City's website at <u>www.cityofmi.org</u>.

Site plan review requirements are primarily found within Article 4, General Provisions, and Article 20, Site Plan Review of the City Zoning Ordinance. References are provided whenever possible for the section of the Zoning Ordinance that deals with a particular item. When in doubt, refer to the Zoning Ordinance directly for required information.

For further information, contact Mr. Dennis Dombroski, City Building Official/Zoning Administrator, at (906) 847-4035.

Optional Preliminary Plan Review Informational Requirements (Section 20.03) Item Provided or Applicable 1. Name and address of the applicant or developer, including the names and addresses of any officers of a corporation or partners of a partnership Image: Colspan="2">Not Provided or Applicable 2. Legal description of the property Image: Colspan="2">Image: Colspan="2">Image: Colspan="2">Not Provided or Applicable 3. Sketch drawings showing tentative site plans, property Image: Colspan="2">Image: Colspan="2">Not Provided or Applicable

boundaries, placement of structures on the site, and nature of

development

Site Plan Informational Requirements (Section 20.04, B and C)

-	÷.		Not Provided
Ge	neral Information	Provided	or Applicable
1.	Name and address of the applicant or developer, including the names and addresses of any officers of a corporation or partners of a partnership. For condominium subdivision project site plans, also include the name and address of the planner, design engineer or surveyor who designed the project layout and any interest he holds in the land.	\checkmark	
2.	Name and address of the individual or firm preparing the site plan	J	
3.	Scale of not greater than one 1 in = 20 ft for a development of not more than three acres and a scale of not less than 1 in = 100 ft for a development in excess of three acres		
4.	Legend, north arrow, scale, and date of preparation	\checkmark	
5.	Legal description of the subject parcel of land		V
6.	Lot lines and general location together with dimensions, angles, and size correlated with the legal description of the property		
7.	Area of the subject parcel of land		
8.	Present zoning classification of the subject parcel		
9.	Written description of the proposed development operations	V	
10.	Written description of the effect, if any, upon adjoining lands and occupants, and any special features which are proposed to relieve any adverse effects to adjoining land and occupants		V
	A freight hauling plan shall be shown to demonstrate how the materials, equipment, construction debris, and any trash will be transported to and from the property, what, if any motor vehicles may be needed for the project. (Applicant is responsible for ensuring frost laws do not delay necessary actions of this plan).		V

.

- 12. A construction staging plan shall be shown to demonstrate where and how materials, equipment, construction debris, trash, dumpsters and motor vehicles will be stored and secured during construction. This plan shall ensure the site is kept clean, show how construction debris and trash will be controlled, and how safety issues will be secured including any necessary fencing or barriers that will be needed.
- 13. Proposed construction start date and estimated duration of construction.
- 14. Other information pertinent to the proposed development, specifically required by the Zoning Ordinance, and/or as may be determined necessary by the City Planning Commission

f

Natural Features

- 15. Location of natural features such as wood lots, streams, wetlands, unstable soils, bluff lines, rock outcroppings, and similar features (see also Section 4.26)
- 16. Topography of the site with at least two- to five-foot contour intervals
- 17. Proposed alterations to topography or other natural features
- 18. Earth-change plans, if any, as required by state law

Physical Features

- 19. Location of existing manmade features on the site and within 100 feet of the site
- 20. Location of existing and proposed principal and accessory buildings, including proposed finished floor and grade line elevations, height of buildings, size of buildings (square footage of floor space), and the relationship of buildings to one another and to any existing structures on the site
- 21. For multiple family residential development, a density schedule showing the number of dwelling units per acre, including a













dwelling schedule showing the unit type and number of each such units

- 22. Existing and proposed streets, driveways, sidewalks and other bicycle or pedestrian circulation features
- Location, size and number of on-site parking areas, service lanes, parking and delivery or loading areas (see also Section 4.16)
- 24. Location, use and size of open spaces together with landscaping, screening, fences, and walls (see also Section 4.09 and Section 4.21)
- 25. Description of Existing and proposed on-site lighting (see also Section 4.27)

Utility Information

- 26. Written description of the potential demand for future community services, together with any special features which will assist in satisfying such demand
- Proposed surface water drainage, sanitary sewage disposal, water supply and solid waste storage and disposal (see also Section 4.13)
- 28. Location of other existing and proposed utility services (i.e., propane tanks, electrical service, transformers) and utility easements (see also Section 4.13)
- 29. Written description and location of stormwater management system to be shown on a grading plan, including pre- and postsite development runoff calculations used for determination of stormwater management, and location and design (slope) of any retention/detention features (see also Section 4.



Site Plan Informational (Demolition) Requirements (Section 20.04, D)

Demolition

- Site plan of property where demolition is going to take place. This plan shall include structure(s) being demolished, location of utilities, septic tanks, an itemized statement of valuation of demolition and restoration work to be performed, or other such items as may be required by the building official.
- 2. Copy of asbestos survey if required by EGLE or other state department.
- 3. Results of a pest inspection and, if necessary, a pest management plan.
- 4. Plans for restoring street frontage improvements (curb closure, sidewalk replacement, street patch, or other items as required by the building official). These items will not be required if building permits for redevelopment have been applied for or if redevelopment is planned within six months. In such case, the cash bond will be held until building permits for redevelopment are issued or improvements are complete. Completion shall not be deferred more than six months. Temporary erosion control and public protection shall be maintained during this time.
- 5. A written work schedule for the demolition project. Included in this may be, but are not limited to, street closures, building moving dates, right-of-way work, or other items as required by the building official.
- 6. Acknowledgment that if any unknown historic or archeological remains discovered while accomplishing the activity authorized by a permit granted by the City, all work must immediately stop and notification of what was discovered must be made by the applicant to the City as well as any other required offices. The City will initiate the Federal and state coordination required to determine if the remains warrant a recovery effort or if the site is eligible for listing in the National Register of Historic Places.









Revised October 2023

Section X, Itema.

Architectural Review Informational Requirements (Section 18.05)

ltem	Provided	Not Provided or Applicable
 Name and address of the applicant or developer, including the names and addresses of any officers of a corporation or partners of a partnership 		
2. Legal description of the property		
3. Drawings, sketches and plans showing the architectural exterior features, heights, appearance, color and texture of the materials of exterior construction and the placement of the structure on the lot, and any additional information determined necessary by the planning commission to determine compliance with the architectural standards (see also Section 18.06)		
 Photographs of existing site conditions, including site views, existing buildings on the site, streetscape views in all directions, and neighboring buildings within 150 feet of the site. 		

•



 File No._Ria5.
 0.03(H)

 Exhibit_____
 B

 Date______
 1.28.25

 Initials_____KP





131



per pe

132

















		Section X, itema.
File No. <u>B125.076.003(</u> Exhibit_D Date_ <u>1:28.25</u> Initials_KP	H) DECEIV	
Althour The		
		140





Section X, Itema.

2	DECENVER		
	Section X, Itemb.		
CITY OF MACK	INAC ISLAND JAN 2 8 2025		
PLANNING COMMISSION &	& BUILDING DEPARMENT		
APPLICATION FOR	ZONING ACTION		
www.cityofmi.org kep@cityofmi.org 906-847-6	190 PO Box 455 Mackinac Island, MI 49757		
APPLICANT NAME & CONTACT INFORMATION: EVAL GREEN	Please complete both sides of application.		
FWI DIRET.	The Fee and five (5) copies of the application, plans		
906 430 Dros evan green athe island Maper con	and all required documents must be submitted to		
Phone Number Email Address	the Zoning Administrator fourteen (14) days prior to		
	the scheduled Planning Commission Meeting.		
Property Owner & Mailing Address (If Different From Applicant)			
Todd Calewaert 7742 Main St 1	Lackinac Island Michigan 49757		
Is The Proposed Project Part of a Condominium Association			
Is The Proposed Project Within a Historic Preservation Dis			
Applicant's Interest in the Project (If not the Fee-Simple C	Dwner): Project Manager		
Is the Proposed Structure Within Any Area That The FAA	Regulates Airspace?		
Is a Variance Required?	NU		
Are REU's Required? How Many?	NU		
Type of Action Requested:			
Standard Zoning Permit	Appeal of Planning Commission Decision		
Special Land Use	Ordinance Amendment/Rezoning		
Planned Unit Development	Ordinance Interpretation		
Other			
Property Information:			
A. Property Number (From Tax Statement):			
B. Legal Description of Property: Plat No. 3 1 C. Address of Property: 7463 Main St	LOT 140 MO Cas Oblo ANGUN		
C. Address of Property: <u>7463 Main St</u> D. Zoning District: C	A A A		
E. Site Plan Checklist Completed & Attached:	Date Logo		
F. Site Plan Attached: (Comply With Section 20.04 of the Zoning Ordi			
G. Sketch Plan Attached: VCS	nance)initialsk		
H. Architectural Plan Attached:			
	Association Documents Attached (Approval of project, etc.): NA		
J. FAA Approval Documents Attached:	FAA Approval Documents Attached: NA		
K. Photographs of Existing and Adjacent Structures At	tached: YC5		
Proposed Construction/Use:			
A. Proposed Construction:			
New BuildingAl	Iteration/Addition to Existing Building		
Other, Specify			
B. Use of Existing and Proposed Structures and Land:

Existing Use (If Non-conforming, explain nature of use and non-conformity):

	Proposed Use:	Adding retractable Aumin	3
C.	If Vacant:		
	Previous Use:		
	Proposed Use:		
STAT	E OF MICHIGAN)	
COUN	NTY OF MACKINAC) ss.	

AFFIDAVIT

s,

The applicant agrees that the permit applied for, if granted, is issued on the representation made herein and that the permit issued may be revoked without further notice on any breach of representation or conditions.

The applicant further understands that any permit issued on this application will not grant any right of privilege to erect any structure or to use any premises described for any purposes or in any manner prohibited by the Zoning Ordinance, or by other codes or ordinances or regulations of the City of Mackinac Island.

The Applicant further agrees to furnish evidence of the following before a permit will be granted:

- A. Proof of ownership of the property; and/or other evidence establishing legal status to use the land in the manner indicated on the application.
- B. Proof that all required federal, state, county, and city licenses or permits have been either applied for or acquired.
- C. Other information with respect to the proposed structure, use, lot and adjoining property as may be required by the Zoning Administrator in accord with provisions of the Mackinac Island Zoning Ordinance.

The Applicant further agrees to notify the Zoning Administrator when construction reaches the stage of inspection stated on the permit, if granted. Upon completion of construction to the structure(s) or land the Zoning Administrator shall inspect the premises for compliance with the Mackinac Island Zoning Ordinance and the terms of this permit. Upon determination of compliance, an occupancy permit may be issued. It is further understood that pursuant to the City of Mackinac Island Zoning Ordinance, No. 479 and amendments, adopted November 2013, unless a substantial start on the construction is made within one year, unless construction is completed within one and one-half years from the date of issuance of the permit, this permit shall come under review by the Planning Commission and may either be extended or revoked.

The undersigned affirms that he/she or they is (are) the applicant and the <u>OUNCE</u> (specify: owner, Lessee, Architect/Engineer, Contractor or other type of interest) involved in the application and that the answers and statements herein attached are in all respects true and correct to the best of his, her or their knowledge and belief. The applicant hereby further affirms that he/she or they has read the foregoing and understands the same. If the applicant is other than the owner, then a notarized affidavit from the owner, giving the applicant permission to seek the requested zoning action on their behalf, shall also be submitted with this application.

NO				
A gy /		SIGNATURE	ç	
Signature		SIGNATORE	Signature	
-			Signature	
Ryan Green				
Please Print Name			Please Print Name	
			ricase rinit Manie	
Signed and sworn to before me on t	he_ <u>28_</u> da	ay of Janu	ray, 2025	
Kathryn Pereny Notary Public State of Michigan Mackinac County My Commission Expires 8/7/2030	Kath Notary Public	y Pere	y	
Acting in the County of	Maeking	C.	County, Michigan	
		on expires: 8	7:3c)	
	FOR	OFFICE USE ON	LY	
Zoning Permit Issued:				
Inspection Record: Inspection 1. 2. 3.	Date	Inspector	Comments	
Occupancy Permit Issued				
				Revised October 2023
	OFFIC	E USE ONLY		
FILE NUMBER: C25.066.00			FEE: \$400 -	
DATE: 1.28.25 CHE	CK NO:		ρ	Revised October 2023

,

٩

146

City of Mackinac Island

7358 Market Street P.O. Box 455 Mackinac Island, MI 49757

Site Plan Review Checklist Please Submit With The Application for Zoning Action

As a minimum, the following information shall be included on the site plan submitted for review and processing; more complex plans may require additional information as noted.

NOTE: The engineer, architect, planner and/or designer retained to develop the site plan shall be responsible for securing a copy of the City of Mackinac Island Zoning Ordinance (Ord. No. 479, effective November 12, 2013), which can be obtained via the City's website at www.cityofmi.org.

Site plan review requirements are primarily found within Article 4, General Provisions, and Article 20, Site Plan Review of the City Zoning Ordinance. References are provided whenever possible for the section of the Zoning Ordinance that deals with a particular item. When in doubt, refer to the Zoning Ordinance directly for required information.

For further information, contact Mr. Dennis Dombroski, City Building Official/Zoning Administrator, at (906) 847-4035.

Optional Preliminary Plan Review Informational Requirements (Section 20.03)



Site Plan Informational Requirements (Section 20.04, B and C)

			Not Provided
Ge	neral Information	Provided	or Applicable
1.	Name and address of the applicant or developer, including the names and addresses of any officers of a corporation or partners of a partnership. For condominium subdivision project site plans, also include the name and address of the planner, design engineer or surveyor who designed the project layout and any interest he holds in the land.		
2.	Name and address of the individual or firm preparing the site plan		
3.	Scale of not greater than one 1 in = 20 ft for a development of not more than three acres and a scale of not less than 1 in = 100 ft for a development in excess of three acres		
4.	Legend, north arrow, scale, and date of preparation		
5.	Legal description of the subject parcel of land		
6.	Lot lines and general location together with dimensions, angles, and size correlated with the legal description of the property	\checkmark	
7.	Area of the subject parcel of land		
8.	Present zoning classification of the subject parcel		
9.	Written description of the proposed development operations		
10.	Written description of the effect, if any, upon adjoining lands and occupants, and any special features which are proposed to relieve any adverse effects to adjoining land and occupants		
11.	A freight hauling plan shall be shown to demonstrate how the materials, equipment, construction debris, and any trash will be transported to and from the property, what, if any motor vehicles may be needed for the project. (Applicant is responsible for ensuring frost laws do not delay		

necessary actions of this plan).

ş

- 12. A construction staging plan shall be shown to demonstrate where and how materials, equipment, construction debris, trash, dumpsters and motor vehicles will be stored and secured during construction. This plan shall ensure the site is kept clean, show how construction debris and trash will be controlled, and how safety issues will be secured including any necessary fencing or barriers that will be needed.
- 13. Proposed construction start date and estimated duration of construction.
- 14. Other information pertinent to the proposed development, specifically required by the Zoning Ordinance, and/or as may be determined necessary by the City Planning Commission

Not Provided

Natural Features

- 15. Location of natural features such as wood lots, streams, wetlands, unstable soils, bluff lines, rock outcroppings, and similar features (see also Section 4.26)
- 16. Topography of the site with at least two- to five-foot contour intervals
- 17. Proposed alterations to topography or other natural features
- 18. Earth-change plans, if any, as required by state law

Physical Features

- 19. Location of existing manmade features on the site and within 100 feet of the site
- 20. Location of existing and proposed principal and accessory buildings, including proposed finished floor and grade line elevations, height of buildings, size of buildings (square footage of floor space), and the relationship of buildings to one another and to any existing structures on the site
- 21. For multiple family residential development, a density schedule showing the number of dwelling units per acre, including a

or Applicable

Provided













dwelling schedule showing the unit type and number of each such units

- 22. Existing and proposed streets, driveways, sidewalks and other bicycle or pedestrian circulation features
- 23. Location, size and number of on-site parking areas, service
 lanes, parking and delivery or loading areas (see also Section 4.16)
- Location, use and size of open spaces together with landscaping, screening, fences, and walls (see also Section 4.09 and Section 4.21)
- 25. Description of Existing and proposed on-site lighting (see also Section 4.27)

Utility Information

- 26. Written description of the potential demand for future community services, together with any special features which will assist in satisfying such demand
- Proposed surface water drainage, sanitary sewage disposal, water supply and solid waste storage and disposal (see also Section 4.13)
- Location of other existing and proposed utility services (i.e., propane tanks, electrical service, transformers) and utility easements (see also Section 4.13)
- 29. Written description and location of stormwater management system to be shown on a grading plan, including pre- and postsite development runoff calculations used for determination of stormwater management, and location and design (slope) of any retention/detention features (see also Section 4.







|--|

Site Plan Informational (Demolition) Requirements (Section 20.04, D)

Demolition

- Site plan of property where demolition is going to take place. This plan shall include structure(s) being demolished, location of utilities, septic tanks, an itemized statement of valuation of demolition and restoration work to be performed, or other such items as may be required by the building official.
- Copy of asbestos survey if required by EGLE or other state department.
- 3. Results of a pest inspection and, if necessary, a pest management plan.
- 4. Plans for restoring street frontage improvements (curb closure, sidewalk replacement, street patch, or other items as required by the building official). These items will not be required if building permits for redevelopment have been applied for or if redevelopment is planned within six months. In such case, the cash bond will be held until building permits for redevelopment are issued or improvements are complete. Completion shall not be deferred more than six months. Temporary erosion control and public protection shall be maintained during this time.
- 5. A written work schedule for the demolition project. Included in this may be, but are not limited to, street closures, building moving dates, right-of-way work, or other items as required by the building official.
- 6. Acknowledgment that if any unknown historic or archeological remains discovered while accomplishing the activity authorized by a permit granted by the City, all work must immediately stop and notification of what was discovered must be made by the applicant to the City as well as any other required offices. The City will initiate the Federal and state coordination required to determine if the remains warrant a recovery effort or if the site is eligible for listing in the National Register of Historic Places.

Provided	Not Provided or Applicable
[





Revised October 2023

Section X, Itemb.

Architectural Review Informational Requirements (Section 18.05)

۰.

ite	<u>m</u>	Provided	Not Provided or Applicable
1.	Name and address of the applicant or developer, including the names and addresses of any officers of a corporation or partners of a partnership		
2.	Legal description of the property	\checkmark	
3.	Drawings, sketches and plans showing the architectural exterior features, heights, appearance, color and texture of the materials of exterior construction and the placement of the structure on the lot, and any additional information determined necessary by the planning commission to determine compliance with the architectural standards (see also Section 18.06)		
4.	Photographs of existing site conditions, including site views, existing buildings on the site, streetscape views in all directions, and neighboring buildings within 150 feet of the site.		

Revised October 2023

We would like to add two retractable awnings to Maximise the use of the potio at Mary's Bistro. We use section X, Itemb. also like to turn the storage room into a lounge room i

Ryan Green



File No. C25.066.004(H)Exhibit C Date 1.28.25Initials KP





1

Section X, Itemb.

UU

UN







1/28/2025 10:46:34 AM



		1010 · 1010 · 1
7463 MAIN ST		(Hiton A Jidius)
MACKINAC ISLAND, MI, 49757		Cate 1.28.25
Owner Address		
RYBA PROPERTIES LLC	Unit:	051
1	Unit Name:	CITY OF MACKINAC
PO BOX 516		island

155

43

General	Information	for 2024	Tax Year

ŧ

Parcel Number:	051-550-066-00	Assessed Value:
Property Class:	201	Taxable Value:
Class Name:	Commercial 201	State Equalized Value:
School Dist Code:	49110	
School Dist Name:	District 49110	
PRE 2023:	0%	
PRE 2024:	0%	

Section X, Itemb.

APPL		JILDING DEPARMEN NING ACTION PO Box 455 Ma Please complete both	ckinac Island, MI 49757 sides of application.
<u> 231-3</u>	392-6456 doud step 2000 @ yahos. Com	ind all required docui	opies of the application, plans ments must be submitted to itor fourteen (14) days prior to
	Number Email Address tit	he scheduled Plannin	g Commission Meeting.
	Proposed Project Part of a Condominium Association?		_AKO
Is The	Proposed Project Within a Historic Preservation Distric	t?	yes
Applic	cant's Interest in the Project (If not the Fee-Simple Own	er):	OWNER
Is the	Proposed Structure Within Any Area That The FAA Regu	ulates Airspace?	NO
	ariance Required?		NO
Are R	EU's Required? How Many?		NO
<u>Type c</u>	Special Land Use Or	opeal of Planning Co dinance Amendmer dinance Interpretat	nt/Rezoning
Prope	rty Information:		
A.	Property Number (From Tax Statement): 051 - 50	- 008 - 00	
B.	Legal Description of Property: Lot 16 ASSesse	Drs PL-th c-1	a late Maderia I chart
C.	Address of Property: 12.74 Mission Street	in mary ch	Y OF MALK-INAL ISIAND
D.	Zorning District: 173		
Ε.	Site Plan Checklist Completed & Attached:		
F.	SITE Plan Attached: (Comply With Section 20.04 of the Zoning Ordinance) Ves	
G.	Sketch Fian Attached: Yes No		
Н.	Architectural Plan Attached: Ye S		
Ι.	Association Documents Attached (Approval of project,	etc.): NA	
J.	rAA Approval Documents Attached: Nr		
К.	Photographs of Existing and Adjacent Structures Attach	red: yes	
	ed Construction/Use:		
	Proposed Construction:		
	Alexy Doublettere		

____ New Building _____ÀAlteration/Addition to Existing Building _____Alteration/Addition to Existing Building

Β. Use of Existing and Proposed Structures and Land: Existing Use (If Non-conforming, explain nature of use and non-conformity):

	Proposed Use:		
C.	If Vacant:		
	Previous Use:		
	Proposed Use:		
STAT	E OF MICHIGAN)	
COU	NTY OF MACKINAC) ss.	

AFFIDAVIT

The applicant agrees that the permit applied for, if granted, is issued on the representation made herein and that the permit issued may be revoked without further notice on any breach of representation or conditions.

The applicant further understands that any permit issued on this application will not grant any right of privilege to erect any structure or to use any premises described for any purposes or in any manner prohibited by the Zoning Ordinance, or by other codes or ordinances or regulations of the City of Mackinac Island.

The Applicant further agrees to furnish evidence of the following before a permit will be granted:

- Α. Proof of ownership of the property; and/or other evidence establishing legal status to use the land in the manner indicated on the application.
- Proof that all required federal, state, county, and city licenses or permits have been either Β. applied for or acquired.
- Other information with respect to the proposed structure, use, lot and adjoining property as С. may be required by the Zoning Administrator in accord with provisions of the Mackinac Island Zoning Ordinance.

The Applicant further agrees to notify the Zoning Administrator when construction reaches the stage of inspection stated on the permit, if granted. Upon completion of construction to the structure(s) or land the Zoning Administrator shall inspect the premises for compliance with the Mackinac Island Zoning Ordinance and the terms of this permit. Upon determination of compliance, an occupancy permit may be issued. It is further understood that pursuant to the City of Mackinac Island Zoning Ordinance, No. 479 and amendments, adopted November 2013, unless a substantial start on the construction is made within one year, unless construction is completed within one and one-half years from the date of issuance of the permit, this permit shall come under review by the Planning Commission and may either be extended or revoked.

Project may.

The undersigned affirms that he/she or they is (are) the applicant and the <u>owner</u> (specify: owner, Lessee, Architect/Engineer, Contractor or other type of interest) involved in the application and that the answers and statements herein attached are in all respects true and correct to the best of his, her or their knowledge and belief. The applicant hereby further affirms that he/she or they has read the foregoing and understands the same. If the applicant is other than the owner, then a notarized affidavit from the owner, giving the applicant permission to seek the requested zoning action on their behalf, shall also be submitted with this application.

Signature	SIGNATURES	Signature	
Alan Scharlan Please Print Name		Please Print Name	
Signed and sworn to before me on the	28 day of Janue	up. 2025	
Kathryn Pereny Notary Public State of Michigan Mackinac County My Commission Expires 8/7/2030 Acting in the County of	<u>Kathryn</u> Per Notary Public <u>Mackmac</u> My commission expires: <u>8</u> , 7		
Zoning Permit Issued:	FOR OFFICE USE ON	LY	
Inspection Record: Inspection 1. 2. 3.	Date Inspector	Comments	
Occupancy Permit Issued			Revised October 2023

	OFFICE U	JSE ONLY		
FILE NUMBER: R325.008	005(H)		FEE: 150 -	
DATE: 1.28-25	CHECK NO: 8184	INITIALS:	KP	Revised October 2023

City of Mackinac Island

7358 Market Street P.O. Box 455 Mackinac Island, MI 49757

Site Plan Review Checklist Please Submit With The Application for Zoning Action

As a minimum, the following information shall be included on the site plan submitted for review and processing; more complex plans may require additional information as noted.

NOTE: The engineer, architect, planner and/or designer retained to develop the site plan shall be responsible for securing a copy of the City of Mackinac Island Zoning Ordinance (Ord. No. 479, effective November 12, 2013), which can be obtained via the City's website at <u>www.cityofmi.org</u>.

Site plan review requirements are primarily found within Article 4, General Provisions, and Article 20, Site Plan Review of the City Zoning Ordinance. References are provided whenever possible for the section of the Zoning Ordinance that deals with a particular item. When in doubt, refer to the Zoning Ordinance directly for required information.

For further information, contact Mr. Dennis Dombroski, City Building Official/Zoning Administrator, at (906) 847-4035.

Optional Preliminary Plan Review Informational Requirements (Section 20.03)

<u>lte</u>	em	Provided	Not Provided or Applicable
1.	Name and address of the applicant or developer, including the names and addresses of any officers of a corporation or partners of a partnership	Х	
2.	Legal description of the property	X	
3.	Sketch drawings showing tentative site plans, property boundaries, placement of structures on the site, and nature of development	X	

Site Plan Informational Requirements (Section 20.04, B and C)

G	eneral Information	Provided	Not Provided or Applicable
1.	Name and address of the applicant or developer, including the names and addresses of any officers of a corporation or partners of a partnership. For condominium subdivision project site plans, also include the name and address of the planner, design engineer or surveyor who designed the project layout and any interest he holds in the land.	X	
2.	Name and address of the individual or firm preparing the site plan	X	
3.	Scale of not greater than one 1 in = 20 ft for a development of not more than three acres and a scale of not less than 1 in = 100 ft for a development in excess of three acres	X	
4.	Legend, north arrow, scale, and date of preparation	X	
5.	Legal description of the subject parcel of land	X	
6.	Lot lines and general location together with dimensions, angles, and size correlated with the legal description of the property	Χ	
7.	Area of the subject parcel of land	X	
8.	Present zoning classification of the subject parcel	X	
9.	Written description of the proposed development operations	X	
10.	Written description of the effect, if any, upon adjoining lands and occupants, and any special features which are proposed to relieve any adverse effects to adjoining land and occupants		X
11.	A freight hauling plan shall be shown to demonstrate how the materials, equipment, construction debris, and any		X

trash will be transported to and from the property, what, if

(Applicant is responsible for ensuring frost laws do not delay

any motor vehicles may be needed for the project.

necessary actions of this plan).

в

12. A construction staging plan shall be shown to demonstrate where and how materials, equipment, construction debris, trash, dumpsters and motor vehicles will be stored and secured during construction. This plan shall ensure the site is kept clean, show how construction debris and trash_will be controlled, and how safety issues will be secured including any necessary fencing or barriers that will be needed. 13. Proposed construction start date and estimated duration of construction. 14. Other information pertinent to the proposed development, specifically required by the Zoning Ordinance, and/or as may be determined necessary by the City Planning Commission Not Provided Natural Features Provided or Applicable 15. Location of natural features such as wood lots, streams, wetlands, unstable soils, bluff lines, rock outcroppings, and similar features (see also Section 4.26) 16. Topography of the site with at least two- to five-foot contour intervals 17. Proposed alterations to topography or other natural features 18. Earth-change plans, if any, as required by state law **Physical Features** Not Provided Provided or Applicable 19. Location of existing manmade features on the site and within 100 feet of the site 20. Location of existing and proposed principal and accessory buildings, including proposed finished floor and grade line elevations, height of buildings, size of buildings (square footage of floor space), and the relationship of buildings to one another and to any existing structures on the site 21. For multiple family residential development, a density schedule showing the number of dwelling units per acre, including a

dwelling schedule showing the unit type and number of each such units

- 22. Existing and proposed streets, driveways, sidewalks and other bicycle or pedestrian circulation features
- Location, size and number of on-site parking areas, service lanes, parking and delivery or loading areas (see also Section 4.16)
- 24. Location, use and size of open spaces together with landscaping, screening, fences, and walls (see also Section 4.09 and Section 4.21)
- 25. Description of Existing and proposed on-site lighting (see also Section 4.27)

Utility Information

- 26. Written description of the potential demand for future community services, together with any special features which will assist in satisfying such demand
- 27. Proposed surface water drainage, sanitary sewage disposal, water supply and solid waste storage and disposal (see also Section 4.13)
- 28. Location of other existing and proposed utility services (i.e., propane tanks, electrical service, transformers) and utility easements (see also Section 4.13)
- 29. Written description and location of stormwater management system to be shown on a grading plan, including pre- and postsite development runoff calculations used for determination of stormwater management, and location and design (slope) of any retention/detention features (see also Section 4.



Not Provide	ed
or Applicab	le

		1
		<u> </u>

Provided





Site Plan Informational (Demolition) Requirements (Section 20.04, D)

Demolition

- Site plan of property where demolition is going to take place. This plan shall include structure(s) being demolished, location of utilities, septic tanks, an itemized statement of valuation of demolition and restoration work to be performed, or other such items as may be required by the building official.
- Copy of asbestos survey if required by EGLE or other state department.
- 3. Results of a pest inspection and, if necessary, a pest management plan.
- 4. Plans for restoring street frontage improvements (curb closure, sidewalk replacement, street patch, or other items as required by the building official). These items will not be required if building permits for redevelopment have been applied for or if redevelopment is planned within six months. In such case, the cash bond will be held until building permits for redevelopment are issued or improvements are complete. Completion shall not be deferred more than six months. Temporary erosion control and public protection shall be maintained during this time.
- A written work schedule for the demolition project. Included in this may be, but are not limited to, street closures, building moving dates, right-of-way work, or other items as required by the building official.
- 6. Acknowledgment that if any unknown historic or archeological remains discovered while accomplishing the activity authorized by a permit granted by the City, all work must immediately stop and notification of what was discovered must be made by the applicant to the City as well as any other required offices. The City will initiate the Federal and state coordination required to determine if the remains warrant a recovery effort or if the site is eligible for listing in the National Register of Historic Places.

Provided	Not Provided or Applicable
	X
	X
	X
	X



Revised October 2023

Section X, Itemc.

City of Mackinac Island Historic Commission Planning Commission



RE: Shed Roof Application

Dear Commissioners:

Please see the attached application for construction of a shed roof over a retaining wall at the East entrance of the Doud house located at 1274 Mission Street currently under renovation.

On the original plans, this area was not covered, however after building the retaining wall, it became apparent that a partial cover would help in protecting the entrance from the rain and snow.

Sincerely,

Andrew Doud

File No.	3325.008.005(H)
Exhibit	B
Date	1:28.25
Initials	KP



Section X, Itemc.

167













Section X, Itemc.